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MASSIVE
SMALL
changes in every space we operate

impact through

We create

Kelvin Campbell

“
”

Neighbourhoods are the places in which face-to-face 
social interactions occur - the personal settings and situations 
where residents seek to realise common values, socialise,
and maintain effective social control. 
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ABOUT THE GROUP

 

TUHF

1 Based on loan book for mixed-use commercial property within the inner city.

OUR VISION 
Impact through SCALE

WHO WE ARE
We are the leader in specialised financial services and 
solutions to inner city property entrepreneurs.1

We finance and support entrepreneurs to grow their business through 
our in-depth market knowledge, prudent risk appetite, and street-level 
approachability. 

Through our offering, entrepreneurs purchase, refurbish and convert 
property, providing quality, affordable and well-located inner city 
mixed-use rental spaces.

We’ve consistently grown our book over 16 years because we take the hard 
line in all our business dealings – we focus on profitability while catalysing 

development impact.

POTENTIAL
DECLINE
where others see

we see
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Solly Ramalamula
Take Shape Property Management

Solly Ramalamula’s belief in the importance of safety, security 
and cleanliness, along with his hard work, entrepreneurial 
tenacity and TUHF’s assistance, has enabled him to leave 
his former occupation as a policeman to become the proud 
owner of five TUHF-financed properties, the first of which was 
purchased in 2010. Today, Solly is the Managing Director of 
Take Shape Property Management, a property management 
company specialising in the inner city.

2019 HIGHLIGHTS
   Loan Book

R3.1  
Operating Profit

R37.3
New Record for Annual Disbursements

R836
   Footprint in all eight South African  

 metropolitan municipalities
•  Buffalo City (East London)
•  City of Cape Town
•  Ekurhuleni Metropolitan Municipality (East Rand)
•  City of eThekwini (Durban)
•  City of Johannesburg
•  Mangaung Municipality (Bloemfontein)
•  Nelson Mandela Metropolitan Municipality (Port Elizabeth)
•  City of Tshwane (Pretoria)

Units financed since inception

38 771

(18%   )

(15.2%   )

(66.2%   )

Billion

Million

Million

(17.4%   )
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TUHF

We are pleased to present our Integrated Annual Report, which covers the year ended 31 March 2019. This report is aimed primarily at current and potential stakeholders, in 
addition we aim to share information with our funders and investors interested in our ability to create value. This Integrated Annual Report contains comprehensive information 
of our business performance, strategy and prospects. In preparing this publication, we were guided by the International Integrated Reporting Council’s (IIRC) Integrated 
Reporting <IR> Framework.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL
The Board is responsible for the integrity of the Integrated Annual 
Report, with the assistance of the Audit and Risk Committee, and 
support from management, who convened the skills and experience 
to undertake the reporting process and provided management 
oversight in its execution. In preparing the report, the Board applied 
its collective mind to the report’s content and is satisfied that it 
fairly and accurately represents the Group’s performance and 
prospects. The Board concluded that this report is presented in 
accordance with the <IR> Framework.

This Integrated Annual Report was approved by the Board 
and signed on its behalf by:

For more information on our Group structure, refer to page 22.

SCOPE AND BOUNDARY
This report covers the performance of the Trust for Urban Housing 
Finance Non-Profit Company and its commercial subsidiaries 
(the Group), over the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, with 
comparatives shown where available.

The number of units, buildings, loans and entrepreneurs are reported 
on for active loans within our main operating company, TUHF Limited 
(TUHF). The report includes comparatives from previous years where 
available. All rand values, including loan book size and operating profit 
or related percentages, are reported for the Group as per the annual 
financial statements and this report. Annual financial statements for 
the individual companies within the Group are available upon request. 

References to the various companies include:

For more information on our geographic footprint, refer to page 20.

MATERIALITY
Our Board of Directors (Board) considers material matters to be 
those that may have an ongoing impact on TUHF’s business, and our 
ability to create and sustain value for our stakeholders. The process of 
identifying these material matters to our business and stakeholders 
was aligned to our organisational decision-making processes. The 
identified risks and opportunities are those that could impact our 
leadership position and niche market.

ASSURANCE
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) has externally assured the Annual 
Financial Statements in this Annual Integrated Report. All information 
in this report is subject to internal controls and strong management 
supervision. The Group is confident that other data, although not 
audited, accurately reflects the performance and position of the 
business.

For more information on our material matters, refer to page 34.

TUHF has offices in Johannesburg, Durban, Port Elizabeth, Cape Town, 
Bloemfontein and Pretoria. These offices also serve inner cities in the 
surrounding areas such as Pietermaritzburg, Pinetown, Uitenhage and 
East London.

Samson Moraba
Chairman
9 September 2019

Paul Jackson
Chief Executive Officer

Abbreviation  Full name

TUHF21   Trust for Urban Housing Finance Non-Profit  
  Company 

TUHF Holdings TUHF Holdings Limited

TUHF   TUHF Limited (main operating company)

The Group  TUHF NPC, its subsidiaries and associated  
  companies

Forward-looking statements
Certain statements in this document may be regarded as “forward-looking statements”, and may differ materially from future 
results, or achievements expressed or implied. The Group undertakes no obligation to update publicly or release any revisions to 
these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this document, or to reflect the occurrence 
of anticipated events. These have not been reviewed or reported on by the Group’s auditors.

ABOUT THIS REPORT
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DYNAMIC
shifts in small spaces lead to 

impacts in city spaces 

GRADUAL
In areas where TUHF finances development – there is 
visible difference in the growth of micro-enterprises and 
entrepreneurs providing food, haircuts, snacks and more.
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14.6%

R3.1
Billion 27.5%

16
years

13%
66%

128
suburbs

0.67%
8.59%

252 
jobs

63%

* Gross loan book before impairments.

Five-year return on 
investment (ROI) of

loan book*

Risk-weighted capital 
adequacy ratio of

Track record of

of growth

Our loan book has grown 
at an average of

27 permanent and 
225 short-term 
jobs created this 

year mostly during 
construction of 
funded projects

of our clients 
are previously 
disadvantaged

year on year over the 
last 5 years with a record 

18% in 2019

Cost to income ratio of

A national footprint across 
South Africa with five branches 

operating in

Total arrears

Capital impaired

CONSISTENT RETURN 
ON INVESTMENT

STRONG MARKET 
POSITION

APPROACH TO RISK

SOLID ASSET BASE

SUSTAINABLE 
GROWTH

We have a proven 
track record of 

commercial viability

We are the largest lender 
in our market niche with a

We assess risk 
holistically. This involves 

our specialised 
character-based lending 
approach, where we look 
at the person before the 
deal as part of our credit 

appraisal process.

Mortgages secure all 
the properties TUHF 

finances. 

These properties 
become substantially 
more valuable after 

refurbishment and/or
conversion.

WHY INVEST IN TUHF

(6%   )
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18,7%81,3%

DEVELOPMENT IMPACT

We stimulate job creation, urban regeneration, 
economic development, access to finance and fiscal 

impact in the areas where we operate.

56
female clients

244
male clients

PLACES
thrive where there’s will and energy

The rejuvenation of a city does not need 
grand plans and large sums of money 
thrown at it. What it does need is small, 
incremental changes from the ground up.

Coloured 
clients

5%Black 
clients

52%

Indian 
clients

7%

White 
clients

36%
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1   Professor Francois Viruly, University of Cape Town.
2   South African Cities Network, Dr G Karuri-Sebina, (et al), K Davidson, (ed), 2016, State of South African Cities Report, Johannesburg.
3   COJ Integrated Development Plan 2018/19 Review https://www.joburg.org.za/documents_/Documents/Intergrated%20Development%20Plan/idp%20documents/IDP%20for%20Council%20(2).pdf 
4   Joan Muller, Joburg apartment market flatlines, 9 May 2019 -  https://www.businesslive.co.za/fm/features/2019-05-09-joburg-apartment-market-flatlines/ 
5   Dr P Voges, Mandela Bay Development Agency, South African Cities are kingmakers for Growth, 2016  https://www.mbda.co.za/south-african-cities-are-kingmakers-for-growth-by-mbda-ceo-dr-voges/ 
6   Johannesburg’s inner city: The Dubai of southern Africa, but all below the radar – https://www.fin24.com/Opinion/johannesburgs-inner-city-the-dubai-of-southern-africa-but-all-below-the-radar-20171105 

Various industries, such as banking, manufacturing, 
mining, government and public services, make up 
sustained economic activity in downtown areas.

MULTI-SECTOR ECONOMIES

Multiple buildings on an enormous scale densify urban 
areas. This is contrary to outlying mega-developments 

far away from concentrated economic opportunities.

MASSIVE IMPACT THROUGH 
MULTIPLE SMALL PROJECTS

Mobile frequencies and Wi-Fi are easily accessible in cities. 
This facilitates interaction and education while bridging the 

digital divide that is experienced in outlying areas.

ACCESS TO TECHNOLOGY AND SERVICES

Many South Africans are faced with the 40 x 40 x 40 
concept – they live in a 40m² house situated 40km 
from work with transport costing up to 40% of the 

household’s income.1 People living in inner cities 
spend less time and money travelling to and from 

work allowing for a better quality of life.

SPATIAL INTEGRATION 
RELIEVES COMMUTING

Inner cities have well-established and advanced physical and administrative 
infrastructure offering convenient and affordable access to services, 
transportation and communication. 94,3% of urban households in the eight 
metropolitan areas have access to basic services. 2

EXISTING INFRASTRUCTURE

The world’s population grows at 200 000 people a day. Johannesburg adds 
five people to its population every hour. Projections show that Johannesburg 
will reach 9.2 million people by the middle of this century. 3   

THE FUTURE IS URBAN

Though the average inner city sales price dipped in 2010 and 2013, 
and again last year (2018), apartment prices in the inner city have 
more than doubled over the past 12 years. 4

CONSISTENT ABOVE AVERAGE DEMAND AND RETURNS

Eight of South Africa’s metropolitans account for just 2% of our 
country’s landmass, and yet they are home to 40% of the population 
and generate more than 57% of our gross domestic product (GDP).5

Each year, people travel from across the continent to buy goods to 
the value of over R10 billion in Johannesburg’s central business district 
(CBD) to take back home. 6

CONCENTRATION OF ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES

Here is why 
we choose 

to finance in 
inner cities:

WHY INNER CITIES

When we look at inner cities, we see potential. The multiple economic drivers operating in inner cities allow for a diverse economic network, which is why we believe that the 
demand for downtown rental housing, is guaranteed. The demand brings about local economic development and a broad, sustained fiscal impact.

This is why we choose to finance in inner cities:
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”
SPACES

It starts right where you are.
It starts with a window, a room, a building and then a 
block. When incremental changes happen in spaces, 
it encourages pride and positive change in the spaces 
around it, and over time a whole city begins to thrive.
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While bricks and mortar are the hardware 
that occupy a building, people are the software 
that is needed to give energy to a space.  

FACES
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TUHF GROUP CHAIR’S REVIEW

SAMSON MORABA

    

MAKING HEADWAY IN A CHALLENGING 
MACRO-ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT
It has been a year of exceptional growth, testing our business at all levels. This year, we are setting our sights on 
improving our structures and systems, enabling us to grow at scale. The demand for adequate well-priced funding 
remains strong and we look forward to forming strategic funding relationships for long term growth.

Performance
As the saying goes – It was the best of times, it was the worst of times, 

it was the age of wisdom…. This rings true for TUHF over the last year.  
Highlights include record disbursements, a 66% increase over previous 
years and our first securitisation on the JSE.

However, both these milestones placed severe strain on our operating 
model and liquidity.  During this time, we were able to call on our long 
term partners, Futuregrowth, who rose to the occasion, in providing us 
warehouse finance while the securitisation was realising, for this, we 
are very grateful.

Our performance has been notable, bar the adjustments that needed 
to be made in terms of provisions to comply with IFRS 9. This affected 
our Income Statement, but is a once-off step change.

Much as we are cognisant of the bottom line, we also have to look 
at our development impact and six Long Term Indicators - Return on 
Equity (11.4%), Profit after Tax (Reduction of 15.2%), 
Net Promoter and Customer Effort Scores (NPS: 46,6% & CES: 2,17), 
percentage of Previously Disadvantaged Individuals Financed (64%) 
and the Transformation of Senior Management. 

Four years ago we set out on a National Growth Strategy by opening 
our Cape Town and Bloemfontein branches, in addition to Port 
Elizabeth and Durban.  This has reaped results, as all our branches are 
now net contributors to the bottom line. This is not only a financial 
achievement, but also proof that our loan book maintains a balanced 
spread across all eight metropolitan areas of South Africa. 

Change in Vision
At TUHF’s inception, we identified our vision as a number to be 
attained - a R5 billion book servicing every major city in South 
Africa. Our growth to date beckons the question “Is that all?” For 
this reason, we have set our sights on a new vision: Impact through 
Scale. To achieve this we have to maintain the balance between our 
development impact and our commercial goals, each carrying equal 
importance. 

While the nature of our business is entrepreneurial, for TUHF it’s not 

just about the size of our loan book, we also seek to have a tangible 
impact on the regeneration of inner cities, making a real difference 
in the rental housing and the entrepreneurs we finance - especially 
those of our clients who are previously disadvantaged.  This is not to 
mention the urban land reform that takes place in a real and systemic  
        
way at a national level – Johannesburg, Durban, Cape Town,  
Port Elizabeth, Bloemfontein and surrounding inner city areas.

Strategic Focus 
To support our growth trajectory at scale, we have met with the 
Management Team in a series of strategic workshops.  After careful 
consideration and discussion, we have generated five strategic focus 
areas for the year ahead: disciplined execution; scale of funding 
to support growth; supporting sustainable growth; delivering our 
customer value proposition and setting up partnerships for success. 

The above is supported by a thorough review of our enterprise 
architecture, specifically our business architecture, IT architecture 
and financial architecture. In each of these, we are reviewing skills, 
capacity and infrastructure to ensure we are best positioned for 
growth at scale. For example, we need IT to be not just an enabler, but 
actually a driver of our business growth.
 
While we foresee standardisation across processes, this needs to be 
balanced with flexibility.  Simple and nimble is what makes us TUHF 
and we shouldn’t lose this as part of the bigger process. 
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remunerating people who are creating value for our business, 
responsibly.

Closing Remarks
I join our president in saying “Thuma Mina, send us”.  We are at the 
tipping point of scaling our business, continuing to make a real difference 

on all fronts -  regeneration, entrepreneurship and empowerment while 
being recognised as a significant commercial  inner city rental finance 
provider.  

Acknowledgements 
It has been a difficult year. The reality is that the risk never dissipated.  
Paul and his team rose to the occasion and for that, I recognise and 
salute them. We are shifting gears and look forward to the challenge 
set to the management team on reinventing our systems and 
structures for years of scaled growth ahead. 

Our regional branches also need a special mention for collectively 
becoming a net contributor to our bottom line and adequately 
spreading our portfolio past the borders of Gauteng. 

We salute all our funding partners for sharing our vision and enabling 
the diverse and well-priced funding that is the lifeblood of this 
organisation, especially Futuregrowth, who met us in our moment of 
need, while the securitisation was realising. 

Thank you to my fellow Board members, the year has been a busy 
one with meetings and meaningful engagements on strategy. Our 
listings on the JSE have brought on new and different disciplines.  We 
appreciate this input and the way it is shaping us, as TUHF.

Last but not least, I acknowledge our clients, the men and women 
affecting a real impact in the downtown areas in which we operate 
across the country.  

Strategic Partnerships
Going forward we are looking for funding relationships and 
shareholders that are not only considering Return on Equity but also 
share our vision and can provide sustainable funding and influence. 

To this end, we have formed a Board sub-committee for shareholding 
that will be conducting road shows to present TUHF to potential 
funders and the investors.  

This comes at the right time as our growth has been met with 
increased and diverse interest from the capital markets allowing more 
opportunities for scaling our business.  We proudly attribute this to 
passing the R3 billion mark in our loan book, as well as the national 
diversification in our portfolio and our reputation of showing year on 
year profit over the last 16 years.

Group Structure
We believe that our current corporate structure remains healthy - 
where TUHF21 and the NHFC are the controlling shareholders of 
TUHF Holdings which in turn is the controlling shareholder of TUHF 
Limited, our main operating company. We believe that this remains a 
good fit for the business. The partnership allows for the developmental 
impact of TUHF21 and the NHFC to balance the commercial business 
of TUHF Limited and so we consider this a valuable structure. We will 
revisit the arrangement, as necessary, in the future.

TUHF21 has embarked on a few of its own notable projects such as 
uMaStandi backyard rental finance, now in its second operational 
year.  While the Intuthuko Equity Fund, founded in 2005, has secured 
further funding and will continue to support previously disadvantaged 
individuals by complimenting equity requirements to secure senior 
debt finance from TUHF Limited. 

Funding
Our inaugural securitisation programme ushered in new diverse 
investors and partners, a strategic goal that we have been working 
towards for some time.  

We persist in our search for opportunities in which we can raise cost 

effective funding while maintaining our tight margin.  This speaks to our 
treasury environment – where we ask ourselves “Where is our funding 
going to come from for the next R5 billion?” And in the shorter term - 
“How are we matching funds coming in with the demand from clients?”  
Our ALCO Committee (Assets and Liabilities Committee) is working hard 
to maintain this balance, bolstering IT and technical competence.  

Now that our regions are coming into their own in terms of our loan 
book, we have seen interest from the capital markets to participate 
and provide capital funding isolated at a regional level.  We welcome 
this appetite and are proud to provide a diverse national asset base to 
offer such funders.

Governance
As a Board we cannot rest until we have not thought through every 
risk and its mitigants. 

We have seen so many unfortunate blunders in corporate South Africa 
during the last year. There is no way a Board can absolve itself from 
what happens on the ground.  The environment we inhabit means 
governance is now, more than ever, a moral and economic imperative 
for the Board. Codes of ethics and business practice, internal policies 
and guidelines are only as powerful and effective as the actual 
implementation. TUHF continues to embrace the ability to prove 
ourselves good corporate citizens. 

Most of the Board members have been with TUHF since inception.  
The advantage of this, is that we understand the market, the issues 
and the stakeholders. Even our shareholding has been long-sustained. 
We realise that we need to renew and reinvent ourselves as a Board. 
Firstly, it is about diversity in the form of outlook and experience, 
especially in a complex and ambiguous environment. Healthy 
debate and diverse views at Board level continue to safeguard the 
transparency and good corporate governance of TUHF. 

Secondly, the whole issue of understanding technology is paramount.  
Technology is pervasive to everything we do. A lot of what we thought 
is business as usual is changing. We need directors that look both 
short and long term. 

On the topic of executive compensation, we need to look at 
Samson Moraba
Chairman
9 September 2019
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at 9.65% of our book. This shows there is an increase in competition, 
particularly for our more established clients. 

Question 

Could you share some highlights from the 
past year? 

Answer 
We disbursed a record R836 million which was up from R504 million 
last year and up from our all-time record of R534 million. This 
growth in lending was achieved organically, within our normal credit 
requirements, primarily through growth of our brand and our branch 
expansion strategy launched three years ago. The truth of the matter 
is that this created significant strain on our ability to provide timeous 
funding to our clients.

Which brings me to the other highlight of the year, our successful 
securitisation to the value of R500 million. Our team worked hard to 
put the securitisation vehicle in place for December 2018. The results 
were that the programme was well subscribed – in fact 2.61 times 
oversubscribed and the senior notes received an AA- rating, higher 
than our expectations. We are pleased with the positive response 
from the market at an average price of JIBAR +252 basis points as we 
welcomed two new funders. 

We are also proud to say our loan book has achieved and exceeded 
the R3 billion mark finishing the year at R3.1 billion on a TUHF Group 
basis, which shows a 18% net increase.

   

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW

    

   

  

“

  

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW

”
The past year tested our operating capacity and robustness  
– our growth is proof that we have risen to the occasion.   

PAUL JACKSON

Question 

What was the focus for the year gone by 
and how has the Group performed against 
this?

Answer 
We started the year with the aim of getting 4 things right – Branch 
Profitability; Improvement in Portfolio Management; Developing a 
Prepayment Strategy and Decreasing the Cost of Funding. I’m pleased 
to report that we achieved all four.

Of all these, branch profitability and branch operating performance has 
contributed to the extraordinary growth achieved through geographic 
diversification. Our prepayments have also improved but remain high 

Question 

What did TUHF’s financial performance look 
like in 2019?

Answer
Net profit after tax, on the same accounting standards as previous 
years (IAS 39) showed a growth of 18.1% after tax. This is good 
performance in current operating conditions of political uncertainty 
and very poor economic growth. The new IFRS 9 accounting standards 
relating to provisioning that came into effect at the end of this 
financial year required a substantial write-back of provisions to 
retained earnings for the prior year and a very large charge through the 
income statement this financial year. This resulted in net profit after 
tax remaining at the same level as the prior year.

In summary, TUHF is one of a few financial services institutions that, 
according to IFRS 9 models we developed, are significantly over- 
provided.  Which means our loan loss reserve is much bigger than 
technically necessary and as a result we have had to write back some 
of the provisions that were made.  This difference was as high as 
R17 million or 74%.  We have debated with our auditors on this 
outcome required by the IFRS 9 standard, specifically the significant 
predictive frailties of a model applied to an organisation with a small 
data set, with relatively few large loan exposures and a 15-year loan 
term, such as TUHF. 

I believe, however, that the effect of IFRS 9 will significantly decrease 
now that this once-off charge has been implemented and the basis of 
IFRS 9 becomes more robust over time.
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Our overall arrears position has deteriorated from 0.4 to 0.67. Our 
total capital impaired has also deteriorated and is primarily dependent 
on five large projects that we are in the process of closing out.  The 
uptick in the arrears is a function of the economy and a flat market, 
mostly in Johannesburg.  It is also specifically a function of us getting 
our heads around business rescue, a process, that in our experience is 
value-destructing.  

Question 

TUHF’s vision has changed to “Impact 
Through Scale”, tell us more about this?

Answer 
Our vision used to be “Achieving a R5 billion loan book, servicing 
every major city in South Africa.” Although we are not at the R5 billion 
mark yet, we have a presence in all eight metropolitan areas in South 
Africa and foresee that we will achieve the R5 billion mark in the near 
future, calling for us to set our sights on a new vision.  As such we have 
changed our vision to “Impact through Scale”.

This new vision talks to our aim to remain commercially sustainable 
and replicable while not losing sight of our development impact in a 
very large and systemic way, making a real difference in the lives of 
many, many individuals. 

What remains the same is the fact that we are a specialised lender and 
we want to grow as big as possible in our market - our market being 
inner cities in decline and low to moderate income rental housing.  

Question 

What is your strategic focus for the year 
ahead?

Answer 
The year gone by has tested our business significantly. It is not 
surprising that this year’s strategy is about going back to basics.”

Our focus for the year ahead has three legs – firstly, our business 
architecture - our process, people and policies; secondly, our IT 
architecture, which includes applications and lastly; our financial 
architecture. Our financial architecture means that we continue to 
look at our funding partners and stakeholders strategically as well as 
making sure that we have the correct skills, capacity and management 
in Treasury. We also continue to carefully monitor our assets and 
liabilities.  

We have all the building blocks in place.  It is just a question of 
looking at these issues in a more fundamental way to re-enforce our 
foundation that can significantly scale our business. We are appointing 
a programme management office to facilitate the changes needed to 
ensure our business is scaled for growth. 

Question 

TUHF has always been constrained by 
its ability to find sufficient market priced 
capital, what are the plans for the year 
ahead?

Answer 
That’s right, we are still more constrained by our ability to borrow 
than our ability to lend. A few things have changed in our favour 
though. Firstly, we are seeing more interest from a diversified pool 
of potential funders now that our loan book has reached the critical  

mass of R3 billion. Secondly, although our business growth is lower 
than what we aimed for, we are still performing at returns above many 
other asset classes within South Africa. 

Lastly our specialised knowledge of and proximity to inner cities 
and the entrepreneurs we fund is starting to reap returns at scale, 
this affirms our promise to investors of good commercial returns 
with impact. We operate at street level in a street-wise, discerning, 
approachable and down to earth way.

As a result TUHF is a well-run, best practice financial services company 
and we are increasingly growing our reputation in the capital markets. 
We are bullish about the future of securing diverse affordable funding 
to service the deep demand we are seeing in the market.

Question

Talking about impact, could you share some 
thoughts on TUHF’s approach?

Answer
We believe the only way to make a difference is to do it at scale. 
Our two focus areas for development impact is Inclusive Growth and 
Transformation and Massive Small. 

You know, we started TUHF by saying we want to change the complexion 
of ownership downtown and founded the Intuthuko Equity Fund in 2006, 
a full 13 years ago.  Today, the buzz word is urban land reform.

At TUHF, we are very interested in positively affecting Local Economic 
Development (LED).  Central to LED, is job creation.  Imagine we invest 
in an entrepreneur that buys a block of flats.  That entrepreneur then 
secures services to refurbish or convert the property – plumbers, 
electricians etc.  

Once the building is tenanted, the entrepreneur needs a different group 
of people to do the maintenance, security, property management and 
the financial administration. This way, a micro economy is stimulated 
and jobs are created.
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Linked to this is the concept of Fiscal Impact. By doing the business 
of TUHF how are we affecting local government and government 
income? Our business, by nature, increases the value of the properties 
we finance. Our clients are paying rates and utilities on buildings that 
used to be dysfunctional and derelict. We are directly affecting the 
local government fiscus.

The second very important concept is Massive Small. Massive Small 
means that South Africa’s housing problems will not be solved by two 
or three mega projects on the periphery of cities, but by 10 000 x 20-unit 
projects per annum. TUHF has funded inner city housing that amounts 
to four x Cosmo Cities, leveraging the knowledge and entrepreneurship 
of ordinary people! Added to this is the efficient city impact.  All of our 
projects are infill projects making use of existing city infrastructure. 

Fundamentally, it is about combating the urban sprawl problem and 
a housing policy that externalises the cost to the very poorest of the 
poor - incurring commuting and time costs to get to places of work.  
Our Massive Small concept is also about urban densification. You need 
a certain level of urban densification to create social and economic 
momentum, creating opportunities for ordinary people to participate 
in the economy.

Question 

Is TUHF’s culture fit for growth?

Answer 
Our biggest commercial differentiator is our culture. Our growth will 
see an evolution of the culture of TUHF, rather than broadscale change.  
Our culture is our comfort in inner city areas, speaking to people from 
very diverse backgrounds and different education levels. It’s investing 
in the local knowledge of ordinary people. We’re entrepreneurial, 
specialised and well networked.

We see inner cities as places of great potential, where others see them 
as past their prime. We see ordinary people who are not that good at 
speaking English, as really good investment propositions. The bottom 
line is we’ve built a solid business on seeing what others don’t.

Question 

Tell us more about TUHF’s market

Answer 

A lot of people ask us how big our market is. The truth is, we do not 
know, but we know it is substantial. We estimate there is at least 
R1 trillion worth of property in the inner cities of South Africa. If we 
financed even 10% of that, our loan book would be R100 billion.  

One thing we do know is that the case for the inner city, the 
sustainable multi-sector economies and the demand to live downtown 
is as strong now as it was 16 years ago when we started.  

It’s interesting that TUHF’s brand remains solid in Johannesburg and 
has grown in newer areas. So much so that our regional branches are 
matching or exceeding the deals we are doing in Gauteng. This is a result 
of the national expansion strategy we implemented three years ago. 

Question 

Looking ahead, what does the future hold  
for TUHF?

Answer 
We are on to bigger things and we are open for developing strategic 
relationships that will scale our funding to the R10 billion mark.  We 

 

Paul Jackson
Chief Executive Officer
9 September 2019

 

TUHF has funded inner city housing that amounts to four x Cosmo Cities, 
leveraging the knowledge and entrepreneurship of ordinary people! “ ”are open for these conversations and are seeing good interest in terms 

of large warehouse lines.  

Our growth has always and will continue to come in an organic way.  
We are not going to push growth by relaxing on credit policy.  The 
quality of our book is dependent on our continued ability to improve 
the state of the art lending that we have done to date.

Question 

Do you have any closing comments?

Answer 
Yes, it has not been an easy year, but we have come out on top and 
are at a tipping point in our organisation.  This would not have been 
possible without the support of our Board, our Executive Committee 
and the people of TUHF, as well as our clients – hundreds of ordinary 
men and women doing extraordinary things in our inner cities, and for 
this, I am very grateful.
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GROW
REDUCE

simply and organically 

complexity and decline 
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JOHANNESBURG
• Since 2003
• 49 employees
• 18 050 units in servicing
• R1.96 billion loan book
• 308 entrepreneurs assisted

PRETORIA
• Since 2018
• 2 Employees
• 285 units in servicing
• R79.33 million loan book
• 6 entrepreneurs assisted

SUMMARY
• Since 2011
• 5 employees
• 786 units in servicing
• R174.4 million loan book
• 13 entrepreneurs assisted

 

SUMMARY
•  Since 2015
•  Bloemfontein
•  3 employees
•  312 units in servicing
•  R25.8 million loan book
•  5 entrepreneurs assisted

WESTERN CAPE

WESTERN CAPE

AREAS WE FINANCE
 • Voortrekker Corridor from  
    Woodstock to Bellville
 • Observatory, Woodstock,  
   Salt River
 • Rugby, Ysterplaat 
 • Brooklyn

FREE STATE

FREE STATE

AREAS WE FINANCE
 •  Bloemfontein central  
  and surrounds

SUMMARY
• Since 2009
• 7 employees
• 2 042 units in servicing
• R259.1 million loan book
• 37 entrepreneurs assisted

KWAZULU-NATAL
AREAS WE FINANCE
 • Durban central and surrounds
 • Pietermaritzburg central
 • Pinetown centralSUMMARY

• Since 2011
• 5 employees
• 1 151 units in servicing
•  R101.8 million loan book
•  50 entrepreneurs

EASTERN CAPE
AREAS WE FINANCE
 • Port Elizabeth central and surrounds
 • Uitenhage
 • East London central and surrounds

GAUTENG

KWAZULU-
NATAL

EASTERN 
CAPE

OUR NATIONAL FOOTPRINT

As the largest lender in our inner city market niche, we have a significant commercial 
and developmental impact through our five branches in all eight South African metros: 
Johannesburg, Tshwane, Ekurhuleni, Mangaung, eThekwini, Buffalo City, Nelson Mandela Bay 
and Cape Town.

GAUTENG
AREAS WE FINANCE
 • Johannesburg central and surrounds
 • Pretoria CBD
 • Springs CBD
 • Benoni and Brakpan CBD
 • Vanderbijlpark CBD
 • Germiston CBD
 • Southern suburbs
 • Windsor East and West
 • Roodepoort, Krugersdorp
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2013

 
   

2017

2003
 
2011 20182015

Our Loan Book

16 YEARS OF GROWTH

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

R500 000 000

R2 000 000 000

R1 500 000 000

R2 000 000 000

R2 500 000 000

R3 000 000 000

R3 500 000 000

• Eastern Cape 

offices opened

• TUHF receives the  
Business Award in 
the Investing in the 
Future and Drivers 
of Change Awards

• TUHF Non-Profit 
Company converted 
to private company, 
TUHF Pty Limited 

• KwaZulu-Natal 
offices opened

• TUHF is awarded 
Mortgage Bank 
of the Year by the 
African Banker 
Awards

  TUHF successfully 
lists a Domestic 
Medium Term 
Note on the 
Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange

•  Founded in 
Braamfontein, 
Johannesburg

• TUHF Pty Limited 
converts to a public 
company, TUHF 
Limited

• Western Cape and 
Free State offices 
opened

   Successfully lists 
oversubscribed 
securitisation on 
Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange 
welcoming two new 
funders

2009
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GROUP STRUCTURE

Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC   

Group holding company exploring 
alternative developmental projects such  
as township backyard rental finance

PROPERTIES (PTY) LTD 

EQUITY (PTY) LTD 

HOLDINGS LIMITED     

Finances sustainable and 
legal township-based 
rental housing businesses 

Provides equity finance to 
previously disadvantaged 
individuals for first-time 
property investment.  This 
enables senior debt finance 
from TUHF Limited

TUHF Properties Pty Ltd 
purchases properties that 
become available for 
on-selling to entrepreneurs 
under deferred sale 
agreements

Offers equity funding to 
existing property investors 
with competence, but 
lacking capital

A security SBV

BRIDGE (PTY) LTD 

Provides short-term 
bridging finance enabling 
senior debt finance from 
TUHF Limited

TUHF Holdings Limited 
– Equity holding company

TUHF HOLDINGS’ SHAREHOLDERS

1   TUHF21 NPC owns 32,85% of the Company and has the casting 

    vote through a voting pool agreement in place with the NHFC.

 

    

TUHF21 NPC1 

NHFC 

Futuregrowth on behalf of OMLACSA

Government Employees Pension Fund

TUHF Conditional Share Plan (CSP) 
and treasury shares 

TUHF Limited 

14,32%

32,85%

32,64%

14,32%

3,41%2,46%

LIMITED

100%

100%100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

32,85%

Finances entrepreneurs 
to purchase, convert or 
refurbish buildings in 
inner cities.

TUHF Limited is our main 
operating company.

                  

TUHF Urban Finance RF Limited is a securitisation of 
mortgage loans originated by TUHF Limited. The issuer is 
an insolvency remote entity operating in accordance with 
the requirements and is administered by TUHF Limited. 
It has no employees of its own and is owned by TUHF 
Urban Finance Owner Trust.

NEW

TUHF NPC
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decline through positive impact

INCREASE
MINIMISE

value by creating new opportunities



Disciplined Execution

Partner for Success

Scale Funding to Support 
Growth

Sustainable Growth

Deliver Real Value to Clients

Design and implement a Business 
Architecture to serve our customers 
and growth.

Identify, prioritise and realise 
collaboration, partnership and 
innovation opportunities.

Create a sustainable level of funding 
that is freely available with conditions 
that enable our vision, not restrict it. 

Manage growth and risk for 
sustainability. 

Giving customers more of what really 
matters to them.

Operational Efficiency

Commercial Growth/
Treasury

Treasury

Commercial Growth/ 
Operational efficiency

Client Experience

• Establish Project Management Office
• Business process design
• Implement business architecture
• Optimise execution

•  Identify opportunities for mutual value 
creation with external parties

• Realise and prioritise innovation

• Create a sustainable level of funding
• Restructure balance sheet
• Review shareholding

• Business performance management
•  Maintain and encourage a growth 

culture
• Development finance product

• Refine customer segmentation
• Provide targeted products and services

R52,7m

46,5

15%

2,17

66%

R63,9m

34,4

16%

1,93

R44m

57%

R49,92m

39,9

14%

2,25

R37,5m

61%

New Lines of Credit 
Secured

Profit Before Tax

Return on Equity

Total Comprehensive 
Income

Cost to Income Ratio

Net Promoter Score 
(NPS)

Customer Effort 
Score (CES)

2019 Focus What it means 2018 Match Key Performance Indicators over 3 years Future Focus

R37,4m

R900mR700mR480m

2017 2018 2019

TUHF24

OUR VISION: 

STRATEGY

Impact through SCALE  
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LITTLE PEOPLE
GREAT PEOPLE

to be able to grow and become 

an environment creates the opportunity for 
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BUSINESS MODEL

OUR PRODUCT

Mortgage bond finance for mixed-
use developments of which the 
largest component should be 
residential.

PROPERTY FINANCE
•  A single mortgage loan facility      
 over 15 years for acquisition and  
 development

•  Prime-linked interest rate

•  Once-off raising fee

•  No monthly service fees

•   Financial structuring such as 
grace periods to accommodate 
the property development and 
tenanting stages

LIMITED

OUTPUTSACTIVITIESINPUTS

WHAT WE DO

•   Finance SMEs for inner city 
property investment

•   Offer experience, knowledge 
and expertise on property 
entrepreneurship

•   Connect entrepreneurs to our 
greater network of role players

•   Induct, train and mentor starter 
and emerging entrepreneurs

•   Offer value-added services such 
as events where industry experts 
share industry and market-
related trends and information 
on challenges close to inner city 
property entrepreneurship

VISION: IMPACT THROUGH SCALE

FINANCIAL CAPITAL
The funds available to TUHF, including debt capital, 
equity funding and the reinvestment of retained 
income.

HUMAN CAPITAL
Our team, including professionals who specialise in 
unearthing inner-city potential in areas, buildings 
and people.

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
We are street smart and know our market niche 
well. Our character-based lending approach is 
supported by a robust LCMS. This process is 
customised to our market niche and specialisation 
supported by our IT systems.

SOCIAL AND RELATIONSHIP CAPITAL
Our strong and interdependent relationships with 
role players across our stakeholder Groups such as 
ASISA, HSOB, JPOMA, JICBP, NASHO and National 
Treasury’s Jobs Fund.
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OUTCOMES

Equity funding is offered to existing 
property investors with competence, 
passion and drive but lacking in 
funding to take their property 
business to the next level in 
exchange for an equity stake in their 
business.

EQUITY (PTY) LTD 

Short-term, unsecured loans that 
assist in covering expenses such as 
obtaining rates and clearance figures 
or rehabilitating sectional title 
projects during the purchase process.

BRIDGE (PTY) LTD 

This fund provides the balance 
between entrepreneurs’ equity 
contributions and the minimum 
requirement for property finance 
from TUHF. 

Only available to previously 
disadvantaged clients for realising 
first-time property investment 
opportunities. 

Using their title deed as security, 
township property owners obtain 
mortgage loans to build rental rooms 
on their property with access to 
proper ablution facilities.

SU
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CLIENTS
•   419 entrepreneurs financed

•  38 771 housing units financed since   
 inception

FUNDERS
•   Sustained commercial returns to funders 

and investors over 16 years

•   R279.3 million in interest and 
capital repaid

SHAREHOLDERS
•   Consistent growth in ROI through 

dividends

•   ROE % – 11.4% on contributed 
capital

EMPLOYEES
•   Opportunity to contribute to a growing 

business with development impact

•   R47.2 million in remuneration

INNER CITY COMMUNITIES
AND ORGANISATIONS
•   Affordable housing made available in places 

close to opportunities of employment

GOVERNMENT AND
MUNICIPALITIES
•   A growing economically empowered urban 

community that contributes rates, utilities 
and taxes and ultimately, places less strain 
on government resources

•  R30.36 million paid in taxes  
    (income tax, value added tax and pay as    
    you earn tax)

SOUTH AFRICA
•   Affordable rental housing and local 

economic development contribute to 
broader socio-economic development

•  Financed projects in all eight metros

•   225 short-term and 27 permanent jobs 
created mostly during construction of 
funded projects
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DEVELOPMENTAL IMPACT REPORT

We are a commercial for-profit business, but we consider our development impact in every aspect of our decision making.

ENTREPRENEUR GROWTH

We go beyond access to finance for our 
clients. We walk every step of the way 
with them – training and mentoring them 
to make their businesses succeed.

URBAN REGENERATION

We finance the repairs and refurbishment 
of derelict, abandoned and hijacked 
buildings in inner city areas.

These buildings collectively form 
precincts where entire neighbourhoods 
are regenerated and where communities 
thrive.

LOCAL ECONOMIC GROWTH

People move into these neighbourhoods, 
start businesses, purchase goods and 
access local amenities. An influx of talent 
and increased diversity stimulates local 
social and economic development.
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JOB CREATION

The projects we finance create jobs 
both during construction and/or 
refurbishment, and the subsequent 
property management.

FISCAL IMPACT

Our funding stimulates the inner 
city property market – purchasing, 
refurbishing and upgrading these 
buildings, and increasing the property 
value of downtown areas.

Rates, utilities and taxes are collected 
from these previously non-paying 
buildings.

GREEN FINANCE

The projects we finance primarily 
involve reusing existing building 
infrastructure.  It is our credit policy  
to only approve projects with elements 
of greening in them, for example  
retro-fitting heat pumps or using 
natural and energy-efficient lighting.

38 771
 units financed in five  

provinces since inception

252
 permanent and short-term     

jobs created during 2018 – 
mostly during construction        
of funded projects

608
 inner city buildings are      
registered with local councils       
and pay rates and taxes

R3.1 billion
invested in 128 suburbs across             
all eight metros 
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INTUTHUKO EQUITY FUND

   

    

How it works
The IEF is designed to assist previously disadvantaged individuals 
(PDIs), specifically those who want to become property 
entrepreneurs in the inner city, but do not have the required equity 
to access finance. The fund assists entrepreneurs by contributing 
towards the deposit or equity requirements necessary for a loan 
approval. It requires interested entrepreneurs to contribute a portion 
of the financing that IEF will then match to a maximum of R750 000. 

The fund will only finance a deal that makes business sense, one that 
earns enough money from the business, not only to repay the loan 
obtained from IEF with interest, but also to make a profit for the 
entrepreneur. 

Why Intuthuko?
We are responding to an unmatched need in two ways - there is a 
growing demand for affordable rental housing supply in the inner 
cities due to rapid urbanisation across South Africa. In response, 
we saw an opportunity to support emerging entrepreneurs, mainly 
PDIs, to play a developmental and sustainable role in supplying 
quality, affordable rental housing. PDI participation in this market 
has been very limited due to the onerous obligations involved in 
obtaining institutional subsidies that make accessing equity funding 
opportunities extremely difficult. 

We believe that, if these constraints are overcome, approximately 
1,000 additional rental units can be added each year, in well-located 
areas, operated by emerging private-sector landlords, in a way that can 
materially enhance integrated human settlement policy and objectives. 

Structured support
We develop property entrepreneurs by identifying high-potential 
clients who typically live and work in the inner city. Clients are taken 
through the lending process to ensure that a client is adequately 
equipped to manage their desired property portfolio from the point 
of initial investment to ensure that they are in a position to repay 
the loan on time while running a profitable business. 

In addition to the support clients receive from the TUHF staff, we 
have a custom training programme facilitated and accredited by the 
University of Cape Town, which is mandatory for all entrepreneurs 
funded through the IEF. The training covers all principles necessary to 
run a successful rental housing business, from property development 
to property management. Business management skills are also 
provided through a supplemented, hands-on mentorship programme 
tailor-made for each entrepreneur. 

Strong performance
The IEF has achieved marked success in supplying equity PDIs, and in 
so doing has provided entrepreneurship opportunities while injecting 
funding back into the inner-city property market. 
        
        

Since its inception, the IEF has seen:

Outlook
Whilst capitalising on the opportunity of a scarcely tapped market, 
a plan is in place to take IEF to the next level. The IEF is uniquely 
positioned to provide inspired entrepreneurs with the opportunity to 
create a positive future for themselves. In light of this, we continue 
to explore viable options for funding this initiative in order to see an 
expanded impact throughout the country. 

Since our inception, we have sought to balance our commercial activities with our development impact. In addition to our support of affordable housing and urban regeneration 
objectives, we strive to promote urban land reform by directing our efforts towards small-scale, previously disadvantaged landlords. There are many barriers to entry into the 
property market for these entrepreneurs, with the central issue being equity. To address this, in 2005, TUHF NPC established the Intuthuko Equity Fund (IEF), a fund focused 
on creating opportunities for budding, previously disadvantaged entrepreneurs with a vision for inner city development. 

129
projects financed

99
previously disadvantaged property 
entrepreneurs funded

R43 million
in equity funding approved
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uMaStandi

How it works
Property owners who hold title deeds can approach uMaStandi for 
finance to develop units on their property for rental. If an individual 
qualifies based on their character, the location and project they have 
identified, a feasibility study will then be conducted. If the project 
is approved, uMaStandi will help with the finance as well as training 
during construction, let up, and ongoing property management.

In which areas is uMaStandi 
operational?

uMaStandi is currently offered to townships in Johannesburg – 
greater Soweto, and Cape Town, with the prospect of expanding to 
further areas in the near future. 

uMaStandi is the first commercial property finance to be offered 
in target township areas based on freehold title. This finance is 
designed to regularise title if required, use the entrepreneur’s 
property equity to gear a rental enterprise and to ensure that 
construction is properly designed and constructed with all 
necessary planning permissions in place. 

Financing in townships to date has been restricted to micro-
finance and in some areas home loan finance. uMaStandi is 
a pilot township backyard rental finance product that was 
launched in 2017. uMaStandi provides finance and training to 
develop an existing township property through building formal, 
approved and quality residential stock. 
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We are differentiated by our people’s ability to spot potential, deal with the complexities of South Africa’s inner 
cities and make entrepreneurial decisions. We create a culture that values the unique contribution of each 
individual, and we acknowledge that competitive remuneration and rewards for excellence, engagement and 
commitment are key components in attracting and retaining employees. Our people form a key part of our strategy. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

TUHF’s balanced scorecard links its performance management 

to key business-level strategic indicators and objectives. The CEO 

delegates and oversees these elements as they are implemented by 

managers. These are incorporated into plans at a departmental level and 

performance contracts at an individual level. Employees and their line 

managers hold monthly performance discussions. We hold performance 

reviews every four months to focus employees and managers on 

performance contracts and, consequently, the business strategy and plan.

Longer term performance is now being targeted and managed by 

the introduction of key strategic long-term indicators.  Achievement 

of these indicators is linked to the employee conditional share plan 

which key strategic staff members participate in.  Performance against 

these long-term indicators is monitored and managed at a Board level.  

DIVERSITY IS KEY
Our success depends on the experience and diversity of our

employees. TUHF has always understood that diversity creates

organisational strength. Our recruitment policy focuses on

appointing the best candidate for the position, according to

diversity and equity targets.

FOCUS FOR THE YEAR AHEAD
TUHF hones simple systems and nimble decision making 

that aren’t constricted by bureaucracy – our employees should enjoy 

reasonable autonomy. To this end, we have reviewed  

formal delegations of authority and are finalising them to 

give employees as much decision making independence 

as good governance allows.

ENTREPRENEURIAL SPIRIT AND 
CULTURAL FIT
Ensuring aligned growth
We now have established offices in five provinces. Our experience has 

taught us what level of resourcing and skills we required in each office 

to support the growth of the TUHF business.  Within each office, we 

identified and defined the key competencies needed in each position 

across the Group. Each role has its own set of professional, personal, 

service and, where relevant, leadership competencies. TUHF uses these 

competencies to support recruitment and employee development in 

line with their specific roles. We also focus on bringing people into our 

team whose values align with those of TUHF. This enables us to build 

and develop our organisational culture as we grow.

Growing our Talent
The right people – with passion and purpose – define our success. 

We operate in a constantly changing environment and are conscious 

of the need to grow the skills of our team.  We have also found that 

the environments within each Province are distinctly unique.  This 

requires that we build our talent consistently and in a manner that 

supports their specific needs.  TUHF supports both short term skills 

development and longer-term qualifications with its team.  Over 

the last year it invested in an ABET programme for some staff.  It 

also built key negotiation skills competencies in its operations team.  

Line managers work with their teams to identify skills development 

investments and TUHF supports individuals’ growth through learning 

initiatives.  

Creating Opportunities
A key challenge facing our country is youth unemployment.  

TUHF understands how important it is to create opportunities for 

young people to build some work experience.  To support creating 

opportunities for young people, it has an intern programme that 

employs young graduates for between a year and two years.  This 

programme provides exposure to key areas of the TUHF operations.  

Interns are mentored by experienced TUHF staff and provide a 

significant work contribution.  

A values-based Organisation
Our values guide the culture we are building. In developing these 

values, we engaged with all our employees to define the values 

and the behaviours we believe make our people uniquely TUHF. 

We entrench these values throughout the Group and believe our 

employees are aligned with our values and the purpose of our 

organisation.

OUR PEOPLE

•   Grit – the tenacity to keep going and going and going

•   The enquiring mind – Looking beneath the surface to see what’s real

•   Human connections – authentic, enduring relationships

•   Ground-breakers – a healthy disregard for limitation

Our Values

•   Straight-forward – simple, nimble, can-do attitude and down to earth

•   Approachable – authentically engaged, good listeners and personable

•   Discerning – recognising potential and problems, pragmatic solutions

•   Street smart – commercial know-how, market savvy

•   High performance – get it done, great lender – better partner

Our Culture

THIS VALUE IS CREATED THROUGH
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OUR TEAM PROFILE

45%

>35 years                    <35 years

55%

AGE

Indian 

Coloured             

African 

White          

11,25%

25,35%

55%

8,4%
RACE

7%

10%

72%

7%4%
REGION

Gauteng

KwaZulu-Natal

Western Cape

Eastern Cape

Free State

56,3%

43,7%

GENDER

MaleFemale 
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MATERIALITY – CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

Below is a list of factors that materially affect our operating environment. We have strategies  
to capitalise on the opportunities while managing our exposure to risks.

“ ”
LOCAL GOVERNMENT STRUGGLES
to deal with large non-paying areas, and over the past 10 years, municipal charges have grown  
from under 25% of rental housing operating costs, to above 46%.

RISK AND IMPACT
EXPENSIVE DEBT CAPITAL HAMPERS OUR MARGINS AND INCREASES COMPETITION FOR OUR ESTABLISHED CLIENTS.

Local government struggles to deal with large non-paying areas, and 
over the past 10 years, municipal charges have grown from under 
25% of rental housing operating costs, to above 46%.

ADMINISTERED PRICES 
RISING ABOVE INFLATION 

The negative political environment and extensive government 
corruption, lowered economic growth which, in turn, slowed the 
property market and had an adverse impact on our inner city areas.

Competition from the banks, especially for our established clients’ 
portfolios, is on the rise and remains a key consideration.

COMPETITION FOR  
ESTABLISHED CLIENTS 

The state has large capacity but low competence which shows 
in dysfunctional urban management. Much revenue is consumed 
without adequate service delivery.

POOR URBAN MANAGEMENT 

POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT 
AND CORRUPTION 
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Net book growth remains the major business objective. We are 
working on a prepayment strategy balanced by a focus on bringing  
in new business.

COMPETITION FOR 
ESTABLISHED CLIENTS 

We are making strides in our green financing policy which aims to 
alleviate our clients’ dependence on municipal power.

ADMINISTERED PRICES 
RISING ABOVE INFLATION 

The ANC’s resolution has improved local economic prospects 
stimulating economic growth. Municipal leadership is prioritising 
inner city areas, and we look forward to improved municipal 
functionality in the inner city areas in which we operate.

We support private sector interventions such as City Improvement 
Districts (CIDs) where local property owners and the community 
work together for the improvement of specific precincts.

POOR URBAN MANAGEMENT 

POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT 
AND CORRUPTION 

OPPORTUNITIES
We are exploring opportunities to refinance high-priced 
debt while maintaining favourable liquidity levels.

We expect that capital markets are likely to improve as 
downgrades become less likely in the coming year.
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GROWTH
CULTURE

as we continue on our path to

we want to hold on to our
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REVIEW

   

    

“Advances represent the largest asset class 
on the Group’s statement of financial position, 
and we ended the year under review with a loan 
book that had increased to a net R3.1 billion.” 

The statement of financial position shows the position of the Group’s assets, liabilities and equity at 31 March 2019. 

A – Advances represent the largest asset class on the Group’s statement of financial position, and we ended the year under review with a loan  
      book that had increased to R3.1 billion (2018: R2.61 billion). The growth in advances is a function of our responsible lending processes  
      and the Group’s success in accessing additional debt capital during the year. Loan disbursements of R836 million were achieved, a record  
      for the Group with the regions contributing just over 50% of this amount. Disbursements were offset by collections and prepayments  
      of R337 million, and an increase in expected credit losses under IFRS 9 of R36 million, resulting in a net growth of R463 million. 
B –  The increase to R107.5 million in other assets is mainly attributed to movements in TUHF’s investments in associated business enterprises  
      and investment property and deferred tax. The Group has partnered with three clients in joint venture activities and together these three   
      components make up most of the total. 
C – Financial liabilities increased by 22% to R2.8 billion. After repayments of R279 million, net debt capital on a Group basis increased  
      by R507 million. The Group successfully launched its first securitisation in December 2018 that raised a total of R500 million.
D – Other liabilities decreased by 1%. This was mostly attributed mainly to the decrease in dividend payable that is limited to 40%  
      of after-tax profit of subsidiary company, TUHF Holdings. 

“ ”
As we strive to create shared value, we measure our business 
success in holistic terms, taking into consideration both our 
financial and social measures. 

Statement of financial position overview 

Change
%

2019
R

Restated 2018
R

Cash and cash equivalents 375 92 368 020 19 460 696

Money market assets -32 44 406 460 65 365 658

Advances (A) 18 3 077 270 454 2 614 035 625

Other Assets (B) 56 107 545 328 68 847 080

Total assets 20 3 321 590 262 2 767 709 059

Financial liabilities (C) 22 2 784 700 848 2 278 144 701

Other liabilities (D) -1 43 844 519 44 132 133

Total liabilities 22 2 828 545 367 2 322 276 834

Total equity capital and reserves 11 493 044 895 445 432 225

Total liabilities and reserves 20 3 321 590 262 2 767 709 059

For the full statement of financial position, refer to page 84 of the Annual Financial Statements.

ILONA ROODT^
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“ The key milestone achieved for TUHF during 2019, is the strong performance 
in loan book growth, regional expansion and economies of scale, achieved as 
income outgrows expenditure. ”

Because the Group’s revenue is derived solely from its lending activities, 
growing our loan book in a responsible manner is key to growing our 
revenue. As we are not a deposit-taking institution, and as a non-banking 
financial institution, our ability to grow our advances is dependent on 
our ability to access debt capital at appropriate interest rates. Despite 
maintaining our robust lending methodology the Group has experienced 
an increase in non-performing loans during 2019. This is attributable 
mainly to a large component of projects caught in litigation and an 
increase in the incidents of arrears. 

TUHF continues to seek partners that offer well priced debt. Although 
the note listing on the JSE Limited gave us access to R280 million in 
capital in 2017 and enabled new relationships to be forged, the pricing 
of the debt was not optimal. TUHF ensured that the asset quality in the 
pool was maintained by replacing assets or remedying any covenants 
concerns within the allowable time frames. The note matures in 
January 2020 and the Group intends to refinance the note through 
a funding structure or an extension of the note programme.  As the 
discussions progress, the solution that works best for the Group will be 
implemented. 

As our environment continues to increase in complexity, this will 
require ongoing review of our reporting and finance capability. We have 
additional capacity to increase the size and competence of the finance 
and reporting functions. 

The statement of comprehensive income reflects the revenue generated by the Group, as well as the expenses incurred in the process of 
generating this revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

Group summarised statement of comprehensive income

For the full statement of comprehensive income, refer to page 85 of the Annual Financial Statements.

Statement of comprehensive income overview

Change
%

2019
R

Restated 2018
R

Net interest income (A) 4 150 555 855 144 950 276

Loan impairment (B) 149 23 813 613 9 562 125

Income from lending activities -6 126 742 242 135 388 151

Other income (C) 43 18 556 687 13 012 459

Operating income (D) -2 145 298 929 148 400 610

Operating expenditure (E) 9.6 92 549 442 84 467 613

Profit/(loss) before taxation -17.5 52 749 487 63 932 997

Taxation (F) -22.5 15 390 855 19 860 771

Net profit -15.2 37 358 632 44 072 226

A key impact on the Group’s performance was the implementation of the IFRS 9 expected credit loss model that required a reversal of 
opening expected credit losses, increasing the current charge by R17 million

A – Net interest income increased by 4%, driven mainly by net loan
book growth of 18% and margins maintained during 2019.  The 
net interest income represents the interest margin and  profit 
margin between the interest rate earned on advances made, and 
the interest rate paid on funding we receive. Benchmark lending 
rates, such as the prime interest rate in South Africa, available 
liquidity and perceived risk within the capital markets are key 
factors that cause variation in the net interest margin (NIM). 

B – Loan impairment charges of R6 million (together with   
      suspended interest of R11 million) would have been

charged to the income statement under the treatment of accounting 
statement IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 the impairment model was measured 
on the transition date 1 April 2018 and our expected credit losses 
exceeded the model by R16.6 million.  A reversal after tax of 
R11 million was required against retained income bringing the 
expected credit losses down to R46 million. During 2019 there was 
an increase in arrears and expected credit losses but had the reversal 
not been required, the impact would have been less significant. This 
distorts the performance during the year significantly with total 
changes greater by R17 million due to a change in accounting policy.
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REVIEW CONTINUED

   

    

C – Other income increased to R18.5 million from R13 million in 
      2018, primarily due to the fair value adjustment of unlisted 
      investments and interest earned on the shareholder’s loan in the 
       joint venture agreements. 
D – Operating income is the total of income from lending, non-
      interest income, other operating gains and investment income.
E – Operating expenditure consists primarily of employee costs, 
      consulting fees, as well as other costs to run the business, such 
      as information technology (IT), office rental and telephone costs. 
      During the year, this expense increased by 9.6% to R 92.5 million 
      due to additional employee costs, consulting fees on our funding
      structures exceeding expected levels and VAT written of,
      exceeding budget. The growth in operating costs is significant 
      for the Group. The economies of scale remain in our cost 
      structures but are not demonstrated in the above numbers,     
      mainly due to the impact of the IFRS 9 additional impairment    
      changes reducing income.
F –  The tax expense for the Group increased by 6% to R21 million. 
       The effective tax rate of 31% is due to adding back of     
      provisions, non-deductible expenses and non-deductible 
      interest on preference shares. 

To manage the risk of default, the Group implements industry-leading 
credit approval and loan administration processes and tracks the 
collection of instalments on a monthly basis. The key ratios that 
management tracks on arrears include the impaired capital ratio, 
loan capital relating to loans in arrears and impaired, expressed as 
a percentage of the loan book and the total arrears ratio, the rand 
amount of arrears expressed as a percentage of the loan book. 

Impaired capital deteriorated by 1.51% from 7.08% to 8.59% of book. 
Considering the net book growth, this is significant and exceeds the 
norm of 0.5% in terms of total arrears.

Arrears are monitored closely, and although the arrears levels 
remain manageable, they have increased beyond the level at which 
management are comfortable. The increase is seen mainly as a result 
of economic conditions and the growth in the book but is expected to 
peak and reduce later in the year.

TUHF is set on a growth trajectory for the immediate period ahead. 
Raising sufficient, well priced debt capital remains key to achieving 
our objectives.

The management of treasury risk and capital structure continues 
to be improved following the implementation of the Kyriba System 
supported by Treasury One. Regular ALCO meetings are held and 
enable closer risk management in particular around capital structure 
benchmarks and liquidity. Resources and capacity are under review 
and additional specialist skills have been brought in to ensure success 
of our vision.

I would like to extend my appreciation to the Board for its guidance 
during the year. To our funders, both old and new, thank you for 
enabling our growth. Finally, to our employees, thank you for your 
hard work. We can look back on the year with pride and look forward 
to the next financial year with anticipation, thanks to your dedication.

On a technical note: 

Restatement of prior year results 
A restatement of prior year results was necessary in respect of 
both the Group and the company relating to the treatment of Group 
dividends. Refer to page 140 for more information.Loans and impairments under IFRS 9

Looking ahead

Appreciation

2019
R

Restated 2018
R

Mortgage finance 
loans 22 623 011 8 673 038

Bridging finance loans 279 019 -341 196
Low interest rate – 
equity loans 900 000 1 215 000
Other loans –  
deferred sale 11 583 15 283

Total 23 813 613 9 562 125

Change
%

2019
R

2018
R

Total arrears 0,24 0,67 0,43

Capital impaired 1,51 8,59 7,08

Ilona Roodt
Chief Financial Officer

9 September 2019
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GOVERNANCE

   

            

Leadership
The Board recognises that, through good governance, the company 
will realise an ethical culture, good performance, effective control, 
accountability and legitimacy. TUHF directors recognise the need to 
manage the Group with integrity and to provide effective leadership 
based on an ethical foundation. This includes timely, relevant and 
meaningful reporting to shareholders and other stakeholders, that 
provide an objective overview on the company and its activities, 
directing the strategy and operations of the Group with the intention 
of building a sustainable business that creates value to all its 
stakeholders, and considering the short and long-term impact of this 
strategy. 

The Board is responsible for the implementation of the Group’s 
corporate governance, which results in the Group being a responsible 
corporate citizen.

Ethics
Ethical practice is part of the system of governance within TUHF and 
there are rules for employees when performing their duties. TUHF’s 
reputation and brand are affected by what the Board, management 
and employees do every single day.

The Board is responsible for setting and steering the strategic direction 
and culture of the Group. It also holds management to account for 
ensuring the Group adheres to the highest standards of ethics and 
integrity. The Board approved TUHF’s Code of Ethics and Business 
Conduct policy which was delegated to management to ensure its 
implementation. The Social and Ethics Committee is responsible for 
monitoring the continued implementation of ethics.

The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct policy clarifies the Group’s 
mission, values and principles, linking them with standards of 
professional conduct. Therefore, ethical behaviour is going beyond just 
observing the law. It is about following the spirit and intention of the 
law and ultimately treating all of our stakeholders and peers fairly and 
respectfully. All employees are expected to read, understand and apply 
the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct policy. Anything less would 
impact the reputation and damage the ability of TUHF to do business.

The Social and Ethics Committee reviewed the Code of Ethics and 
Business Conduct Policy and recommended that management should 
ensure effective implementation.

TUHF has a Whistle-blowing Policy that is overseen by the Audit and 
Risk Committee which has an amplified role in assuring that whistle-
blowing procedures are in place. There is an independent Hotline, 
managed through our internal auditors, that provides a third-party, 
anonymous and confidential whistle-blower reporting service for 
potential fraud, ethical issues, and any other concerns. No incidents 
were reported during the the financial year. 

Responsible Corporate Citizenship
TUHF’s mission and values, strategy and conduct are consistent with 
it being a responsible corporate citizen in the commercial property 
finance environment. The strategy and operations of the Group 
are intended to build a sustainable business that is considerate of 
the short and long-term impact on the economy, society and the 
environment. It is recognised that the Group is an integral part of the 
communities in which it operates and is committed to building sound 
relationships, based on trust, honesty, value creation and fairness. The 
Board is responsible for ensuring the company’s corporate citizenship 

on an ongoing basis and sets the direction for how the achievement of 
this corporate citizenship is to be approached and addressed, ensuring 
that the company’s efforts in this regard are in compliance with 
all applicable laws, leading standards and its own codes of conduct 
and policies. The oversight and monitoring of the Group’s corporate 
citizenship is performed by the Social and Ethics Committee.

Governance Framework
The Board is responsible for governance and ensures that a Group 
governance framework is implemented. The King IVTM Report on 
Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016 (King IVTM) advocates 
an outcomes-based approach and defines corporate governance as 
“the exercise of ethical and effective leadership by the governing body 
towards the achievement of governance outcomes”. These outcomes 
are benefits realised by application of the 208 recommended practices 
divided into 16 principles (the 17th principle does not apply to the 
Group), these principles require an “apply and explain” approach.

Kilgetty Statutory Services comprehensively reviewed each 
recommended practice to ascertain where the Group should align 
itself (see page 44 to 45 for King IVTM Application Review Report). 
TUHF embraces King IVTM in keeping our commitments to good 
governance and broader stakeholder interests. The Boards accept 
the responsibility for considering and applying King IVTM principles 
and are satisfied that they have made every effort to comply, in 
all material aspects, with these principles. The Boards review and 
update the Group’s governance policies and procedures to adhere to 
the JSE Listings Requirements, King IVTM and national best practice. 
They carefully consider all new non-statutory corporate governance 
concepts and implement those that are in the best interests of the 
Group and stakeholders. Governance requirements should enable, not 

TUHF Group - Incorporates TUHF21 Group and TUHF Holdings Group
For Group structure please refer to page 22
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detract, the directors to carry out their statutory and fiduciary duties, 
as well as their duties of care and skill.

The Governance Framework allows the Board to keep effective control 
and stay accountable while delegating authority to Board committees 
and the CEO along with clearly defined mandates and authority. 
Kilgetty provides all corporate governance services to the Board and 
the Board is satisfied with the effectiveness of their services.

The Board is satisfied that the delegation of authority framework, 
contained in the Governance Framework contributes to role clarity 
and the effective exercise of authority and responsibilities.

Visit http://www.tuhf.co.za/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/TUHF-Urban-Finance-

RF-Ltd-King-IV-Application-Register-.pdf for King IVTM Application Register.
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Principle
Satisfactorily 

Applied
Not Applied 
(Mandatory)

Not Applied 
(Voluntary)

Not Applicable

1. Leadership 17 0 0 0

2. Organisational Ethics 11 0 5 0

3. Responsible corporate citizenship 6 0 5 0

4. Strategy and performance 13 0 0 0

5. Reporting 9 0 0 0

6. Primary role and responsibilities 9 0 0 0

7. Composition 64 0 3 0

8. Committees 51 0 7 0

9. Evaluations of the performance 7 0 0 0

10. Appointment and delegation to management 19 0 8 0

11. Risk governance 19 0 0 0

12. Technology and information governance 15 0 9 0

13. Compliance governance 5 0 8 0

14 Remuneration governance 30 0 16 0

15 Assurance 21 0 12 0

16 Stakeholders 28 0 1 1

17 Institutional investors 0 0 0 6

Total 324 0 74 7

The above King IVTM DashBoard gives an overview of the results 
stemming from the King IVTM review that was performed. 
It should be noted that the application of King IVTM is an ongoing 
requirement and is continuously tracked and monitored in terms 
of compliance thereof. 

The Group complies in all material aspects to King IVTM which is 
demonstrated in the 80% satisfactory application of the 405 
practices identified with. 

2% of the recommended practices applicable as principles do not 
apply to the TUHF Group.

The Not Applied (Voluntary) column relates to governance 
documents that are in the process of being reviewed and where in 
the best interest of the Group, will be brought in line with King IVTM.

The Application Register detailing the TUHF King IVTM Principle as applied and explained 
is found on our website - http://www.tuhf.co.za/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/TUHF-
Group-King-IV-Application-Register.pdf
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SAMSON MORABA^

Board responsibility: Chairman 

Appointed to TUHF Board: 21 May 2003

Length of Service: 16 years

Education: BCom (UNISA); PMD (Harvard Business 
School) 

Expertise: Housing finance, corporate finance, 
banking, development

Age: 64 years Experience: 38 years

OTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Former member: The Standing Committee for 
the Revision of the 1990s Bank Act, at the South 
African Reserve Bank (SARB), and of the Licensing 
Committee of the Financial Services Board (FSB)

Board member: Cape Town Community Housing 
Company (CTCHC), South Point Management 
Services (SPMS)

Former Chair: African Union for Housing Finance, 
Teba Bank Limited (UBank) 

OTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Chair: Centre for Affordable Housing Finance (CAHF)

Board member: Brickfields (Pty) Limited, Divercity 
Urban Property Fund (Pty) Limited 

PAUL JACKSON^

Board responsibility: Chief Executive Officer

Appointed to TUHF Board: 21 May 2003

Length of Service: 16 years

Education: BSc Agricultural Economics (University of 
Natal); BSc (Hons) Agricultural Economics (University 
of Pretoria); Property Development Programme 
(University of Cape Town); Housing Finance 
Course (Wharton Real Estate Centre, University of 
Pennsylvania) 

Expertise: Commercial property finance, development 
finance, housing, economics

Age: 59 years Experience: 33 years

CAS COOVADIA^

Board responsibility: Deputy Chairperson - TUHF21

Appointed to TUHF Board: 18 January 1993

Length of Service: 26 years

Education: BCom (University College, Durban); 
Housing Finance Course (Wharton Real Estate Centre, 
University of Pennsylvania); Effective Directors 
Programme (Kagiso School of Leadership)  

Expertise: Financial Services Charter, Basel III and similar 
regulations, lobbying, government interaction and 
broader stakeholder engagement, banking operations 

Age: 68 years Experience: 47 years

OTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Deputy Chair: African Union for Housing Finance 

Chairman: National Business Initiative, FinMark 
Trust, SABRIC, Wits Audit Committee, BUSA Audit 
and Risk Committee, NBI REMCO, Debt Review HOC 
Committee, ISS Audit Committee 

President: International Union for Housing Finance

Member: Council at the University of the Witwatersrand, 
HR Committee, Standard Bank Feenix Trust

Board member:  Centre for Development and 
Enterprise, Nepad Business Foundation, Nikela Trust, 
Indlulamithi Trust, MLC, IBA, FSC, CDE, ISS Board  

Management Committee member:  Business Unity 
South Africa

Former Chair: Johannesburg Civic Theatre, Goldev 
Corporation 

Former Director: Central Johannesburg Partnership 

ROBERT EMSLIE*

Board responsibility: Lead Independent Non-Executive 
Director for the TUHF Holdings Group 

Appointed to TUHF Board: 1 August 2009

Length of Service: 10 years

Education: CA(SA)

Expertise: Financial services sector, banking, 
commercial and residential property industry, strategic 
leadership

Age: 61 years Experience: 36 years

OTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Board member: SilverBridge Holdings Limited, 
New Europe Property Investments plc

Former Board member: Commercial Bank of 
Zimbabwe, Finbond Group Limited 

^ Members of TUHF21 NPC, TUHF Holdings Limited and 
TUHF Limited Boards
* Members of TUHF Holdings Limited and TUHF Limited 
Boards only 

TUHF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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OTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Chair: Indluplace Properties Limited, Apexhi and 
Arrowhead Charitable Trusts  

Founding Member and Former CEO: Land 
Investment Trust, Johannesburg Housing Company, 
Housing Development Agency

Director: Arrowhead Properties Limited, 
Braamfontein Improvement District

Board member: Makhulong a Matala (NPC)

Director: Braamfontein Improvement District

TAFFY ADLER^

Board responsibility: Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board: 17 May 2013

Length of Service: 6 years

Education: BPhil African Studies; MSc Building Science 
(University of the Witwatersrand) 

Expertise: National housing policy, housing, political 
and social activism, urban development and human 
settlements 

Age: 69 years Experience: 44 yearsOTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Non-executive Director: Khulisa Social Solutions 

ILONA ROODT^

Board responsibility: Chief Financial Officer

Appointed to TUHF Board: 1 December 2016

Length of Service: 3 years

Education: CA(SA); HDipTax

Expertise: Property, financial management, risk 
management, reporting, stakeholder relationships 

Age: 51 years Experience: 23 years

MANDU MAMATELA^

Board responsibility: Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board: 21 November 2006

Length of Service: 13 years

Education: Associate Accountant Technician 
International Executive Development Programme 
(IEDP) (University of the Witwatersrand Business 
School); MBA (North-West University, Potchefstroom) 

Expertise: Strategic leadership, credit risk assessment, 
project finance and financial management, 
organisational restructuring  

Age: 52 years Experience: 30 years

OTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Trustee: Kurisani Trust, Housing Investment 
Partnership and NHFC Provident Fund 

JAMES HOWARD*

Board responsibility: Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board: 28 August 2012

Length of Service: 7 years

Education: BCom (Stellenbosch University)

Expertise: Impact investment, private equity funds,  
property assets 

Age: 60 years Experience: 34 years

OTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Board member: Trans Africa Concessions  
(Pty) Limited, Open Learning Group (Pty) Limited,  
N3 Toll Concession Company (Pty) Limited,  
SAFE Farm Ventures (Pty) Limited 
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OTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Non-Executive Director: Communicare NPC and 
Ekurhuleni Housing Company

RUBEENA SOLOMON*

Board responsibility: Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board: 1 June 2018

Length of Service: 9 months

Education: Master of Business Administration; 
Bachelor Of Commerce (Honours); Bachelor Of 
Commerce; Certificate in Corporate Governance; 
Higher Certificate in Islamic Banking and Finance Law 

Expertise: Investment management, strategic 
management, responsible investment ESG, 
stakeholder & investment stewardship, financial 
and investment advisory, risk management  

Age: 48 years. Experience: 26 years

OTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Non-Executive Director: Africoil 

JILL STRELITZ^

Board responsibility: Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board: 18 January 1993

Length of Service: 16 years

Education: BBA (Hons) Sociology; MSc in Town and 
Regional Planning, Diploma in Financial Instruments, 
Executive Development Programme (run jointly by  
the University of the Witwatersrand and Harvard 
Business School) 

Expertise: Housing, finance, social impact 

Age: 68 years. Experience: 40 years

OTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Non-Executive Director: Johannesburg Housing 
Company

Executive Director: Novo Impact Fund, New 
Housing Company

LUTHANDO VUTULA*

Board responsibility: Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board: 27 July 2018

Length of Service: 8 months

Education: Masters Degree in Development Finance 
(University of Stellenbosch); Bachelor of Business 
Administration (Hons) (University of Stellenbosch); 
Bachelor of Economics and Accounting (University of 
Botswana), Chartered Development Finance Analyst 
(CIDEF) 

Expertise: Finance, property, housing, banking, 
Leadership  

Age: 47 years. Experience: 21 years

OTHER BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

Chief Executive Officer: ubank (Pty) Limited

TUHF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS - CONTINUED

LUSANDA NETSHITENZHE*

Board responsibility: Executive Director 

- TUHF21 Group

Appointed to TUHF Board: 30 August 2018

Length of Service: 1 year

Education: Master of Business Leadership (UNISA), 
Master of Science in Development Planning (Wits 
University), Higher Diploma in Development Planning 
(Wits University), Bachelor of Arts (Wits University)

Expertise: Housing, planning, social impact, 
investment (ESG) 

Age: 43 years. Experience: 17 years
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TUHF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

“Board members” refers to members of the TUHF Board.

BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES

BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES

Roles and responsibilities

•   Lead ethically and effectively

• Balance the interests of the Group and its various stakeholders

• Ensure that management best serves shareholders and stakeholders’ interests

• Enact corporate governance within regulatory risk parameters

• Practice sound governance

Internal auditors completed the following internal audits:

• Auditing of the Valuations Process and Policies

•  IT and Disaster Recovery follow up review from the one done during the 2016/2017 
financial year

• Assessment of the financial control environment

• Liquidity and Market Review

• FICA Readiness Review

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

Members

RR Emslie

(Chairperson)

C Coovadia

JK Mamatela

By invitation

PGN Jackson

IL Roodt

External Auditors – PWC

Internal Auditors – KPMG

Roles and responsibilities

•   Review Group accounting policies and practices and, when necessary, 
recommend changes

•  Review Group financial, operational and internal control systems including 
business rescue plans and, when required, make recommendations to the Board

•  Review the implementation of IT structures, processes and mechanisms and be 
satisfied that the IT strategy is integrated with the Group strategic and business 
process

• Ensure that risk assessments are formally documented

•  Review the regulatory compliance by the Group and oversees the compliance 
risk management processes

•  Monitor management’s compliance with reporting best practice

•  Oversee reporting by internal and external auditors, exceptions are noted, and 
the level of risk tolerance and appetite are set

•  Evaluate, review, approve and recommend to the Boards the Annual Financial 
Statements and Integrated Annual Report

• Liaise with the Social and Ethics Committee on ethical matters

Key focus areas and achievements in the year

•   The audited financial statements for 2019 were reviewed in line with the external audit plan 
and recommended to the Board for approval

•  The committee considered the impact of the implementation of IFRS 9 and back tested 
the management’s estimate of general loan provisions with the external auditors. A Model 
was developed to ensure that the company complies with the IFRS 9 requirements and was 
approved by the committee

•  An audit of the company secretarial function was done and the committee recommended 
that management should have increased oversight and quality control on this function. 
Subsequently, an internal resource was employed as an assistant company secretary.

•  Attended to a complaint reported via the KPMG Hotline under the Whistle-blowing Policy and 
resolved the matter

•  The committee approved the ALCO policy as its sub-committee that deals with the 
management of the company significant risks.

•  FICA readiness review was conducted by the internal audit and the committee approved their 
recommendations for implementation by management. The Risk Management Compliance 
Programme was then approved by the committee.

• External audit plan was approved for the 2020 financial year
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REMUNERATION AND HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE (REMCO)

Members

C Coovadia (Chairperson)

RR Emslie

SS Moraba

By invitation

PGN Jackson

Roles and responsibilities

•   Enact policies that attract, develop and retain employees with specialised and critical skills

•  Review employee earnings, including benefits, to maintain best practice and ensure competitive 
remuneration packages

• Review, recommend and approve executives’ remuneration packages

• Approve the issue of the CSP as well as the vesting of its awards

• Review, recommend and approve salary and performance increments

• Review and recommend annual incentive bonuses

• Review, recommend and approve HR policies and procedures

Key focus areas and achievements in the year

•  The committee aligned the HR policy and procedure manual to King IVTM

•  The committee held detailed discussions on amending terms and conditions 
of the CSP concerning Executive Directors and staff share allocation, long-
term incentives and eligibility

•  The committee recommended to the Board and shareholders that the CSP’s 
share allocation be increased from 5% to 10%

• The committee evaluated and reviewed the CEO’s performance

LOAN COMMITTEE (LOANCO)

Members

C Coovadia (Chairperson)

RR Emslie

TM Adler

L Vutula

By invitation

PGN Jackson

IL Roodt

Roles and responsibilities

•   Identify and manage the Group’s credit exposure as well as trends and responses affecting this 
exposure

•  Review and recommend changes to the Group’s credit and loan policy, including the adequacy of 
allowances for credit losses

• Track and ensure policies and controls operate effectively

•  Delegate to the Management Committee (MANCO) the authority to evaluate and approve 
financing and guarantees of projects within the established value band (below R10 million)

•  Evaluate and approve financing and guarantees of projects within the established value band 
(above R10 million)

•  Refer to and request authorisation by the Board for loan applications where there are risk 
tolerance concerns

• Report approved projects to the Board

Key focus areas and achievements in the year

•   The committee reviewed non-performing loans and focus was on the 
properties in Maboneng that were liquidated and sold on auction

• Possible losses were highlighted

•  Improvements to our lending and valuation processes were considered. In 
Group disbursements for the year, the budget of R830 million was exceeded 
by the total Group disbursements of R836.14 million. The Group exceeded 
the budgeted disbursements by R6,1 million
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BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES - CONTINUED

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

Members
JS Strelitz (Chairperson)

JF Howard

IL Roodt

By invitation
PGN Jackson

Roles and responsibilities
•   Monitor the Group’s activities with regard to legislation, best practice, 

social and economic development, good corporate citizenship, environment, 
health, public, safety and stakeholders’ perceptions, and labour and 
employment

• Liaise with the Audit and Risk Committee on ethical matters

•  Ensure compliance with legislation, regulation and governance codes, 
including King IVTM

• Report to the Board and shareholders on any matters within its mandate

Key focus areas and achievements in the year
•  The Committee finalised and approved its Workplan

• Approved the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy

•  The committee completed and approved the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct as well as the 
business plan

• The committee formulated and approved the work plan

•  The committee introduced greening. New loans will be required to implement energy-saving 
measures

•  The committee implemented greening as a prominent feature in the balanced scorecard and 
business plan

•  The committee held a comprehensive review to identify where the Group should align itself with 
regard to King IVTM.

TUHF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE CONTINUED
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BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES - CONTINUED

JOBS FUND COMMITTEE

Members
JK Mamatela (Chairperson)

C Coovadia

Roles and responsibilities
•   Oversee and act as a sounding Board to TUHF’s CEO and management in 

respect of the National Treasury’s Jobs Fund grants

•  Conduct post-monitoring assessments of the sustainability of permanent 
jobs created and small, medium and micro-sized enterprises (SMMEs) 
funded through the initial Jobs Fund grant for a two-year period ended 
March 2018

• Oversee the development impact unit’s activities

•  Measure outcomes and/or impact of energy efficiency/greening, 
entrepreneur growth, local economic development, fiscal impact, affordable 
housing provision and inner city regeneration

Key focus areas and achievements in the year
•   TUHF Group created 27 permanent and 225 short-term jobs through National Treasury’s Jobs Fund 

programme

•  TUHF Group has a continued constructive relationship with National Treasury’s Jobs Fund 
Investment Committee

•  TUHF Group facilitated one Programme for Property Entrepreneurship training (TPPE) intake with 31 
participants having completed the training and receive certificates from the University of Cape Town

•  TUHF Group launched its Luhlaza Initiative, focused on promoting and funding a portfolio of energy 
efficient sustainable inner-city residential buildings. The initiative is the implementation of TUHF 
green programme

•  Luhlaza - The word that means green or blue in Xhosa, Zulu and Swati (Nguni languages)
Both colours represented by Luhlaza are appropriate for TUHF’s brand and the intention of the 
programme. The logo below will represent the initiative:

R
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ASSET AND LIABILITIES MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (ALCO)

Members
RR Emslie 
(Chairperson)
JK Mamatela
C Coovadia

By invitation
IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

Roles and responsibilities
•  Identify risks proactively and continuously

• Review the Group’s risk management

• Monitor risk evaluation and mitigation

• Develop risk strategies

• Monitor maturity mismatch strategy

•  The liquidity and internal capital adequacy assessment 
processes

• Internal funding and capital structure

• Transfer and accept risk

• Assess the impact of risk or likelihood of it occurring

Key focus areas and achievements in the year
•  Developed the ALCO Investment Policy - approved by the Board

•  Developed ALCO policy – still under discussion/development as the 
Organisation grows

• Developed the ALCO DashBoards for reporting purposes

•  Committee established processes to monitor TUHF Liquidity Risk and 
progress in funding capacity

•  Implemented cash flow reporting forecasts for a three year period including 
contractual maturities and future looking pipeline and funding lines

•  The committee continued with the management of significant treasury 
risks by using developed dashBoards which cover funding cost, funding 
concentration, liquidity, maturity mismatch, capital/leverage and NIM 
targets

• Ongoing opportunities for funding were explored and implemented

EQUITY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Members
TM Adler (Chairperson)

RR Emslie

C Coovadia

L Vutula

By invitation
PGN Jackson

IL Roodt

Roles and responsibilities
•   Oversee TUHF Equity

•  Review and approve investments into joint ventures 
with inner city residential entrepreneurs

•  Review the performance of approved joint venture 
investments

•  Identify significant risks confronting joint venture 
investments together with the development, 
implementation and monitoring of appropriate risk 
management reports

•  Develop, implement and monitor a documented 
Investment Committee management policy and plan

Key focus areas and achievements in the year
•  Approved the TUHF Equity Structure Framework and Guiding principles

• Approved the Valuations Policy

•  Potential investments were evaluated and two were submitted for 
approval

ASSET AND LIABILITIES 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

(ALCO)

The Committee engaged the services 
of G Raine, a specialist consultant in 
treasury and AJ Rothman, a specialist 
consultant in Securitisation and 
Facility Structuring

BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES - CONTINUEDTUHF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE CONTINUED



INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019 55

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES

Executive

Risk Management

Management

PGN Jackson (Chairperson)

IL Roodt 

LN Netshitenzhe   

 B Cooke

 SK Govender

 HL Makwela

V Derrocks 

R Jeffery

P Boulle

IL Roodt (Chairperson)

B Cooke

K Chikomo

     SK Govender

     PGN Jackson

     R Jeffery

        L Dube

PGN Jackson (Chairperson)

IL Roodt

SK Govender                               

 R Jeffery

 LN Netshitenzhe

  V Derrocks

B Cooke

HL Makwela

R

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (EXCO)

Members
PGN Jackson 

IL Roodt 

LN Netshitenzhe

B Cooke

SK Govender

HL Makwela

V Derrocks

R Jeffery

P Boulle

S Blaine

Roles and responsibilities
The Board has delegated TUHF’s management to the CEO and other members of EXCO. 
EXCO is responsible for the Group’s overall management and, at a strategic level, its 
business. Weekly meetings are scheduled to:

•  Assess and discuss key strategic business issues, including liquidity and stakeholder 
relationships

•  Review the Group’s balanced scorecard and the implementation of strategic issues

• Discuss progress on high-risk projects identified including litigation matters

•  Assess all operational aspects of projects, financing, development and implementation, 
including procedures for project preparation and approval

•  Ensure compliance with legislation, regulation and governance codes, including King IVTM.

• Discuss matters surrounding existing or required staff

• Discuss views and perceptions with funders and shareholders

Key focus areas and achievements in the year
• Reviewed the FICA Policy and implemented the new RMCP

• Implementation of the strategic plan as approved by the Board

•  Successfully implemented TUHF’s first investment grade securitisation and raising 
funding of R500 million in December 2018

• Reviewed high risk projects and successful workout thereof

R

COMMITTEES MEMBERS

BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES - CONTINUED
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Members
IL Roodt (Chairperson)

B Cooke

K Chikomo

SK Govender

PGN Jackson

R Jeffery

L Dube

Roles and responsibilities
•  Review risk management policy and processes

• Ensure risk management is integrated into business operations

• Ensure management considers and implements appropriate risk responses

• Evaluate the basis and adequacy of insurance cover

• Ensure internal audit is aligned with risk management processes

• Identify emerging areas of risks

•  Ensure compliance with legislation, regulation and governance codes, 
including King IVTM

• Identify areas of governance non-compliance and propose remedial action.

Key focus areas and achievements in the year
•   The committee continued with the assessment, monitoring and management of risks covering 

general risk, market, treasury and IT

•  The committee continued developing the systematic impairment model using the credit history of 
loan advance and best practice to meet IFRS 9 requirements

•  The committee approved a regulatory compliance framework tabled by John Symington, an external 
compliance expert.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (MANCO)

Members
PGN Jackson 

(Chairperson)

IL Roodt

SK Govender

R Jeffery

LN Netshitenzhe

V Derrocks

B Cooke

HL Makwela

Roles and responsibilities
•   Approve financing and guarantees of projects with a value of less than R10 

million on a weekly basis

•  Recommend projects of a value exceeding R10 million to LOANCO

Key focus areas and achievements in the year
•  The committee approved 177 loan applications.

BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES - CONTINUEDTUHF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE CONTINUED
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BOARDS OF DIRECTORS

The Boards provide effective leadership and guide management in the 
strategic decisions that determine the future direction of the Group. 
The Boards are ultimately responsible for corporate governance within 
regulatory risk parameters. They ensure sound governance to the 
benefit of long-term equity performance and shareholder value. Most 
importantly, the Boards are responsible for transparently and openly 
reporting to stakeholders on the Group’s performance and how their 
own responsibilities have been fulfilled.

The Boards are expected to make efficient, objective and transparent 
decisions. To this end, they are supported by sub-committees, 
governance policies and internal governance codes. The sub-
committees’ terms of reference allow for suitably skilled external 
consultants to attend committee meetings.

The TUHF Board is satisfied that the authority framework delegation 
clarifies roles and responsibilities and improves disclosure on how 
authority and responsibilities are exercised throughout the Group.

A minimum of six Board meetings are scheduled per year with 
additional ad hoc meetings as required. The TUHF Board’s key roles 
are to:

•  Consider and approve strategic plans

•  Consider and approve the business philosophy

•  Monitor management’s implementation of the strategic plans  
   and business philosophy

• Approve budgets and financial results

• Set risk parameters

• Delegate powers and duties to management

•  Establish policies and processes to ensure the integrity of 
management and related internal controls

During the year, the Board undertook strategic tasks, including:

•  Optimising the Group’s borrowing strategies and diversifying the 
pool of funders

•  Improving the Group’s decision making and agility by delegating 
and decentralising authority

•  Further improving and aligning the Group’s internal branding to 
ensure the values that make TUHF unique are shared internally 
and experienced externally

•  Continuing to promote the Group’s development objectives 
– improving livelihoods, effecting housing for low to moderate-
income earners, funding entrepreneurs and small businesses and 
urban land reform

BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES - CONTINUED
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TUHF21 Group Structure

The Board is satisfied of its composition on the mix of 
knowledge, skills, experience and diversity. There are 
eight directors of whom three are Executive Directors 
and five are Non-executive Directors. The demographic 
targets for Board composition is 50% black and  
25% black female.

Independent Non-Executive

Executive

Non-Executive

BOARD COMPOSITIONTUHF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE CONTINUED

TM Adler
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz

IL Roodt
PGN Jackson
LN Netshitenzhe

                  

EQUITY FUND (PTY) LTD 
INTUTHUKO

PROPERTIES (PTY) LTD 

C Coovadia C CoovadiaIL Roodt
PGN Jackson

IL Roodt
PGN Jackson
HL Makhwela

TM Adler
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz

IL Roodt
PGN Jackson
LN Netshitenzhe

TUHF NPC
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TUHF Holdings Group Structure

The Board is satisfied of its composition on the mix of knowledge, skills, experience and diversity. It has eleven directors of whom two are Executive Directors, 
one an Independent Non-Executive Director and the balance is Non-Executive Directors

• Rubeena Solomon was appointed as a director to TUHF Holdings, TUHF and TUHF Equity on 1 June 2018
• Luthando Vutula was appointed as a director of TUHF Holdings, TUHF and TUHF Equity on 27 July 2018

Independent Non-Executive

Executive

Non-Executive

EQUITY (PTY) LTD BRIDGE (PTY) LTD LIMITED

TM Adler 
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz

WA Nel
NR Clarke
R Thanthony

L Vutula
R Solomon
TM Adler
JF Howard
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz

L Vutula
R Solomon
TM Adler
JF Howard
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz

C CoovadiaRR Emslie 
IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

ML De Nysschen
PGN Jackson

RR Emslie 
IL Roodt

RR Emslie 
IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

BVI 1904
(Pty) Ltd

L Vutula
R Solomon
TM Adler
JF Howard
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz

RR Emslie 
IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

HOLDINGS LIMITED     
DEREGISTRATION 

PROCESS

TUHF Urban Finance RF Limited is a securitisation of mortgage loans originated by TUHF Limited. The 
issuer is an insolvency remote entity operating in accordance with the requirements and is administered 
by TUHF Limited. It has no employees of its own and is owned by TUHF Urban Finance Owner Trust.
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TUHF GROUP 
Samson Moraba, Paul Jackson and Ilona Roodt respectively serve as 
the Chairperson, CEO and CFO of all the companies. 

There is no fixed-term service contract in place for the CEO or the 
CFO, and their tenures are subject to normal terms and conditions for 
employer/employee relationships. However, the Board has approved 
a succession plan for Executive Directors and senior managers to 
improve employment contracts. The CEO, Paul Jackson has been in 
the employ of the company from 2003.

In terms of TUHF21’s MOI, one-third of its Non-Executive Directors 
retire by rotation at each annual general meeting (AGM). If eligible, 
retiring directors may offer themselves for re-election. With regard 
to TUHF Holdings and TUHF, each Non-executive Director serves 
for an indefinite period and only ceases to be a director under the 
circumstances provided for in the Companies Act or the MOI. This 
policy will be amended during new appointments to the Boards.

TUHF’s prescribed officers, as defined in the Companies Act, attend all 
Board meetings by invitation.

 

Board Structure
A formally documented and approved Board charter outlines the scope 
of authority, responsibilities, powers and functioning of the TUHF 
Board. The Board reviews this charter annually to keep it relevant and 
in line with governance best practice. The governance framework policy 
sets out the operating principles of directors and prescribed officers as 
well as directors’ fiduciary conduct and probity.

The procedures for appointing and inducting new directors are 
detailed in the governance framework and Board charter. The role, 
function and powers of a Board, TUHF21 members, shareholders and 
committees, and their relationship with direct and indirect subsidiaries, 
are determined by law, the MOI, third-party agreements, governance 
regulations and best practice guidelines and policies. These include 
resolutions of the Board and shareholders/members, all of which are 

related to the decision making power or control of a company.

The TUHF Board has unrestricted access to Group information, 
records, documents, management and employees. Subject to 
the approved protocol, the Board may engage, at the Group’s 
expense, any firm of accountants, lawyers or other professionals for 
independent counsel and advice on any review or investigation into 
the performance of their fiduciary duties.

The Group’s Boards are assisted by a competent, suitably qualified 
and experienced outsourced Company Secretary who provides 
practical support and guidance to directors. The Company Secretary, 
Kilgetty Statutory Services (Proprietary) Limited, is an independent 
secretarial practice company represented by Matthew Wray.

Regarding the previously mentioned management agreements, 
TUHF will:
• Be subject to instruction from the Board of the company referred to;
• Be subject to the MOI of the Company referred to;
•  Remain responsible for the overall direction and control of that 

company;
• Be entitled to impose and implement any and all decisions;
• Take any and all actions;
• Sign any and all documents;
•  Provide any and all management services, including those 

incidental to the business of the company referred to

In fulfilling its role as the focal point of corporate governance, the 
TUHF Board (where applicable) and management ensure that the 
businesses of the Group run effectively and efficiently, for the benefit 
of all stakeholders.

The roles, functions and responsibilities of the TUHF Board can be 
summarised as follows:
•  The Group’s objectives, strategy, short-term and medium-term 

plans and the monitoring of actual performance against budgeted 
and operational results

•  Annual Financial Statements, management accounts, interim 
reports, dividends, financial matters and covenants

• Approval of the annual strategic and business plans
•  The Group’s risk appetite, funding requirements and liquidity status
•  Appointment and succession planning of the CEO and Executive 

Directors
• Delegation of authority to the CEO
• Board committee mandates, authorities and annual review thereof
• Regular review of Group policies and procedures
• Effective internal systems of control including IT management
• The total process of risk management
• External reports and appropriate action to resolve issues
•  Assessing and implementing a suitable and cost-effective risk-

based internal audit and risk mitigation strategy
•  Corporate governance philosophy and continuing governance 

compliance
• Law and regulation compliance
• Stakeholder communication
•  Assessing the performance of the Board, its committees and its 

individual members
 

The Chairperson of the Board
The Chairperson of the Board is a non-executive director and the 
Board has appointed a Lead Independent director which has brought 
balance to the Board.
 

Separation of Chairperson and      
CEO’s roles
The Group Chairperson and Group CEO have distinct and separate 
roles with clear division of responsibilities.

Although the Chairperson is currently a Non-executive director, the 
Group has appointed a Lead Independent Non-executive director 
with assigned responsibilities. 

The Chairperson and CEO’s roles and functions are formalised in the 
Board charter. The Chairperson provides overall leadership to the 
Board and presides over Board meetings, AGMs and general meetings 
to ensure they are productive. The Chairperson acts as the link 

TUHF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE CONTINUED
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between the Board and management, particularly between the Board 
and the CEO, and safeguards relations with the shareholders of TUHF 
Holdings.

The CEO is an Executive Director of the companies in the Group and 
is accountable and responsible to all the Boards for implementing the 
strategies, objectives and decisions within the delegated authorities, 
values and policies of the applicable Group companies. 

The CEO plays a critical role in the day-to-day business and is required 
to alert the Chairperson of all forthcoming complex, contentious and 
sensitive matters affecting the Group.

All the authority of the Board has been delegated to the CEO with 
certain material exceptions. 

TUHF Holdings’ MOI contains specially protected matters that cannot 
be undertaken, engaged in, agreed to, or performed by the Company 
or its subsidiaries, unless directors representing shareholders who hold 
at least 75% of the issued share capital of TUHF Holdings have agreed 
to this in writing.

 

Directors’ access to information and 
resources
Directors have unrestricted access to Group management and 
Company information. In order for them to carry out their duties and 
responsibilities, all Group resources are available to them as well as 
the advice of outsourced consultants at the Group’s expense in terms 
of the Board charter.

Declaration of interests
In terms of the Companies Act, directors are required to make a general 
declaration disclosing their outside interests. The declaration must be 
updated as and when any changes occur. The Company Secretary keeps a 
record of these declarations which are tabled annually.

Board evaluation
The Social and Ethics Committee, assisted by the Company Secretary, 
evaluates the Board every two years. The committee carried out the 
previous evaluation during the 2017 financial year and has performed 
a subsequent evaluation during 2019.

The Board continues addressing the areas for improvement identified 
in the previous evaluation and will to continue to do so in terms of 
the improvement areas identified during the current Board evaluation 
process. 

 The Board is satisfied that the evaluation process conducted improves 
its performance and effectiveness. In June 2019, REMCO reviewed the 
CEO’s performance and rated it as “good and competent”.

Company Secretary
The Company Secretary’s role and function is formalised in the 
Board charter. The Company Secretary, Kilgetty Statutory Services 
(Proprietary) Limited, is an independent secretarial practice company 
represented by Matthew Wray.

The Company Secretary observes Board procedures, duties, 
responsibilities and statutory regulations. The Company Secretary 
guides members of the Boards on governance, compliance and their 
fiduciary responsibilities. 

All new and amended legislation and regulations which are relevant 
to the Group’s business will be provided to the members of the Board 
at meetings or by circulars. Directors have unrestricted access to the 
Company Secretary.

Board COMMITTEES
In terms of the MOI and the delegation of management referred to
above, the TUHF Board may appoint Board committees and delegate

functions to those committees to assist it in discharging its duties.
The committees enhance the standards of governance and
effectiveness within the Group. The Audit and Risk Committee is  
a statutory body, and shareholders elect its members. 

The Board appoints the members of the other committees. However, 
creating a committee does not absolve the Board of its overall 
responsibility and, accordingly, a Board decision (by majority vote) 
overrides any committee’s recommendations.

Each committee has clear Board-approved terms of reference  
which set out its purpose, functions and delegated authority. Each 
committee gives written or oral reports to the Board on its activities 
and the minutes of its meetings. The Board, assisted by the Audit and 
Risk and Social and Ethics Committees, annually reviews the activities 
and functions of the board committees. With Board approval, an 
Executive Director may chair a committee.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee keeps abreast of developments 
affecting the Group’s internal controls, structures and systems. These
developments include financial controls, accounting policies and
controls, and reporting – reporting includes maintaining and 
improving accounting and control systems. The committee ensures 
the independence of the internal audit functions, and it oversees and
assesses the internal and external audit functions.

The Audit and Risk Committee, together with the Risk Management
Committee and ALCO, determines the key risk areas and recommends 
measures to minimise and manage the impact of all risks.

Directors have unrestricted access to any information or documents
stemming from this committee’s deliberations.

The Audit and Risk Committee report is set out on page 68.
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LOANCO
LOANCO keeps abreast of developments relevant to the Group’s loan 
and credit policies, systems, procedures, loan applications and approvals, 
funding requirements and sources and financial covenant requirements. 
It takes due consideration in evaluating the risks attached to 
commercial mortgage and bridging loan applications and whether the 
Group’s levels of risk appetite are met. Where there are risk tolerance 
concerns to commercial mortgage and bridging loan applications, the 
loan application will be referred to the Board for authorisation.

Remuneration Committee
REMCO develops and consistently implements fair remuneration 
policies that align to the Group’s strategy and long-term interests. 
The committee oversees remuneration and ensures that is fair and 
responsible at all levels, and that it attracts, retains and motivates 
exceptional individuals.

The committee must be satisfied that the Group’s HR policies,
procedures and practices meet the principles of best practice,
competitiveness, flexibility, creativity and innovation, and equity
and fairness.

Social and Ethics Committee
The TUHF Board guards the Group’s ethics and values. The Social 
and Ethics Committee, a statutory committee as provided in the 
Companies Act, monitors the Group’s corporate citizenship status.
King IVTM requires the Social and Ethics Committee to enhance its
focus on corporate governance.

Jobs Fund Committee
The initial function of the Jobs Fund Committee is to make debt 
capital available to entrepreneurs through grants received from 

National Treasury for the purpose of creating permanent, as well 
as short-term and temporary jobs, during both the construction/
refurbishment and management phase of developments.  
The committee ensures all terms and condition of the grants  
are adhered to and achieved.

The committee gives detailed reports on project closures to National
Treasury covering self-evaluation, project close-out audits, and
summative evaluation reports – summative evaluation reports are
independent assessments carried out immediately after completing a
project. The committee continually monitors the project’s 
sustainability for two years after its completion. 

As the Jobs Fund concept was a Greenfield Project, it had no historical
data, and National Treasury appreciated and embraced TUHF’s 
research into the matter. 

The Jobs Fund Committee oversees the development impact unit
(see below) which develops specific economic and social outcomes.

Development Impact Unit
The development impact unit is neither a Board nor a management
committee – it is an operating division of TUHF. Due to its diverse 
responsibilities, the development impact unit is accountable to a 
number of Board and management committees as well as to TUHF 
NPC for uMaStandi and Intuthuko Equity Fund’s operations and 
outputs.

Its performance areas are:

•   Greening policy

 •  Luhlaza - The word that means green or blue in Xhosa, Zulu 
and Swati (Nguni languages). Both colours represented by 
Luhlaza are appropriate for TUHF’s brand and the intention of 
the programme. This logo will represent the initiative

•  The projects that are part of the initiative must meet the 
standard below;

Inner City: Urban Management and 
Regeneration 
•  Urban Management

  DIU continues to support urban management initiatives across 
the Inner City and surrounds with a direct interest in the growth 
of The Yeoville CID, the incubation of a CID in Windsor (with 
Indluplace & Arrowhead) and in Jeppe in the near future.  
 
These interventions are continuing to progress well. Work with 
the CID Forum and all other urban management initiatives 
is ongoing. TUHF are founding members of the East Village 
Precinct initiative to consolidate urban management & precinct 
development in the South Eastern part of the Inner City.

•  Sectional Title Rehabilitation Pilot Programme

  DIU have managed to secure initial funding for the Sectional 
Title Rehabilitation Programme provided by the JDA, TUHF, FNB, 
Nedbank and ABSA. Work on Phase One is currently in progress. 
The intention is to rehabilitate three dysfunctional sectional 
title buildings as a Pilot to test the appetite for ownership in the 
Inner City.

Remuneration report is set out on page 72

TARGETS

Utility 
item

Baseline usage % Savings to 
target (existing 

buildings/
upgrades)

% Savings 
to target 

(new builds/
conversions)

Energy 400 – 800 kWh/
unit per month

30% 25%

Water 8 to 15 Kl/unit per 
month

30% 30%

Carbon 396 – 792 kGCO2/
unit/month

30% 25%

TUHF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE CONTINUED
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•  Near City Neighbourhoods, infill developments and increasing 
density

  In addition to the new development work on Near City 
Neighbourhoods and the Corridors previously reported, DIU is 
promoting new areas of finance and development: 

 •  Understanding the housing demand and supply in Near City 
Neighbourhoods, the Eastern Gateway, Western & Southern 
neighbourhoods. 

 •  Working with Joburg Property Company to promote infill 
development and density opportunities around the Executive 
Mayor’s land and building release programme. 

 •  DIU ran a seminar in collaboration with JPOMA and the JICP 
to introduce the specifications and opportunities around the 
new Inclusionary Housing Policy, to existing & new clients / 
developers. Speakers were from City of Johannesburg, SHRA, 
TUHF, FNB, Savage & Dodd and Michael Hart Architects. We 
received exceptionally positive feedback following the event. 

Partnership with the City of 
Johannesburg’s Department of 
Economic Development: 
We are partnering with the Department of Economic Development 
at the City’s Opportunity Centres regarding capacity and training for 
future uMaStandi and Intuthuko clients.  

Sectional Title Rehabilitation Pilot 
Programme: 
DIU have managed to secure initial funding for the Sectional Title 
Rehabilitation Programme provided by the JDA, TUHF, FNB, Nedbank 
and ABSA. Work on Phase 1 is currently in progress. 

The intention is to rehabilitate three dysfunctional sectional title 
buildings as a Pilot to test the appetite for ownership in the Inner 

ALCO
ALCO identifies the significant risks facing the Group regarding 
asset and liability management. It focuses on treasury risk covering 
liquidity, funding, interest rate risks, asset/liability mismatch, 
economical capital and market risks and other related risks. The 
committee has held workshops to determine its risk policy and terms 
of reference, but its scope and objectives are a work in progress. The 
committee has identified and interrogated key steps in putting the 
framework together. The committee form an essential part of the 
Group’s governance structure and risk management function.

 

Management committees

EXCO 
EXCO is responsible for the day-to-day activities of the Group and 
oversees various management committees. Committee members 
assist the CEO and CFO to develop and implement the Board-
approved strategies, operational plans, policies, procedures and 
budgets and to deal with all operational matters affecting the Group. 

LOANCO 
LOANCO establishes the principles of MANCO clearly setting out its 
purpose and functions.

Committee members are required to keep up to date on relevant 
matters relating to loan and credit policies, systems, and procedures, 
loan applications and approvals, funding requirements and sources 
and financial covenant requirements.

LOANCO and Group directors have unrestricted access to information 
and documents from MANCO’s deliberations.

Governance Matters

GOVERNANCE OF RISK
The Audit and Risk Committee, ALCO and Risk Management 
Committee identify, assess, measure and manage those key risks that 
arise from the Group’s business activities. To this end, the committees 
continually review risks and establish mitigating internal controls. 
TUHF Ltd is ultimately responsible for managing risk in the Group and 
must implement a risk awareness culture. 

Effective risk management is key to the Group’s success. Our business 
strategy depends on our ability to take calculated risks without 
compromising stakeholders’ interests. We are mindful of the need for 
a healthy balance between performance and acceptable risk levels.
The Group’s governance framework provides the risk management 
framework which ensures effective and ongoing risk assessments and 
processes to anticipate unpredictable risks. The framework further 
oversees financial reporting risks, internal financial control risks, 
market risks, IT risks, reputational risks and business risks including 
money laundering and compliance with industry codes, controls and 
regulatory requirements.

Although the Audit and Risk Committee is accountable to the Boards, 
each employee is responsible for risk management. Employees at 
all levels manage risks as part of their daily operations, and, each 
quarter, the risk register is updated and submitted to the Audit and 
Risk Committee. The committee reviews and submits the risk register 
to the TUHF Board with comments and recommendations. The Audit 
and Risk Committee together with the internal auditors, KPMG, 
maintain a rolling three-year internal audit plan based on various 
executive functions.

The Committee continued with the assessment, monitoring and 
management of risks covering general risk, market, treasury and IT. It 
further continued developing the systematic impairment model using 
the credit history of loan advance and best practice to meet IFRS 9 
requirements. 

For the roles and responsibilities of ALCO, see page 54.

For the roles and responsibilities of the MANCO see page 56.
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The committee approved a regulatory compliance framework tabled 
by John Symington, an external compliance expert.

Planned areas of future focus in TUHF Risk Management include;
• Regulatory compliance and IT Reporting
•  Improvements to the risk dashBoard reporting for organisational 

risk, treasury risk and IT
•  Implement improvements to the business processes and other 

control weaknesses
•  Monitor and report on any reportable incidences arising from the 

KPMG Hotline
•  Improve and update governance framework and charter 

documents
• Improve the financial budgeting process

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the appropriate 
risk management processes, and the adopted methodology are 
appropriate, effective and sustainable.

Information and Technology 
Governance
The Risk Committee is responsible for all information and technology 
management and they report to the Audit and Risk Committee. 
Hambisana Technologies are an independent external service provider 
and support the Group’s IT requirements including hardware and 
software requirements, data and project management, system 
monitoring and logging. P Boulle, an executive member of Hambisana 
also serves as TUHF Chief Information Officer. In-house expertise is 
provided for system support and the role of business analyst.

The Group developed an industry-leading, bespoke Loan Cycle 
Management System (LCMS) and accounts receivable module. 
The loan proposal for credit approval is purely system-generated, 
based on data captured. LCMS uses workflows to manage processes 
and includes loan proposal, default management and portfolio 
management capabilities. Reporting is continually improved to meet 
management requirements and a data warehouse has been 

developed for historic reports. The system’s development is ongoing. 
Improvements are introduced to meet any new requirements and 
optimise system processes and other enhancements while ensuring 
the necessary controls are in place and compliance is maintained.

The system ensures information is readily available so that the Group 
continues to meet reporting and governance requirements and 
enhances its product offering. Group-wide accountable and principled 
business practices promote the ethical behaviour and quick decision 
making among the Boards, managers and employees.

The Group uses Kyriba treasury management system from 
TreasuryONE to improve cash and liquidity reporting and forecasting. 
The system is integrated with LCMS, and the importing of assets 
information is automated. The reports generated by the treasury 
management system are used by the ALCO. 

System security is always on the agenda, the Group installed new 
firewalls at all the branches and successfully passed a security audit.
To reduce risks associated with the dependency on the IT 
infrastructure, the Group has an offsite disaster recovery system and 
has this independently audited. An IT Management Committee assists 
in monitoring the IT risks, IT infrastructure, compliance and alignment 
of IT with the business strategy. All stakeholders are represented 
in the IT user committee which reports to the IT Management 
Committee. IT reports are included in the Board packs to keep the 
Board updated on IT developments. IT risks are monitored against a 
risk matrix and reported to the Risk Management Committee.

The initial weakness in the testing of the disaster recovery was 
remedied and the IT Policy and the Disaster Recovery Process was 
updated during the year.

Planned focus areas include
•  Reviewing the business architecture and alignment of the IT 

processes. 
•  We are adding additional data points to improve our ability to 

extract information to meet the requirements of our funders and 
funding structures. 

We have developed and IFRS 9 model and the integration of this into 
our bespoke LCMS system is under development. 

Regulatory Compliance
The Audit and Risk Committee and the Risk Management Committee 
identify, assess, measure and manage key compliance risks that arise 
from the Group’s applicable laws, binding and non-binding rules, 
codes and standards to ensure that TUHF is a responsible corporate 
citizen.

A specialist outsourced compliance consultant conducts a critical and 
objective analysis of the Group’s compliance policies and processes. 
The internal auditors review our internal compliance controls. 

The Group’s Governance Framework provides the compliance 
management framework. This framework ensures effective, ongoing 
compliance assessments and processes to anticipate unpredictable 
compliance risks.

KPMG was appointed during the financial year to assess the Group’s 
FICA readiness. Management developed a FICA Risk Management and 
Compliance Programme that was adopted by the Board. 

An internal compliance resource was employed during the financial 
year to ensure effective management of compliance and will report to 
the Risk Committee and the Audit and Risk Committee.

There were no material or repeated regulatory penalties, sanctions or 
fines for contraventions of, or non-compliance with statutory obligations, 
imposed on the company and to any employees of the Group.

TUHF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE CONTINUED
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Planned focus areas include;
•  Monitoring of the effective implementation of the FICA RMCP
•   Development of tools to ensure effective compliance reporting 

and management by the Audit and Risk Committee
•  Drafting effective Compliance Risk matrices

Governance: Stakeholder 
Engagement
TUHF’s business is built around creating shared values in the 
areas we operate in and realising opportunities that drive impact 
through scale, innovation and collaboration. We are committed 
to recognising and unearthing potential in inner cities, buildings, 
people and creating value for all our stakeholders in the areas of 
interest. 

The Board exercises ongoing oversight of stakeholder relationship 
management, but responsibility for implementation and execution 
of effective stakeholder relationship management has been 
delegated by the Board to the Social and Ethics Committee and 
to management. 

The Committee reviewed the Stakeholder Engagement Policy and 
recommended it for approval to the Board. 

The Group’s main stakeholders are clients, employees, funders, inner 
city communities, regulators and government and municipalities. 
TUHF communicates honestly and transparently to enable 
stakeholders to assess the Group’s economic value and prospects.
The Committee recommended, as key focus areas for the 
2020 financial year, that TUHF management should constantly 
get qualitative feedback from clients on how they view our 
engagement. TUHF will focus more on interaction with funders 
to recognises their concerns and improve responsiveness to such 
concerns and focus on the value proposition for each stakeholder.
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MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

TUHF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE CONTINUED

Meeting Number of 
meetings

Samson
Moraba

Paul
Jackson

Cas 
Coovadia

Robert 
Emslie

Taffy 
Adler

Mandu
Mamatela

James
Howard

Jill
Strelitz

Ilona
Roodt

Shareholders' AGM TUHF Holdings 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1  - 1

Shareholders' Special GM TUHF Holdings 1 1 1 1  - 1 1 1 1 1 X 1

Shareholders' AGM - TUHF NPC 1 1 1 1 - 1 1  - 1 1  -  - 

ALCO 3  - 1 3 3  - 1  -  - 1  -  - 

Audit and Risk Committee 3 1 3 2 2  - 3  -  - 3  -  - 

TUHF Holdings Board 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 1 3

TUHF NPC Board 1 1 1 1  - 1 1  - 1 1 X  - 

Jobs Fund Committee 2  - 2 2 1  - 2  -  - 2  -  - 

LOANCO 3  - 3 3 3 3  - -  - 3  -  - 

REMCO 2 1 2 1 2  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

TUHF Equity 1  - 1 1 1 1  -  -  - 1  -  - 

Social and Ethics Committee 1  - 1  -  -  -  -  X 1 1  -  - 

X Did not attend
- Not a member of this committee

Rubeena
Solomon

Luthando
Vutula
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Membership and meetings
The Audit and Risk Committee is an independent statutory committee 
and consists of four Non-executive Directors. Its members are:
• Robert Emslie – Chairperson
•  Cas Coovadia
• Mandu Mamatela
• Samson Moraba – Resigned 27 July 2018

The committee has the expertise and experience to properly execute 
its duties and responsibilities. The CEO, CFO, senior management and 
representatives from the external and internal auditors attend all 
meetings by invitation. Both external and internal auditors present 
formal reports to the committee. The committee also invites, at its 
discretion, professional advisors whose input may be required. Board 
members have the right of attendance.

The committee meets at least three times a year or at the request of 
the Chairperson, any member of the committee, the Boards, or the 
internal or external auditor.

During the year, the committee held three meetings and one special 
meeting. The members are satisfied that they have fulfilled all 
their functions as prescribed by the Companies Act, the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the committee terms of reference and the governance 
framework policy.

Duties and responsibilities
The committee’s duties and responsibilities are set out in the audit 
and risk charter approved by the TUHF Board, and they are reviewed 
annually, as well as in terms of the Companies Act. The committee 
has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter. The 

committee’s objectives are to assist the Group’s Boards in discharging 
their fiduciary and corporate governance responsibilities with regard to:

• The safeguarding of Group assets
•  The operation of adequate systems and controls, including 

business rescue plans
•  The adequacy and effectiveness of financial, compliance and IT-

related matters
•  Ensuring that the accounting policies are consistent, appropriate 

and in compliance with IFRS
• The Group’s compliance with the corporate governance practices
• The audit process and approval of non-audit services
• Preparation of statutory financial reporting and statements
•  Developing and sustaining the Group’s compliance framework and 

process
• Preparation of sustainability information
•  Prioritising and ranking risks facing the Group and understanding 

their causes and consequences.

In determining the key risk areas facing the Group, the committee is 
assisted by a Risk Management Committee, chaired by the CFO and 
comprising senior management. The Assets and Liabilities Committee, 
chaired by an Independent Non-executive director, to review and 
recommend strategy on the asset side of the statement of financial 
position and manage the liquidity and funding position, interest rate 
risk, asset and liability mismatches, economic capital and market risks.

Activities
During the financial year, the committee examined the following 
matters:
•  The external auditors’ report for the 2019 financial year-end, was 

discussed in September 2018.

•  The internal auditors’ report, covering the following reviews that 
were carried out terms of the approved internal audit plan for the 
year ended March 2019:

 - IT Disaster Recovery
 - Liquidity and Market Risk Management 
 - The follow up on Portfolio management review
 - The follow up on Cyber and credit risks reviews
•  Financial discipline review resulting in recommendations for the 

improvement of areas that could enhance the overall efficiency 
and effectiveness of the Group’s internal financial controls

•  The Committee received the Permitted Investments report as 
approved by ALCO and proposed that the company increase 
its holding term deposits including money market accounts to 
increase the interest earned

•  The company financial control environment was assessed and the 
committee was satisfied that the controls were in place and could 
be relied on

•  Considered a Report in respect of IFRS 9 Impairment Model and 
continued and approved a model to ensure that financial accounts 
are fully compliant

•  Reviewing this Integrated Annual Report and recommending it to 
the Board for approval.

In discharging its responsibilities during the year, the committee has 
not found or become aware of any material failures, irregularities 
or misstatements affecting the Group’s internal controls, structures 
and systems. This includes financial controls, accounting policies 
and controls, and reporting, incorporating the maintenance and 
improvement of accounting and control systems. There have been 
no material regulatory penalties, sanctions or fines for contravening, 
or non-compliance with statutory obligations. No compliance 
inspections by environmental regulators have been undertaken.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORTAUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit and Risk Committee (the committee) is pleased to present its report to the members of the Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC (TUHF21) and the shareholders  
of TUHF Holdings Limited (TUHF Holdings) and TUHF Limited (TUHF) as required in terms of section 94(7) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 (Companies Act).
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Independence of the external auditor
The committee is satisfied with the quality, effectiveness, 
independence and objectivity of PwC as the external auditors and 
Gino Fraser as the designated auditor. PwC was appointed in 2012 
as the company auditors. Stefan Beyers was appointed in 2012 as 
Audit partner and there was rotation in 2017 and Gino Fraser was 
appointed as the lead audit partner with Johannes Grosskopf for JSE 
sign off. Gino Fraser received the JSE accreditation in 2018 and then 
took over as lead partner. The committee has approved PwC’s terms 
of engagement and the fees. 

During the 2019 AGM for the shareholders, the Committee will 
propose that PwC and Gino Fraser be the Group auditors for the 2020 
financial year. This appointment will comply with the Companies Act.

Internal auditors
The committee has evaluated the role, independence and effectiveness 
of the internal auditor, KPMG, and is satisfied that their performance 
meets the requirements of the Group’s risk management system.

Statutory reporting
The committee has evaluated the consolidated Annual Financial 
Statements of TUHF21, TUHF Holdings and TUHF Ltd for the year 
ended 31 March 2019. Based on the information it has received, the 
committee is of the opinion that these companies fully comply with 
the requirements of the Companies Act, IFRS, the SAICA Financial 
Reporting Guides and all other applicable legislation.

Internal financial functions
The Boards of the Group have delegated the responsibility for 
overseeing the financial reporting to the committee. The committee 
has taken responsibility for the governance of financial reporting, 
internal and external audits, and internal controls and policies. 
The requirements of the competency, skills and resources of the 
Group’s finance function have been assessed, and the committee is 
satisfied that the finance function requirements are adequate and 
appropriate. The committee is satisfied that the internal controls 
of the Group operated effectively during the year. The committee 
also provides reasonable assurance that the financial records for the 
preparation of the Annual Financial Statements can be relied upon.

CFO
The committee has, under review, affirmed that Ilona Roodt has the 
expertise and experience to undertake the duties and responsibilities of 
the CFO.

Company Secretary
The committee has satisfied itself that the Company Secretary, Kilgetty 
Statutory Services (Proprietary) Limited and its representative, Matthew 
Wray, have the required competency, qualifications and experience, and 
maintain an arm’s-length relationship with the Board at all times.

Recommendation of the Annual 
Financial Statements and Integrated 
Annual Report
The committee has fulfilled its oversight role regarding the reporting 
process for the Annual Financial Statements and the Integrated 
Annual Report and, being satisfied with the integrity of these reports, 
recommends that the Boards of directors approve them.

Robert Emslie
Chairperson
9 September 2019



TUHF70

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT

The terms of reference task the committee to monitor the Group’s 
activities with regard to:
• Social and economic development, including:
 -  The United Nations Global Compact Principles and Sustainable 

Development Goals
 -  The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development 

regarding the prevention of corruption
 - The International Labour Organisation’s decent work agenda
 - The Employment Equity Act
 - The Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act
 - The Consumer Protection Act
 -  Those regulatory acts and industrial charters relevant to the 

Group’s business
• Good corporate citizenship, including:
 - Promotion of equality
 - Fair and non-discriminatory practices
 - Prevention of corruption
 - Contribution to the development of communities
 - Jobs creation
 - Consumer relationships
 - Compliance with consumer protection laws
 - Record of donations
 - Charitable giving
•  Health and safety for employees and the public, including the 

impact of the Group’s activities
•  The Group’s employment relationships and its contribution to 

the training and educational development of its employees, 
performance evaluations, Board effectiveness and adherence to the 
its Code of Conduct

•  The environment, including greening and waste management.

King IVTM has made the Social and Ethics Committee more relevant 
by focusing on ethical governance. King IVTM recommends that the 

committee upholds, monitors and reports on organisational ethics, 
responsible corporate citizenship, development and stakeholder 
inclusivity beyond mere compliance and towards value creation.

Membership
The committee comprises the following members:
• Jill Strelitz (Chairperson)
• James Howard – appointed on 27 July 2018
• Ilona Roodt 

Senior management and the external HR consultant attend all 
meetings by invitation.

During the 2019 financial year, the committee held one meeting.
The committee Chairperson attends the AGM to answer any 
questions that shareholders may have.

Activities
Work plan of the committee which clarifies the important principles 
that the Group adheres to and summarises how the various activities 
are handled without issues being overlooked, was approved. A 
monitoring report shall be presented at every committee meeting to 
ensure that the committee activities are aligned to the work plan.

The committee:
•  Approved the amended terms of reference aligned in terms of the 

King IVTM

• Approved the Corporate Social Investment Policy
•  Reviewed the B-BBEE compliance by the company and 

recommended that management continue to work on getting an 

accreditation.
•  Recommended the review of governance documents that 

include the governance Framework, the Board Charter and Board 
Evaluations to align them with the King IVTM.

•  Has held King IVTM workshops for management and directors. The 
committee is well aware that according to King IVTM, it is responsible 
for assisting and advising the Boards in implementing recommended 
practices involving ethical leadership and effective leadership

•  Improved awareness and visibility of the whistleblowing policy 
and fraud hotline through facilitating presentations for clients and 
employees at TUHF Talks.

Key areas of focus for the 2019 
financial year
The committee will:
•  Complete the 2020 work plan, clearly setting out specific social 

and ethics matters for which the Board and management 
committees are responsible

•  Ensure regular reports on social and ethics matters from Board and 
management committees – this is critical to enable the committee 
to govern and manage its corporate citizenship responsibilities

•  Update its terms of reference to conform with King IVTM 
recommended practices where applicable

• Implementation of the CSI Policy
•  Finalise the training plan for clients and employees regarding 

greening options
• Evaluate Board performance
•  Refine the Group’s role in private urban management and 

neighbourhood-area-based developments with city improvement 
district programmes

The Social and Ethics Committee (the committee) is pleased to present its report to the members of the Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC (TUHF21) and the shareholders 
of TUHF Holdings Limited (TUHF Holdings) and TUHF Limited (TUHF). The committee is a statutory committee of TUHF to which is assigned the statutory duties as required 
by section 72(4) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended (Companies Act) (read in conjunction with Regulation 43 of the Companies Regulations, 2011) together 
with such other duties assigned to it by the Boards of TUHF and its holding and subsidiary companies.
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• Develop the programme to grow new landlords
•  Maintain the agreement with the Johannesburg Development 

Agency, committing each party to work together on various 
urban renewal and housing delivery programmes within the 
Johannesburg inner city.

• Achieving a compliance status as regards to our B-BBEE  
    scorecard under the generic financial charter scorecard
• Ongoing improvements to the Committee’s Work plan 
    and Monitoring Reporting
• Monitoring of the Luhlaza Greening Project and    
    projects that meet these requirements

Conclusion
The roles, functions and responsibilities of the Social and Ethics 
Committee covers non-financial activities which have a broad 
scope. To contribute to the Group’s success and sustainability, 
committee members are required to clearly understand the terms 
of reference. To this end, the committee will rely on executive 
management’s reporting systems and processes to produce the 
information the members require to discharge their duties.

Jill Strelitz
Chairperson
9 September 2019
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PART 1 - BACKGROUND STATEMENT
Our Remuneration Philosophy 
In line with our strategy, the remuneration philosophy and policies 
recognise the importance of our people in the continued growth and 
sustainability of the Group and its overall performance.
TUHF’s remuneration philosophy includes the principle of rewarding 
individuals in direct proportion to their contribution towards their 
specific job objectives, and the degree to which they meet overall 
organisational goals. 

A TUHF performance management system is used to monitor 
and assess performance. The system operates on the basis of the 
implementation of the balanced scorecard approach. Performance 
contracts are developed annually to align with the overall strategy 
and organisational balanced scorecard.

Internal and External Factors 
Influencing Remuneration
The company ensures that there is internal pay parity throughout 
the Group and also develops a wage curve annually that is informed 
by market related data.  This ensures that the company remunerates 
in line with the market which assists in ensuring the retention of 
employees and sustainability within the Group. 

Although the wage curve is considered in salary increases, such increases 
are mainly informed by performance, affordability and the market.

Shareholder Voting on the 
Remuneration Policy and the 
Implementation Report
In line with the King IVTM, the Board will table the Remuneration 
policy and the implementation report for a non-binding advisory vote 
by the shareholders at the annual general meetings. In the event that 
either the policy or the implementation report, or both are voted 
against by 25% or more of the votes exercised, TUHF, in its voting 
results announcements following the AGM, will issue an invitation to 
engage in a dialogue.

REMCO’s key focus areas for the year 
were:
• The leadership succession plan with specific reference to the CEO    
    and CFO positions that was then tabled at Board for noting
• Evaluation and review of the CEO’s performance
•  Considering and reviewing changes to the employee condition share 

plan (“CSP”) which will be finalised during the 2020 financial year.

PwC conducted an independent review on the CSP in May 2017.  This 
review included the structuring of the CSP and aligning it with best 
market practice and identifying possible areas for enhancement. The 
Committee is currently in the process of reviewing and implementing 
the recommendations and these findings will be submitted to the 
TUHF Board for approval the identified employees are advised. 

It has been agreed that the Rules of the CSP need to be amended, 
limiting the grant of conditional awards to executive directors, senior 
management and strategic line of sight staff. The participation of all 
employees and cash awards made in the first CSP have been settled 
and cancelled.

Independent Consultants
The Committee had no independent consultants during the financial year.

In line with the REMCO’s terms of reference, remuneration 
policy, best practises and feedback received from stakeholders, 
REMCO continually evaluates the remuneration policy. REMCO 
and management review employee remuneration and benefits 
continuously taking into account fairness, reasonability and key 
management remuneration.  A key component of the policy is the 
management of remuneration parity and fairness.  
REMCO believes that the remuneration policy supports the short and 
long term strategy of the company and that the policy achieved its 
stated objectives.

PART 2 - OVERVIEW OF THE 
REMUNERATION POLICY 
REMCO
The duties and responsibilities regarding remuneration decisions have 
been delegated to the REMCO by the Board. The committee is guided 
by the Remuneration Policy, the REMCO’s terms of reference and the HR 
Policy and Procedure manual. These policies and the terms of reference 
define the objectives of the committee and the required operating 
procedure, as well as the committee’s responsibilities and functions.

Therefore, the committee was established to:
• Attract, motivate, reward and retain human capital
• Ensure that remuneration policies support the strategic goals 
    of the Group
• Maximise individual qualities and potential and acknowledge 
    and reward performance and skill
• Promote an ethical culture and responsible corporate citizenship
• Comply with regulatory requirements and governance

The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee (REMCO), is responsible for setting the direction for the Group with regards to remuneration and remuneration reporting. 
This report has three parts, Part 1 is the background statement which provides feedback on factors that influence the remuneration policy and the future focus areas. Part 2 is 
the overview of the Remuneration Policy, and Part 3 is the illustration of the implementation of the remuneration policy over the financial year.

REMUNERATION REPORT
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The committee assists the Boards in discharging their duties and, 
therefore, oversees, reviews and recommends objectives relating to:
• Recognising that individual strengths contribute towards 
    a successful organisation
• Ensuring that all employees are fairly and equitably rewarded 
    and understand how salaries are determined
• Fairly and responsibly rewarding management
• Ensuring that Executive and Non-executive directors’ remuneration 
    aligns with best practice and governance principles, and with the 
    benchmark set by companies of similar size and standing
• Ensuring, as far as possible, that people with the required skills 
    are recruited
• Creating a strong, performance-orientated environment
• Ensuring that remuneration packages, including benefits, 
    are competitive with the market and similar organisations, 
    and that overall market trends and practices are considered 
    and reviewed regularly
• The choice and structuring of employer share schemes.
• HR policies and procedures
• Reviewing what is expected of employees

Remuneration Policy Objectives 
 
Recognising that individual strengths contribute towards successful 
organisations, TUHF is committed to the principle of a flat and lean 
organisational structure, which maximises individual qualities and 
potential and acknowledges and rewards performance and skill. 
Its remuneration objectives are to:  
• Ensure that all staff are fairly and equitably rewarded, according  
    to a systematic set of principles.
• Ensure that all staff understand the way in which salaries are  
 determined.
• Ensure that TUHF is able to attract and retain skilled resources.
• Ensure that remuneration packages are competitive with the
    market and similar organisations, and that overall market trends 
    and practices are considered and reviewed on a regular basis in line  
    with the organisational strategy and risk profile
• Recognise and reward individual contribution in overall  

    organisational success within the team approach
• Ensure that remuneration packages are structured with 
    maximum individual flexibility, and as much tax efficiency as   
    current legislation allows
• Ensure that employees operate as good corporate citizens

Framework for Performance 
Assessment
REMCO monitors and assesses the performance of the executive 
directors. Employee performance for all employees during the year 
is assessed using the TUHF performance management system. The 
system operates on the basis of the implementation of the balanced 
scorecard approach. Performance contracts are developed annually to 
align with the overall strategy and organisational balanced scorecard. 

Within the system, job profiles are created, agreed to by the job 
incumbent, and performance is assessed and monitored monthly 
through one-on-one discussions between the individual employee 
and manager. Employee performance is reviewed and evaluated three 
times a year. These reviews inform the trimester incentives.

The overall performance rating determines the participation in the 
annual bonus awarded by the committee. The resulting overall rating 
will also inform the annual salary review. The key principles of the 
incentive philosophy capture and embody the Group’s remuneration 
policy. The primary objectives of these key principles are that:
• Incentives are based on actual, measurable performance 
    in the Group
• Incentives for performance are holistic and do not only incentivise  
    volume and quantitative measures and, therefore, include 

qualitative measures
• Teams and individuals are rewarded frequently to support 
    performance
• The system is closely aligned to, and integrated with, the balanced 
    scorecard and overall performance management
• The Group strongly incentivises performance

In order to achieve the objectives of the incentive policy, the 
committee creates a budgeted incentive pool each year. The incentive 
pool has two clear components, comprising a fixed portion that is 
allocated to the individual incentives, and a variable portion that is 
allocated to the team-based award. 

Incentive award is determined as a performance percentage against 
the performance contract signed by the employee at the beginning  
of the financial year. The award is paid in three tranches over the year. 
In establishing the team-based award, the committee determines 
the overall performance of the Group against the corporate balanced 
scorecard. This award is a percentage of the current salary bill, of 
which 40% is allocated as the team-based component of the award 
and 60% is allocated as an incentive determined by the employee’s 
performance rating achieved at the end of the financial year.

TUHF Holdings Conditional Share 
Plan (CSP) 
The CSP was originally established to recognise services rendered, 
encouraging long-term value creation, and incentivising current and 
prospective employees. All employees participated in this plan. 
This has been changed under the new CSP. TUHF management is 
required to make recommendations to the committee as to which 
employees should be incentivised through the award of grants. These 
recommendations will be reviewed by the committee and submitted to 
the TUHF Board for approval before the selected employees are advised.

The grants of conditional awards that are made to the selected 
employees shall vest in the shares awarded after a performance period 
of five years commencing on the date of the grant award. These grants 
are subject to the performance conditions being achieved. 
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Status of the CSP
The last award grants were made in April 2013, the three-year 
performance period ended April 2016 and the final vesting of shares 
was made in April 2018. For the transactions and share balances 
regarding the CSP, see the directors’ report on page 79.

Proposed changes to the CSP
It has been agreed that the Rules of the CSP need to be amended 
limiting the grant of conditional awards to executive directors, 
senior management and strategic line of sight employees only. 
The participation of all employees as well as the settlement of 
conditional awards in cash therefore will be cancelled.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued 
by the TUHF Holdings Limited under the CSP shall not exceed 10% 
of the issued Shares from time to time. The five-year performance 
period together with the three year staggered vesting will be 
retained. However, cliff vesting will be allowed. The Rules will allow 
settlement either by the issue of shares in TUHF Holdings Limited or 
the use of existing shares held in treasury by TUHF Ltd. On cessation 
of employment a CSP shareholder may only sell his/her shares to 
TUHF Ltd at a value to be determined with the finalisation of the CSP 
Rules.

All other terms of the Rules covering the operation of the CSP, 
individual limits, granting of conditional awards, vesting, reviewing of 
performance will remained unchanged. 

Executive Directors
TUHF executive directors do not have a fixed term contract but are 
employed in terms of a standard contract of employment. The notice 
period for termination of service is a standard a month’s notice and 
there are approved succession plans in place.

Normal retirement age ranges from 60 to 65 years. No additional 

payments are made to executive directors upon termination of 
employment, apart from those required in terms of the labour laws 
and they do not receive any sign on bonuses.

REMCO, determines Executive Directors’ remuneration and report 
to the Board. Executive Directors’ remuneration is aligned to 
measurable performance criteria which are aligned with the strategy 
and objectives of the Group. The appropriateness of the executive 
remuneration is informed by benchmarking remuneration for the 
CEO and the CFO against executives in similar sized organisations. 

Market related data is sourced from the Deloitte Executive Salary 
Survey.  Remuneration is reviewed both in terms of guaranteed 
remuneration and total remuneration including incentives.  Annual 
increases and incentive bonuses for Executives are directly informed 
by performance both at an individual and an organisational level.  
This ensures that remuneration and incentive awards are directly 
influenced and aligned to performance.  

Executive Directors are paid a short-term incentive designed to 
reward performance. 

Non-executive Directors
Non-executive Directors do not receive short or long-term incentives, 
they are paid an annual fee for their services. The fees that they are 
paid are in relation to attendance fees for each Board or committee 
meeting they attend, including a fee for each round robin event they 
are required to act in other than a meeting. These fees are reviewed 
and decided on by REMCO annually, and reported to the Board 
subject to a special resolution approved by the shareholders of TUHF.

The quarterly payment of the basic Non-executive directors’ fee is 
subject to the director attending 60% of the meetings convened in 
the quarter for which payment is made. Non-executive Directors are 
entitled to subsistence and travel allowances at the rates indicated 
in the financial management and administration manual. Any non-
director appointed to a Board committee is remunerated on the same 
basis as a Non-executive director. Alternate directors will not be paid 

attendance fees but are entitled to subsistence and travel allowances.
During the year, no outside remuneration consultant was employed.  
Remuneration levels were referenced with market related information 
that is available.  

Planned focus area for the  
REMCO during the 2020 financial 
year include;
• Approval and implementation of the updated CSP.
• Achievement of the TUHF Group long term indicators

The committee is satisfied that it was independent and objective 
in carrying out its mandate. The committee is also satisfied that 
it achieved the primary objectives of the key principles of the 
remuneration.

REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CASH COMPONENT BONUS PROVIDENT FUND OTHER TOTAL

IL Roodt 1 766 014 900 000 302 148 103 586 3 071 748

PGN Jackson 2 646 464 3 250 000 487 322 540 426 6 924 212

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Apr-18 Jul-18 Oct-18 Dec-18 TOTAL

TM Adler 83 250 68 850 89 656 116 450 358 206

JF Howard 42 750 45 650 56 050 56 050 200 500

RR Emslie 109 250 107 250 89 650 154 850 461 000

JS Strelitz 52 500 59 650 76 850 56 050 245 050

P Magula* 33 000 45 650 78 650

R Solomon 35 250 35 250 70 500

L Vutula 68 856 56 050 124 906

SS Moraba 279 300 75 250 354 550

JK Mamatela 186 700 90 850 277 550

C Coovadia 99 750 89 650 131 650 151 250 472 300

2 643 212

PART 3 - IMPLEMENTATION REPORT
This part of the report provides insight into the implementation of our remuneration policy during the year ended 31 March 2019. It details the remuneration 
paid to both executive and non-executive directors.

*P Magula represented PIC as a shareholder of the company until March 2018. The fees relate to prior year meetings.
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The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 
to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the 
content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related 
financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility 
to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the financial year and 
the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, 
in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The 
external auditor is engaged to express an independent opinion on the 
annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for 
the system of internal financial control established by the Group 
and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, 
the Board of directors sets standards for internal control aimed 
at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The 
standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within 
a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and 
adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of 
risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Group and all 
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards 
in ensuring the Group’s business is conducted in a manner that in 
all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk 
management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and 
monitoring all known forms of risk across the Group. While operating 
risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and 
ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined 
procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and 
explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may 
be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial statements. 
However, any system of internal financial control can provide 
only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the 
year to 31 March 2020 and, in light of this review and the current 
financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has or had access 
to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

The external auditor is responsible for independently auditing and 
reporting on the Group’s annual financial statements. The annual 
financial statements have been examined by the Group’s external 
auditor and their report is presented on pages 82 and 83.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 84 to 140, which 
have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by 
the Board of directors on 9 September 2019 and were signed on their 
behalf by:

C Coovadia    PGN Jackson

Monday, 9 September 2019

COMPANY SECRETARY’S 
CERTIFICATION

In terms of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, as 
amended, I certify that the Group has lodged with the Commissioner 
all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the 
Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Matthew Wray for and on behalf of Kilgetty   
Statutory Services (Pty) Ltd
Johannesburg

Monday, 9 September 2019
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual 
financial statements of Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC and the 
Group for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

1. Incorporation 
The company was incorporated in South Africa on 18 January 1993 
and obtained its certificate to commence business on the same day. 
 

2. Nature of business
The main business of the company is to invest in subsidiary companies 
whose main business is to provide commercial property finance in 
the form of bridging, equity finance and long term loans secured 
by mortgage collateral and other financial products to finance 
entrepreneurs and landlords for the purchase, construction and 
improvement of property for the purpose of the regeneration of South 
African inner city precincts and surrounding suburbs showing indications 
of decline where the primary objective is the supplying of housing and 
associated commercial property for rental stock.

The Group operates in a very narrow segment of funding. There are 
no clearly distinguishable segments within the business. As such no 
segmental information has been provided.

There have been no material changes to the nature of the Group’s 
business from the prior year.

3. Review of financial results and        
     activities
The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The accounting 
policies have been applied consistently compared to the prior year, 
except for the adoption of new or revised accounting standards as set 
out in note 2.

Full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash 
flows of the Group are set out in these consolidated annual financial 
statements. 

4. Conditional share plan
The Group has a Conditional Share Plan (CSP) from which conditional 
share and cash awards are granted to senior employees and junior 
employees respectively of TUHF Limited. 

The awards granted are subject to a performance management 
system and are measured over a three year performance period. 
The performance conditions of the awards are determined by the 
management of the employing companies (presently only TUHF 
Limited) for each of the performance years by means of a performance 
management assessment (Performance Contract).

For each of the financial years covering the performance period, the 
performance level of the Performance Contract will be reviewed. At 
the end of the performance periods the Performance Contract will 
be finalised. The Group’s Remuneration Committee, together with 
the management of TUHF Limited, will examine the extent to which 
performance conditions have been satisfied and determine the awards 
that employees will be entitled to. The awards decided upon will be 
vested over a period of three years in equal numbers.

5. Directorate 
 
The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

6. Borrowing powers
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, the borrowing powers 
of the Group are unlimited. However all borrowings by the Group 
are subject to Board approval as required by the Board delegation of 
authority. 
 

7. Special resolutions
No special resolutions, the nature of which might be significant to the 
shareholder in their appreciation of the state of affairs of the Group were 
made by the Group or any of its subsidiaries during the period covered 
by this report. 
 

8. Events after the reporting period  
The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred 
after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

2018

Conditional awards vested 8 747 569 434

Conditional awards purchased 43 454 228 690

As at 31 March
Total shares vested 2 710 176 2 744 883

Treasury shares held by TUHF Limited 1 955 747 1 912 288

Total invested awards - 8 747

Share based payment liability (Rands) - 15 482

Abbreviation  Full name  Changes

SS Moraba Non-executive 

TM Adler  Non-executive 

C Coovadia Non-executive 

PGN Jackson Executive 

JK Mamatela Non-executive 

JS Strelitz  Non-executive 

IL Roodt  Executive 

LN Netshitenzhe Executive  

During the year under review, the following transactions took place:

Appointed 30 August 2018
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9.  Funding 
 
A revolving three-year warehouse funding facility from Futuregrowth 
Asset Management (Pty) Limited, acting as agent for various lenders, was 
approved to be used over three years. The facility is currently in its third 
year and the repayment of the facility, due in the first quarter of 2020, 
has been negotiated to an increased facility of R400 million. 
 
During the year under review the company secured the following 
funding facilities:

•  R50 million Aluwani Capital Partners
•  R10 million Novo Impact Fund

A securitisation funding structure raising R500 000 000 was 
implemented in December 2018. The R 400 million warehouse facility 
was repaid and redrawn in early 2019.

The liquidity mismatch pertaining to the period up to five years after 
reporting date will be managed by refinancing short term interest 
bearing liabilities to the value of R802 005 237 (2018: R665 568 024). 
Refer to note 9 for the maturity analysis relating to advances.

In calculating the liquidity mismatch, we have assumed that clients 
prepay on average 10% of their loan balance.

10. Going concern
The directors believe that the Group has adequate financial resources 
to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and accordingly 
the consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis. 

The directors have satisfied themselves that the Group is in a sound 
financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing 
facilities to meet its foreseeable cash requirements. The directors 
are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely 
impact the Group. The directors are also not aware of any material 

non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any 
pending changes to legislation which may affect the Group. 

11.  Support programme for social housing 
The Company continues to act as agent for and on behalf of 
the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited and its 
representative in respect of a social housing programme funding in the 
sum of R23.1 million originated from the Commission of the European 
Community.  
 12. Equity funding
Supporting emerging entrepreneurs who qualify for debt support in 
the form of variable interest subordinated loans continues to remain 
one of the principles of the Company’s lending approach. 
 

13. Members’ funds
The Company is a non-profit company and there are no members’ 
funds vested. 
 

14. Members’ guarantee
The Company is without share capital and is incorporated as a non-
profit company (NPC) in terms of the transitional provisions of the 
Companies Act 71 of 2008. 
 
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, each member of the 
Company guarantees to contribute the sum of R1 (one) in the event 
of the Company being wound up. At the reporting date the guarantee 
value amounted to R8 (2018: R8).

15. Subsidiary companies
Information regarding the Company’s interest in companies whose 
business is to provide commercial property finance to entrepreneurs 
and landlords for the purchase of property for the purpose of the 
regeneration of South African inner cities can be found under note 12.

16. Gearing
Borrowing capacity is determined by the directors in terms of the 
Memorandum of Incorporation, from time to time. 
 
Debt capital (interest bearing debt/ interest bearing debt plus capital 
and reserves) of the Group must be 90% or below. For the current year 
debt capital was 84%.

The Company’s subsidiary, TUHF Limited issued listed notes on the

JSE Limited amounting to R 280 million in January 2017. TUHF 
Holdings Limited is the guarantor in this structure. The issued notes 
are secured by loan assets with a book value of R 378 million and an 
underlying collateral value of approximately R 550 million.

The covenants achieved on issue date and at year end:

•  Loan to value ratio of 67.5%
•  Concentration of top 5 assets < 35%
•  Pool and Group debt service coverage ratio 1.1

TUHF Limited reports to investors every six months, in September 
and March of each year. TUHF Limited can substitute assets where 
covenants are not met with other qualifying assets. At the 2019 year 

end no events of default were reported. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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17. Preparation of financial statements
The consolidated financial statements together with the accounting 
policies applied for the year under review were prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa and the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Annual Financial 
Statements were independently compiled by Lutic Mosoane BAP 
(SA) - Accounting and Financial Advisory with Ilona Roodt CA (SA) 
performing the management review. 
 

18. Management agreement
In September 2009 the Company entered into a management 
agreement with TUHF Limited in terms of which TUHF Limited will 
provide management and administrative services necessary, incidental 
and ancillary to satisfy the ongoing commercially reasonable 
requirements for the Company including, but not limited to secretarial 
services, accounting services, banking services, administrative services, 
corporate governance services, social and ethics management, strategy 
planning and reporting services and statutory reporting services.

        

The Board agreed to delegate the corporate governance functions, 
decisions and applications to the Board of TUHF Limited The directors 
of TUHF Limited will however be subject to instructions from the 
Board, to the Company’s Memorandums of Incorporation and be 
required to safeguard, at all times, the interests of the Company when 
implementing the obligations and duties set out in the management 
agreement.

The Board of TUHF Limited will therefore respect the fiduciary duties 
of this Board.

The implementation and adoption of policies, processes and 
procedures of TUHF Limited will be considered and approved by this 
Board as a signatory to the management agreement.

A formally documented and approved Board Charter outlines the 
scope of authority, responsibilities, powers and functioning of the 
TUHF Limited Board. This charter is reviewed on an annual basis 
to ensure that it remains relevant and in line with governance best 
practice.

 

 

19. Non-controlling shareholders   
 share of reserves
The amount reflected on the statement of financial position as the 
portion attributable to non-controlling shareholders is stated assuming 
that the Group is a going concern. On liquidation it is noted that the 
portion of the non-distributable reserves would be available to all 
shareholders. 
 

20. Secretary
The company secretary is Kilgetty Statutory Services (Pty) Ltd. 

 
21. Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. continued in office as auditors for the 
company and its subsidiaries for 2019. 
 
At the AGM, the members reappointed PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as 
the independent external auditors of the company and confirmed Gino 
Fraser as the designated lead audit partner for the 2020 financial year.

The gearing ratio at 2019 and 2018 respectively were as follows: 
                                             GROUP
 
Figures in Rand                 2019     2018

Total borrowings
Interest bearing liabilities 2 792 306 119 2 282 664 268
Total debt 2 792 306 119   2 282 664 268
Cash and cash equivalents (92 365 176) (19 460 696)
Net debt 2 699 940 943 2 263 203 572
-Tier 1 (capital and reserves per statement of financial position) 326 158 741 287 932 465

-Tier 2 (includes subordinated shareholders loans, non distributable reserves and deferred income) 190 294 207) 177 877 546

Total capital 516 452 948 465 810 011
Total capital and debt 3 216 393 891 2 729 013 583

Gearing ratio 84% 83%

The Group’s debt to capital ratio must not exceed 90%, particularly at TUHF Holdings Limited level.  The debt service cover ratio is defined as net operating income divided by total debt service and the Group and company’s 
minimum debt service cover ration is 1:1 times.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Trust for Urban 
Housing Finance NPC 
 
Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 
financial position of Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC (the 
Company) and its subsidiaries (together the Group) as at 31 March 
2019, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and 
its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

What we have audited

Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC’s consolidated and separate 
financial statements set out on pages 84 to 140 comprise:

•  the consolidated and separate statements of financial position  
    as at 31 March 2019;

•  the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss and    
    other comprehensive income for the year then ended;

•   the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity for    
    the year then ended;

•  the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the  
    year then ended; 

•  the accounting policies; and

•  the notes to the annual financial statements. 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the sections 290 
and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of 
Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), 
parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 
Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised 
November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other independence 
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements 
in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, 
as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance 
with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in 
South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding 
sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) respectively.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included in the document titled 
“Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC Annual financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2019”, which includes the Directors’ 
Report and the Audit and Risk Committee Report and the Company 
Secretary’s Certification as required by the Companies Act of South 
Africa which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and 
the other sections of the document titled “TUHF Integrated Annual 
Report 2019” which is expected to be made available to us after that 
date. The other information does not include the consolidated or the 
separate financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and 
separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the 
Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements  
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group 
and/or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole are 
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free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
  consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to 
  fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive  
  to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and   
  appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not   
  detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
  than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
  forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override  
  of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal 
control. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
   reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
   made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
   going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
   obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
   or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
   and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
   conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
          

   attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
   consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such 
   disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
   are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
   auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
   the Group and / or Company to cease to continue as a going 
   concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
   consolidated and separate financial statements, including the 
   disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial 
   statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
   manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
   information of the entities or business activities within the group 
   to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
   are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
  the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
Director: Gino Fraser
Registered Auditor 
Waterfall City 
9 September 2019
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

Note(s) 2019 Restated 2018 2019 Restated 2018

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 92 368 020 19 460 696 284 547 65 926
Money market assets 8 44 406 460 65 365 658 - -
Current tax receivable 5 654 612 1 878 204 867 915 -
Loans and advances 9 3 077 270 454 2 614 035 625 4 826 192 4 260 795
Other assets 10 11 184 330 2 235 328 9 508 625
Loans to Group companies 11 31 975 185 10 523 860 40 281 770 25 387 650
Investments in subsidiaries 12 - - 26 333 534 26 333 534
Investments in joint ventures 13 2 963 381 1 000 - -
Unlisted investments 14 23 770 113 22 603 332 - -
Equipment 15 2 119 114 2 398 594 - -
Intangible assets 16 5 204 194 5 323 705 - -
Deferred tax 17 24 674 399 23 883 057 58 637 21 129
Dividends receivable - Group  - - 5 280 041 5 839 930
Total Assets 3 321 590 262 2 767 709 059 77 942 144 61 909 589
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Owners reserve 108 413 965 93 398 773 51 354 510 47 327 011
Share based payment reserve - 15 482 - -
Non-distributable reserve 166 886 154 157 499 759 9 386 395 -

Equity development reserve 556 666 380 869 - -

275 856 785 251 294 883 60 740 905 47 327 011

Non-controlling shareholders share of reserves 217 188 110 194 137 342 - -
493 044 895 445 432 225 60 740 905 47 327 011

Liabilities    
Current tax payable 273 694 3 037 451 - 183 429
Trade and other payables 19 25 193 805 23 327 860 17 200 559 14 398 975
Dividend payable 20 10 319 959 11 810 788 - -
Financial liabilities 21 2 784 700 848 2 278 144 701 - -
Deferred tax 17 8 057 061 5 956 034 680 174

2 828 545 367 2 322 276 834 17 201 239 14 582 578
Total equity and liabilities 3 321 590 262 2 767 709 059 77 942 144 61 909 589

as at 31 March 2019STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

Note(s) 2019   2018 2019 Restated 2018

Interest income 23 394 979 046 359 220 794 1 851 505 1 212 009
Interest expenses 24 (244 423 191) (214 270 518) (816 281) (755 215)
Expected credit losses 25 (23 813 613) (9 562 125) (149 713) (1 355)
Income from lending activities 126 742 242 135 388 151 885 511 455 439
Non-interest income 26 11 664 396 11 632 312 1 893 457 1 501 500
Other operating gains 27 1 166 782 1 256 287 - -
Other operating expenses 28 (92 549 442) (84 467 613) (4 500 409) (224 739)
Operating profit (loss) 25 47 023 978 63 809 137 (1 721 441) 1 732 200
Investment income 30 5 725 509 123 860 5 280 041 5 839 930
Profit before taxation 52 749 487 63 932 997 3 558 600 7 572 130
Taxation 31 (15 390 855) (19 860 771) 468 899 (594 566)
Total comprehensive income for the year 37 358 632 44 072 226 4 027 499 6 977 564

 
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent 12 272 311 14 477 727 4 027 499 6 977 564
Non-controlling interest  25 086 321 29 594 499 - -

37 358 632 44 072 226 4 027 499 6 977 564
Total comprehensive income attributable to:   
Owners of the parent 12 272 311 14 477 727 4 027 499 6 977 564
Non-controlling interest  25 086 321 29 594 499 - -

37 358 632 44 072 226 4 027 499 6 977 564

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS & OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Figures in Rand

Share based 
payment reserve

Equity 
development fund 

reserve

Non- 
distributable 

reserve

Total reserves Owners’
reserves

Total attributable 
to equity holders 

of the Group / 
company

Non-controlling 
interest

 
Total equity

GROUP
Balance at 1 April 2017 1 122 204 609 216 157 499 759 159 231 179 81 388 535 240 619 714 178 507 670 419 127 884
Total comprehensive income for the year  - - - - 14 477 727 14 477 727 29 594 499 44 072 226
Employees share option scheme (1 106 722) - - (1 106 722) - (1 106 722) - (1 106 722)
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited transfer of 
fund margin

- (228 347) - (228 347) 228 347 - - -

Issue of shares - - - - 2 727 582 2 727 582 - 2 727 582
Acquisition of treasury shares - - - - (4 743 906) (4 743 906) - (4 743 906)
Dividends - - - - (610 839) (610 839) (14 033 500) (14 644 339)
Total contributions by and distributions to owners of 
company recognised directly in equity

(1 106 722) (228 347) - (1 335 069) (2 398 816) (3 733 885) (14 033 500) (17 767 385)

Opening balance as previously reported 15 482 380 869 157 499 759 157 896 110 93 467 446 251 363 556 194 068 669 445 432 225
Adjustments
Change in accounting policy - IFRS 9 - - - - 3 451 128 3 451 128 7 578 092 11 029 220
Balance at 01 April 2018 15 482 380 869 157 499 759 157 896 110 96 918 574 254 814 684 201 646 761 456 461 445
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 12 272 311 12 272 311 25 086 321 37 358 632
Issue of shares - - - - 8 788 8 788 - 8 788
Acquisition of treasury shares - - - - (184 596) (184 596) - (184 596)
Employees share option scheme (15 482) - - (15 482) - (15 482) - (15 482)
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited transfer  
of fund margin

- 175 797 - 175 797 (175 797) - - -

Grant received from National Treasury Jobs Fund - - 9 386 395 9 386 395 - 9 386 395 - 9 386 395
Share premium - - - - 35 220 35 220 - 35 220
Dividends - - - - (460 535) (460 535) (9 544 972) (10 005 507)
Total contributions by and distributions to owners 
of company recognised directly in equity

(15 482) 175 797 9 386 395 9 546 710 (776 920) 8 769 790 (9 544 972) 775 182

Balance at 31 March 2019 - 556 666 166 886 154 167 442 820 108 413 965 275 856 785 217 188 110 493 044 895

Continued on next page
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Figures in Rand

Non- distributable 
reserve

Owners’ reserves  Total equity

COMPANY
Balance at 01 April 2017 - 40 349 447 40 349 447

Total comprehensive income for the year - 6 977 564 6 977 564

Balance at 01 April 2018 - 47 327 011 47 327 011

Total comprehensive income for the year - 4 027 499 4 027 499

Grant received from National Treasury Jobs Fund 9 386 395 9 386 395 9 386 395

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised directly in equity 9 386 395 9 386 395 9 386 395

Balance at 31 March 2019 9 386 395 60 740 905 60 740 905
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

Note(s) 2019 Restated 2018 2019 Restated 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest income 346 781 425 350 076 287 144 899 11 328
Guarantee interest received - prior year - 51 657 - -
Rental income 1 249 526 1 196 625 - -
Interest expenses (225 887 904) (207 404 492) (32) -
Tax paid (26 139 963) (12 696 737) (619 462) 36 293
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (99 550 059) (81 150 515) (295 811) (797 097)
Management fees 876 637 78 784 (1 810 344) -
Cash received from clients 3 441 852 2 287 932 1 032 000 1 032 000
Dividend paid (13 853 399) (10 392 688) - -
Net movement in advances (471 469 982) (228 112 831) (215 944) (3 619 366)
Proceeds from financial liabilities 325 182 125 300 828 901 - -
Repayments of financial liabilities (279 395 527) (140 473 061) - -
Grant funds received 9 386 395 - 9 386 395 -
Proceeds from notes issued 500 000 000 - - -
Legal fees paid on DMTN issues - (966 760) - -
Raising fees paid on DMTN issues - (50 000) - -
Sundry income 1 336 027 - 445 000 -
Early repayment penalty 739 175 - - -
Tax refund received

190 355 - - -

Net cash from operating activities 72 886 683 (26 726 898) 8 066 701 (3 336 842)

Cash flows from financing activities
Purchase of equipment 15 (1 046 525) (518 661) - -
Sale of equipment 15 15 567 1 044 - -
Purchase of investment property - (993 264) - -
Sale of investment property - 20 476 632 - -
Purchase of other intangible assets 16 (1 637 739) (2 638 179) - -
Movement in investments (incl. subs, JVs & Assoc) - (1 000) - -
Loans advanced to joint ventures (11 600 000) (10 400 000) - -
Loan to related party (7 129 022) - - -
Dividends received 500 000 - 5 839 930 -
Net cash from investing activities (20 897 719) 5 926 572 5 839 930 -

Continued on next page

as at 31 March 2019
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

Note(s) 2019 Restated 2018 2019 Restated 2018

Cash flows from financing activities
Advances (577 224)
Payments to employees for Treasury shares purchased by TUHF Limited (40 838) (3 611 507) -
Amounts paid to related parties - - (21 667 138) 3 977 790
Amounts received from related parties

- - 7 979 128 -

Net cash from financing activities (40 838) (3 611 507) 13 688 010 3 400 566

Total cash movement for the year 51 948 126 (24 411 833) 218 621 63 724

Cash at the beginning of the year 84 826 354 109 238 186 65 926 2 202

Total cash at end of the year 7 136 774 480 84 826 353 284 547 65 926



TUHF90

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC is a public company incorporated 
and domiciled in South Africa. The consolidated and separate annual 
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 were authorised 
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on Monday, 09 
September 2019.
 
 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these 
consolidated and separate annual financial statements are set out below. 
 

1.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated and separate annual financial statements have 
been prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with, and in 
compliance with, International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”) interpretations issued and effective at the time of preparing 
these annual financial statements and the Companies Act 71 of 2008 
of South Africa, as amended.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historic 
cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the accounting policies 
which follow and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out 
below. They are presented in Rands, which is the Group and company’s 
functional currency.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, 
except for the changes set out in note 2.

1.2 Consolidation 
Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the annual 

financial statements of the company and all subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are 
entities (including structured entities) which are controlled by the Group.

The Group has control of an entity when it is exposed to or has rights 
to variable returns from involvement with the entity and it has the 
ability to affect those returns through use its power to direct the 
activities of the entity.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual 
financial statements from the effective date of acquisition to the 
effective date of disposal.

Adjustments are made when necessary to the annual financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line 
with those of the Group.

All inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on 
transactions between Group companies are eliminated in full on 
consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Equity development reserve
The Group does not consolidate the accumulated profits of Intuthuko 
Equity Fund Proprietary Limited, its wholly owned subsidiary, as the 
reserves are set aside to absorb any losses or costs that relate to the 
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited. This fund is set up to lend 
equity to emerging entrepreneurs. A second bond is registered over 
the underlying property but costs of recovery may exceed this amount 
that may require additional reserves for write-off. Therefore, a separate 
fund exists in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

Owners reserve and share scheme
The Company is a Non Profit Company and has no contributed capital. 
Consequently the Company and the Group owners reserves include 
retained earnings, accumulated profits, contributed capital and share 
premium, where applicable. The Group manages a Conditional Share 
Plan at TUHF Holdings Limited level that is accounted for as an equity 

settled scheme and consequently any adjustments in respect of (i) 
treasury shares or (ii) shares in TUHF Holdings Limited held by the 
Group subsidiary TUHF Limited would reflect under owners reserves on 
the Statement of Financial Position or Statement of Changes in Equity.

Investments in subsidiaries in the
 separate financial statements 
In the company’s separate financial statements, investments in 
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

This excludes investments which are held for sale and are consequently 
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

1.3 Investments in joint ventures

Investments in joint ventures are carried at cost and subsequently 
measured at fair value as these are considered investment entities. 
Investment entities are those entities which:

• obtain funding from one or more investors for the purpose  
    of managing the investments, as the company assists the joint 
    ventures in project management;
• the business purpose of these investments is to invest funds      
    solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment 
    income; and
• measure and evaluate the performance of substantially all of its 

            investments on a fair value basis.  

These entities are accounted for at fair value through profit and loss.
 
 

1.4  Significant judgements and sources  
        of estimation uncertainty  
The preparation of annual financial statements in conformity with 
IFRS requires management, from time to time, to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and 



INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019 91

reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The 
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
 
Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies 
 
The critical judgements made by management in applying accounting 
policies, apart from those involving estimations, that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements, are outlined as follows:

Expected credit losses (“ECL”)
In respect of the ECL’s for loans in the non-performing category we 
reported ECL’s of R62 907 224 . For all Stage 3 loans, a worst case or 
downturn situation is taken into account and is provided for, a base 
case and upturn is not considered.

In respect of the ECL’s for loans in the performing category we reported 
ECL’s of R18 388 635. For Stage 1 and Stage 2 loans, the average of the 
downturn, base case and upturn scenario is provided for.

Downturn R21 501 346
Base case  R18 195 035
Upturn  R15 469 524

Total expected credit losses, Stage 1, 2 and 3 combined reported are: 
R81 295 859. A 50% recovery of the underlying property value is taken 
into account in the model.

Property prices
•  The property price downturn, base case and upturn is based on 
   research obtained from Lightstone Properties 
• 10 geographic areas were considered and forecasts for each area 
   obtained
•  The stresses and % used in each area differ according to the 
   outlook for each area 

PD Adjustment Factors - correlated to 
prime interest rate

1.5 Financial instruments
1.5.1 Financial instruments (IFRS 9)
Financial instruments held by the Group are classified in accordance with 
the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

IFRS 9 introduces requirements for the classification and measurement 
of financial assets and liabilities as well as accounting requirements 
for impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost. The 
significant amendments are:

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments 
depends on:

•   the entity’s business model for managing the asset; and
•   the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the entity classifies its debt instruments into one 
of the following three measurement categorise:

•   Amortised cost. This category applies only when the contractual 

    terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash  
    flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
    principal, and where the instrument is held under a business 
    model whose objective is met by holding the instrument to 
    collect contractual cash flows; or
•   Fair value through other comprehensive income. This category 
    applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give 
    rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments 
    of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument 
    is held under a business model whose objective is achieved by 
    both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the 
    instruments; or
•   Fair value through profit or loss. This classification automatically 
    applies to all debt instruments which do not qualify as at 
    amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive 
    income.

Loans to Group companies, loans to managers and employees, and loans 
and advances are subsequently classified at amortised cost.

They have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms 
of these loans give rise, on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the 
Group’s business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on these 
loans.

Application of the effective interest method
Interest income is calculated using the effective interest method, and is 
included in profit or loss in interest income (note 23 & 30).

The application of the effective interest method to calculate interest 
income on a loan receivable is dependent on the credit risk of the loan 
as follows:

•   The effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of 
the loan, provided the loan is not credit impaired.   
The gross carrying amount is the amortised cost before adjusting 
for a loss allowance.   

2019 2020 2021 2022

1 - Downturn 96% 100% 102% 104%

2 - Base case 96% 99% 100% 100%

3 - Upturn 96% 98% 98% 98%
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

•  If a loan was not purchased or originally credit-impaired, but it  
   has subsequently become credit-impaired, then the effective
   interest rate is applied to the amortised cost of the loan in the    
   determination of interest. If, in subsequent periods, the loan is    
   no longer credit impaired, then the interest calculation reverts to  
   applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount.

•  Other fees earned, such as penalty fees on late payment of
   instalments and early settlement penalty amounts, accrue to the 
   company.

Impairment
IFRS 9 Three-Stage Model

IFRS 9 outlines a three-stage model for impairment based on changes 
in credit quality since initial recognition and is summarised as follows:

• A financial instrument that is not credit impaired on initial 
recognition is classified in “Stage 1” and has its credit risk 
continuously monitored by the company.

•  If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial 
recognition is identified, the financial instruments is moved to 
“Stage 2” but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.

•  If the financial instrument is in default, the financial instrument  
is then moved to “Stage 3”.

•  Financial Instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured based  
on an amount equal to the portion of 12 months expected credit  
losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 
months.

•   Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based  on 
expected credit losses on a lifetime basis.

•   A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 
is that it should consider forward-looking information.

Measuring ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation 
techniques

Expected credit losses are the discounted product of the probability of 
default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD), 
defined as follows:

•   PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on 
    its financial obligation either over the next 12 months 
    (12M PD), or over the remaining lifetime (lifetime PD) of 
    the obligation.
•   EAD is based on the amounts the company expects to be    
   owed at the time of default, over the next 12 months  

    (12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (lifetime EAD).
•   LGD represents the company’s expectation of the extent of 
    loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by type of 
    counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of  
    collateral or other credit support.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each 
future month and for each individual exposure.

These three components are multiplied together and adjusted for the 
likelihood of survival, (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in 
an earlier month). This effectively calculates the ECL for each future 
month, which is then discounted back to the reporting date and 
summed.

The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective 
interest rate.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturing profile to the 
current 12M PD. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop 
on a portfolio from the point of initial recognition throughout the 
lifetime of the loans.

The maturity profile is based on historical observed data and is 

Loans and advances in Stage 1 have their ECL 
measured based on an amount equal to the 
portion of 12 months expected credit losses 
that result from default events possible within 
the next 12 months.

Loans in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured 
based on expected credit losses on a lifetime 
basis.

ECL - Measurement

ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

Significant increase in credit risk

Loans and advances that are not credit impaired 
on initial recognition are classified in “Stage 1” 
and have their credit risk continuously monitored 
by the company.

 
 
If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since 
initial recognition is identified, the loans and 
advances are moved to “Stage 2” but are not yet 
deemed to be credit-impaired.

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-
looking information.

SICR- is determined through a watchlist process whereby financial and project performance of the 
counterparties is discussed. In addition, the status of the construction of ongoing projects is taken 
into account as well as other ad hoc indicators.

Staging

Forward looking economic 
expectations

If the loan is in default, the financial instrument is then moved to “Stage 3”.
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assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio and credit 
grade band. This is supported by historical analysis.

The 12-month and Lifetime EADs are determined based on the 
expected payment profile. For amortising products and bullet 
repayment loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed 
by the borrower over a 12 month of lifetime basis. This will also be 
adjusted for any expected overpayments made by a borrower. Early 
repayment/refinance assumptions are also incorporated into the 
calculation.

These assumptions vary by product type and current limit utilisation 
band, based on an analysis of the company’s recent default data.

The 12-month and Lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors 
which impact the recoveries made post default and this is based on 
collateral type and projected collateral values, historical discounts 
to market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and 
recovery costs incurred.

Forward-looking economic information such as the prime interest rate 
and property prices are also included in determining the 12-month and 
Lifetime PD, EAD and LGD. Refer below for an explanation of forward-
looking information and its inclusion in the ECL calculations.

For Stage 3 loans that are 90 days past due, interest income is 
suspended from the date that the individual exposure is 90  days past 
due. IFRS 9 requires that interest income for financial assets classified 
as Stage 3 be calculated on the net carrying amount (after deducting 
credit impairments), which will result in a portion of contractual 
interest being suspended. IFRS 9 requires that this suspended 
contractual interest be presented as part of the financial assets’ gross 
carrying amount. The Group has applied this requirement by presenting 
balance sheet suspended contractual interest as a separate reconciling 
item when calculating the financial assets’ net carrying amount.  
Hence suspended contractual interest does not impact the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset as presented on the statement of 
financial position. 

The Group presents previously unrecognised interest earned on curing 
of a financial asset out of Stage 3 within credit impairment charges. 
This presentation is consistent with the IFRIC clarification issued in 
December 2018.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation - such as how the 
maturity profile of the PDs and how the collateral values change etc. - 
are monitored and reviewed on an annual basis.

There have been no significant changes in estimation techniques or 
significant assumptions made during the reporting period.

Definitions 
SICR:

•   Qualitative criteria: SICR is primarily determined through 
    the watchlist process whereby the financial performance of 
    the counterparties are discussed. In addition, the status of the 
    construction of ongoing projects is taken into account and as 
    well as qualitative factors such as financial distress, significant 
    change in collateral value or significant adverse changes in 
    business, financial or economic status.
 •   A backstop is applied and the financial instrument considered 
    to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk if   
    the borrower is more than 30 days past due on its contractual 
    payments.

•   The company has not used the low credit risk exemption for 
    any financial instruments in the year ended 31 March 2019.
•   The assessment of SICR incorporates forward looking
    information (see below) and is performed annually for all loans.

DEFAULT:

The definition of default, which triggers the credit impaired 
classification (stage 3), is based on the company’s internal credit risk 
management approach and definitions and occurs at the earlier of:

1.   In the company’s view, the counterparty is considered to be 
      unlikely to pay amounts due on the due date or shortly 
      thereafter without recourse to actions such as the realisation 
      of security; or
2.   When the counterparty is past due for more than 90 days. The 
      company has not rebutted IFRS 9’s 90 days past due 
      rebuttable presumption.

WRITE-OFF POLICY:

An impaired loan is written off once all reasonable attempts at 
collection have been made and there is no material economic benefit 
expected from attempting to recover the balance outstanding.  
The following criteria must be met before a financial asset can be 
written off:

•   the financial asset has been in default for the 90 days period 
    which is deemed sufficient to determine whether the entity is 
    able to receive any further economic benefit from the impaired 
    loan; and
•   at the point of write-off, the financial asset is fully impaired 
    (i.e. 100% allowance) with no reasonable expectations of 
    recovery of the asset, or a portion thereof. As an exception to 
    the above requirements, where the exposure is secured (or for 
    collateralised structures), the impaired loan can only be written 
    off once the collateral has been realised. 
•   Post realisation of the collateral, the shortfall amount can be  
    written off if it meets the second requirement listed above. The      
    shortfall amount does not need to meet the first requirement 
    to be written off.

CURING:

Continuous assessment is required to determine whether the 
conditions that led to a financial asset being considered to be credit 
impaired (i.e. stage 3) still exist.

Qualitative factors include compliance with covenants and compliance 
with existing financial asset terms and conditions.
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Where it has been determined that a financial asset no longer meets 
the criteria for SICR, the financial asset will be moved from stage 
2 (lifetime expected credit loss model) back to stage 1 (12-month 
expected credit loss model) prospectively.

When it has been determined that the financial asset no longer meets 
the classification for stage 3 and all arrears are current, the financial 
asset will move from stage 3 to stage 2 or stage 1. Any recoveries will 
be recognised as bad debts recovered.

1.5.2 Recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The Group classifies financial instruments on initial recognition 
as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised at its fair value 
plus or minus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.

Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within 
operating gains in the period in which they arise.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there 
is objective evidence that a financial assets or Group of financial assets 
is impaired. A financial asset or a Group of financial assets is impaired 
and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence 

of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss 
event(or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset or company or financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a 
Group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default 
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that 
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured 
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses 
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a 
loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under 
the contract.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as 
an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the 
previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
Where a client does not pay their instalment for an ongoing 
consecutive period and the relationship has broken down, 
management will consider no longer recognising interest charged on 
the loan in income and will suspend the interest in a provision account. 
Management will also assess the market value of loan collateral in 
relation to the outstanding loan balance, outstanding utilities and legal 
costs. Where there is a shortfall after taking interest suspended into 
account, additional charges to the income statement will result.

1.5.3 Financial instruments (IAS 39 & IFRS 9)  
Loans to (from) Group companies
These loans are recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction 
costs. Subsequently these loans are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss recognised 
to reflect irrecoverable amounts.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have 
been acquired or incurred in the ordinary course of business from 
suppliers and service providers. Trade payables are classified as current 
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal 
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as 
non current liabilities.

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents and money 
market assets

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject 
to insignificant risk in changing value. Cash and cash equivalents are 
measured at fair value.

Money market assets and cash held in trust are disclosed separately 
and will be included in cash and cash equivalents on the statement of 
financial position.

Cash held in trust are funds deposited into the Company’s attorneys’ 
trust account to facilitate the issue of purchase guarantees and 
payment of the purchase price to the property seller of the bond and 
transfer registration. Cash and cash equivalents held in trust are initially 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
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measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents include money market assets as these are short term and 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Mortgage-backed securities 
Variable-rate notes are classified as financial liabilities and measured at 
amortised cost.

Derecognition of financial assets and 
liabilities
Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired, or where the 
Group has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows on 
the financial asset such that it has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset. Any interest in the 
transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability. Financial liabilities are  
de-recognised when the financial liabilities’ obligation is extinguished, 
that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

1.6   Equipment
 
Equipment includes tangible assets which the Group holds for its own 
use which is expected to be used for more than one year. An item of 
equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group, and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the 
expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition or 
construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs 
on qualifying assets, where appropriate.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or 

replacements of parts of equipment are capitalised if it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to 
the Group and the cost can be measured reliably. Day to day servicing 
costs are included in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use 
as intended by management. Depreciation is charged to write off the 
asset’s carrying amount over its estimated useful life, using a method 
that best reflects the pattern in which the asset’s economic benefits are 
consumed by the Group. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of 
the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or de-recognised.

The useful lives of items of equipment have been assessed as follows:

The useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous 
estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in 
accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of equipment with a cost that is significant in 
relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately.
The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss 
unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

Impairment tests are performed on equipment when there is an 
indicator that they may be impaired. When the carrying amount of 
an item of equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable 
amount.

An item of equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its continued use or disposal. Any 

gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of equipment, 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, 
and the carrying amount of the item, is included in profit or loss when 
the item is de-recognised.

1.7    Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:

  •  It is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are 
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and

  •  The cost of the asset can be measured reliably

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Expenditure on 
research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised 
as an expense when it is incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:

  •  It is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be  
     available for use or sale
  • There is an intention to complete and use or sell it
  • There is an ability to use or sell it
  • It will generate probable future economic benefits
  • There are available technical, financial and other resources to  
     complete the development and to use or sell the asset
  • The expenditure attributable to the asset during its development  
     can be measured reliably

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life 
when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the 
period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. 
Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are 
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication 
that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets, 
amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their useful life.

Item Depreciation 
method

Average useful 
life

Office furniture and 
equipment Straight line

20% - 33.33%  
per annum

Computer hardware 
and telephones Straight line 25% per annum
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The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible 
assets are reviewed every period-end.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful 
life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that the asset 
may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the 
remaining carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists 
and items similar in substance are not recognised as intangible assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a 
straight line basis as follows:

Other development expenditure that do not meet these criteria are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously 
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a 
subsequent period.

1.8 Impairment of assets (non-financial) 
The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there 
is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the 
Group also:

•   Tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or  
    intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment  
    annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable  
    amount. This impairment test is performed during the annual  
    period and at the same time every period. 
•   Tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for  
    impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the 
recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the 
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation 
decrease.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 
indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for 
assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. 
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts  of those assets 
are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill 
attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment 
loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.9 Tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, 
recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of 

current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, 
the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) 
the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit 
nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary difference can be 
utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit 
(tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax 
losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period 
 

Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense 
and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that 
the tax arises from:

ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Item Useful life

Computer software 20% per annum
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  •    A transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a 
different period, to other comprehensive income, or

  •   A business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other 
comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited 
or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive 
income. Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly 
to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the 
same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.10 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as 
an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership. 
 

Operating leases – lessee 
 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. The difference between the amounts 
recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised 
as an operating lease asset. This liability is not discounted. 

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred. 

1.11 Share capital and equity
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in 
the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as ‘share 
capital’ in equity. Any amounts received from the issue of shares in 
excess of par value is classified as ‘share premium’ in equity. Dividends 
are recognised as a liability in the Group in which they are declared.

1.12 Share based payments 
TUHF Holdings Limited operates a conditional share plan, under which 
TUHF Limited receives services from employees as consideration for 
equity instruments of TUHF Holdings Limited. The fair value of the 
employee services received in exchange for the grant of the shares is 
recognised as an expense in TUHF Limited.

For cash-settled share-based payment transactions, the goods or services 
acquired and the liability incurred are measured at the fair value of the 
liability. Until the liability is settled, the fair value of the liability is 
re-measured at each reporting date and at the date of settlement, with 
any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the period.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair 
value of the shares granted:

•   Including any market performance conditions;
•    Excluding the impact of any service and non-market 

performance vesting conditions (for example profitability, sales 
growth targets and remaining an employee of the company over 
a specified period); and

•   Including the impact of an non-vesting conditions 
    (for example, the requirement for employees to save)

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about 
the number of shares that are expected to vest. The total expense is 
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of 
the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each 
reporting period, the company revises its estimates of the number of 
options that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting 
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, 
if any, in the statement of comprehensive income, with a corresponding 
adjustment to equity.

When the share awards are to be vested, TUHF Holdings Limited, issues 
new shares. The shares are purchased from TUHF Holdings Limited 
at the ruling net asset value through intercompany loan account and 
granted to the employees for no consideration. The actual consideration 
is compared to the amount provided over the vesting period and 
any adjustment is made where appropriate. This is recorded in the 

investment in holding company account.

Where the conditional share plan share award requires equity to be 
issued the impact is disclosed in non distributable reserves. Where the 
award is cash settled the amount is disclosed as a liability.

1.13 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those that are expected to 
be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service), are recognised 
in the period in which the employee renders the related service.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense 
as the employees render services that increase their entitlement or, in 
the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The accruals have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on 
current wage and salary rates.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a retirement plan under which the Group 
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal 
or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does 
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to 
employee service in the current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly 
or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, 
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment 
obligations once the contributions have  been paid. The contributions 
are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid 
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in the future payments is available.
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1.14 Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable and represents the amounts receivable for services provided in 
the normal course of business, net of discounts and value added tax.
Revenue comprises interest income and non-interest income.
 
Interest income:

Interest income and expenses are recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income using the effective interest rate 
method. The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of 
allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the 
financial instrument, or when appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset of financial liability. 

When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (e.g. 
prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.

Rental income:

Rental income is recognised equally over the period of the lease taking 
into consideration the clauses affecting the rental charge.

Management fee income:

Management fee income earned from the provision of management 
services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are 
rendered, with reference to the stage of completion of the service.

Bad debts recovered:

Recoveries of financial assets previously written-off and are recognised 
as bad debts recovered.

Sundry income:

Sundry income includes penalty income on outstanding instalment and 
early repayment settlement fee.

1.15 Unlisted investments
Unlisted investments comprise the equity investment in associated 
organisations held to earn dividend income and/or for capital appreciation. 
Unlisted investments are carried at fair value based on valuations of the 
underlying property portfolio by independent external values less the 
interest bearing liabilities in respect of the underlying mortgage.

The valuers have appropriate qualifications and extensive experience 
in property valuations. Fair values are determined by discounting 
expected future cash flows at appropriate market interest rates. 
Valuations are carried out annually.

Changes in the fair value of investments are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive incomes as investment surpluses. 

1.16  Non-distributable reserve
The Group received grant funds for the exclusive purpose of lending to 
its customers as per an agreement with National Treasury. These funds 
are combined with senior debt raised in the capital markets in a funding 
structure and represent equity  in the funding structure. These funds are 
not repayable and meet the definition of equity per IAS 32. The funds 
must be accounted for and TUHF Limited is required to report on the 
development impact measures such as job creation and entrepreneur 
training. The funds can only be lent to customers for inner city renewal 
projects and the funds are not distributable as dividends and therefore 
have been classified as a non-distributable reserve.

1.17  Segmental reporting
The executive committee headed by the CEO, has been identified by 
the Group as the chief operating decision maker who is responsible for 
assessing the performance and allocation of resources of the Group. 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the 
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.

The identification of reportable segments are determined based on 
a consideration of products and services, organisational structures, 

geographical areas, economic and regulatory environments and 
the separable nature of activities or conversely inherent inter-
connectedness and whether these meet the criteria for aggregation.

The revenue from one single customer does not exceed 10% of the 
Group’s revenues in 2019 due to a refinance of existing facilities but 
did exceed the 10% level in 2018. The revenue earned from that 
customer amounted to R32 959 121 (2018: R43 785 177) and is 
included in “interest income”. The business sells a single product, 
15 year mortgage loan facility.

Management assesses information relating to the performance of the 
single segment on multiple levels and from multiple perspectives. All 
elements are regarded as inter-connected and as such, no part of the 
business is regarded as separable from the rest. 

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
The accounting policies are consistent with those reporting in the previous 
year except as required in terms of the adoption of the following:

IFRS 9 - transition
With effect from 1 January 2018, IFRS 9 replaced IAS 39. IFRS 9 
introduced new requirements which included an Expected Credit Losses 
(“ECL”) impairment model and new requirements for the classification 
and measurement of financial assets as follows:

IFRS 9’s ECL requirements
The most material IFRS 9 transition impact for the Group and company 
is that of IFRS 9’s new ECL requirements which results in the early 
recognition of credit impairment provisions primarily as a result of the 
drivers outlined in the table below. This impact was solely as a result of 
the adoption of IFRS 9 and is not a result of changes in the credit quality 
of the Group and company’s loan exposures.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
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Debt instruments
Debt instruments classified as held-to-maturity and loans and receivables 
under IAS 39 that were measured at amortised cost continue to be 
measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9 as they are held within a 
business model to collect contractual cash flows and these cash flows 
consist solely of payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Impairment of financial assets
IFRS 9’s ECL impairment model’s requirements represented the most 
material IFRS 9 transition impact for the Group.

The ECL model applies to financial assets measured at either amortised 
cost or at fair value through OCI (FVOCI), loan commitments when there 
is a present commitment to extend credit (unless these are measured at 
fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)) and guarantees. 

ECL is, at a minimum, required to be measured through a loss allowance at 
an amount equal to the 12-month ECL. 

However, where the lifetime is less than 12 months, lifetime ECL will be 
measured for the financial asset. A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is 
required for a financial asset if the credit risk of that financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recognition.

Classification and measurement
IFRS 9 requires all financial assets to be classified and measured on the 
basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and 
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

The accounting for financial assets differs in various other areas to the IAS 
39 requirements such as embedded derivatives and the recognition of fair 
value adjustments in OCI.

All changes in the fair value of financial liabilities that are designated at 
FVTPL due to changes in own credit risk are required to be recognised 
within OCI.

The measurement requirements are summarised below:

Debt investments that are held within a business model whose objective 
is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding, are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortised cost are 

subject to new impairment provisions using an expected loss model. This 
contrasts the incurred loss model of IAS 39.

The directors reviewed and assessed the Group’s existing financial assets 
as at 01 April 2018 based on the facts and circumstances that existed 
at that date and concluded that the initial application of IFRS 9 has had 
the following impact on the Group’s financial assets as regards to their 
classification and measurement:

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12-month ECL for performing 
loans (stage 1)

SICR (stage 2)

Lifetime model work out 
requirements

Forward looking economic 
expectations

IFRS 9 contains a minimum 12-month ECL for exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk (SICR), whereas IAS 39 required credit impairments to be recognised only 
following the identification of objective evidence of impairment.

A lifetime ECL is recognised for all exposures for which there has been a SICR, being a material change 
in the probability of default, since origination.

In terms of determining ECL for stage 1 and 2 exposures where there is a probability of default, 
the potential loss from a lifetime perspective is considered, which would include the probability of 
recovery post default and subsequent re-default.

For stage 3 exposures, being exposures that are either in default or where default is imminent, this 
would include consideration of cures and subsequent re-default.

IFRS 9 requires an adjustment for forward looking economic expectations in the determination of 
SICR and in the measurement of the ECL.

IAS 39 IFRS 9

Financial assets Measurement category Measurement category
Cash and cash equivalents Amortised cost (loans and receivables) Amortised cost
Money market assets Amortised cost (loans and receivables) Amortised cost
Loans and advances Amortised cost (loans and receivables) Amortised cost
Other assets Amortised cost (loans and receivables) Amortised cost
Loans to Group companies Amortised cost (loans and receivables) Amortised cost
Unlisted investments FVPL (Held for trading) FVPL (Mandatory)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Incorporation of forward-looking information in ECL measurement
The Group determines the macroeconomic outlook, over a planning horizon of at least 15 years. These forward-looking economic expectations are included in the ECL where adjustments are made based on the Group’s macroeconomic 
outlook, using models that correlate these parameters with macroeconomic variables. Where modelled correlations are not viable or predictive, adjustments are based on expert judgement to predict the outcomes based on the Group’s 
macroeconomic outlook expectations. 

In addition to forward-looking macroeconomic information, other types of forward-looking information, such as specific event risk, have been taken into account in ECL estimates when required, though the application of out-of-model 
adjustments. These out-of-model adjustments are subject to Group credit governance committee oversight. 

IAS 39
carrying amount

31 March 2018

Reclassification IFRS 9
Remeasurement

IFRS 9
Carrying amount

1 April 2018

Loans and advances
 Opening Balance 2 697 817 020 - 2 697 817 020 2 697 817 020 
 Remeasurement ECL allowance (63 329 501) - 16 645 897 (46 683 604)
 Closing Balance 2 634 487 519 - 2 714 462 917 2 651 133 416

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand 2019 2018 2019 2018

The total IFRS 9 transition impact is  
as follows:
Gross IFRS 9 remeasurement 16 645 897 - - -
Deferred tax effect (5 616 677) - - -
Amount recognised in SOCIE 11 029 220 - - -

The following table presents a summary of the financial assets as at 01 April 2018. The table reconciles the movement of financial assets from their IAS 39 measurement categories and into their new IFRS 9 
measurement categories.

Adoption of IFRS 
The Group and company retrospectively adopted IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018 with an adjustment to the Group and company’s opening 1 April 2018 reserves and, as permitted by IFRS 9, did not restate its comparative financial results. 

Accordingly, the Group and company’s previously reported financial results up to 31 March 2018 are presented in accordance with the requirements of IAS 39 and for 2019, and future reporting periods, are presented in terms of IFRS 9.

Reconciliation of the reclassifications and remeasurements of financial assets as a result of adopting IFRS 9
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3. NEW STANDARDS AND   
     INTERPRETATIONS
3.1  Standards and interpretations not yet 

effective
The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and 
interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the 
Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2019 or later 
periods:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: 
Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture

If a parent loses control of a subsidiary which does not contain a 

business, as a result of a transaction with an associate or joint venture, 
then the gain or loss on the loss of control is recognised in the parents’ 
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interest in 
the associate or joint venture. The remaining gain or loss is eliminated 
against the carrying amount of the investment in the associate or joint 
venture. The same treatment is followed for the measurement to fair 
value of any remaining investment which is itself an associate or joint 
venture. If the remaining investment is accounted for in terms of IFRS 9, 
then the measurement to fair value of that interest is recognised in full 
in the parents’ profit or loss.

The effective date of the amendment is to be determined by the IASB.
It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the 
Group’s annual financial statements.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

The IFRS establishes the principles for the recognition, 

measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts 
issued.  The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on 

or after 1 January 2021. It is unlikely that the standard will have a 
material impact on the Group’s annual financial statements.

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or 
Settlement - Amendments to IAS 19
The amendment deals with the determination of past service 
cost and gains or losses on settlement, when a plan is amended, 
curtailed or settled (“the event”). Specifically, when determining 
the past service cost or gain or loss on settlement, the net defined 
benefit liability (asset) shall be remeasured using the current fair 
value of plan assets and  current actuarial assumptions reflecting 
the benefits offered under the plan and plan assets both before 
and after the event. The effect of the asset ceiling shall not be 
considered in this exercise. The effect of the asset ceiling shall be 
determined after the event.

The amendment also specifies that when determining current 
service costs and net interest on the defined benefit liability (asset) 
in a period in which an amendment, curtailment or settlement 
occurs, to apply inputs at the beginning of the reporting period for 
the current service cost and interest up to the date of the event, 
and to apply inputs as at the date of the event to determine current 
service costs and interest for the remainder of the period.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 
the Group’s annual financial statements.

Long-term Interests in Joint Ventures and 
Associates - Amendments to IAS 28
The amendment now requires that an entity also applies IFRS 9 to 
other financial instruments in an associate or joint venture to which 
the equity method is not applied. These include long-term interests 
that, in substance, form part of the entity’s net investment in an 

associate or joint venture.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. It is unlikely that the amendment will have a 
material impact on the Group’s annual financial statements.

Prepayment Features with Negative 
Compensation - Amendment to IFRS 9
The amendment to Appendix B of IFRS 9 specifies that for 
the purpose of applying paragraphs B4.1.11(b) and B4.1.12(b), 
irrespective of the event or circumstance that causes the early 
termination of the contract, a party may pay or receive reasonable 
compensation for that early termination.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. It is unlikely that the amendment will have a 
material impact on the Group’s annual financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations: Annual Improvements to 
IFRS 2015 - 2017 cycle
The amendment clarifies that when a party to a joint arrangement 
obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, and had 
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to 
that joint operation immediately before the acquisition date, 
the transaction is a business combination achieved in stages. The 
acquirer shall therefore apply the requirements for a business 
combination achieved in stages.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. It is unlikely that the amendment will have a 
material impact on the Group’s annual financial statements. 
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Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint 
Arrangements: Annual Improvements to 
IFRS 2015 - 2017 cycle
The amendment clarifies that if a party participates in, but does not 
have joint control of, a joint operation and subsequently obtains joint 
control of the joint operation (which constitutes a business as defined 
in IFRS 3) that, in such cases, previously held interests in the joint 
operation are not remeasured.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 
1 January 2019. It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material 
impact on the Group’s annual financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: 
Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 
cycle
The amendment specifies that the income tax consequences on 
dividends are recognised in profit or loss, other comprehensive income 
or equity according to where the entity originally recognised the 
events or transactions which generated the distributable reserves.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 
1 January 2019. It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material 
impact on the Group’s annual financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs: 
Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 
cycle
The amendment specifies that when determining the weighted 
average borrowing rate for purposes of capitalising borrowing costs, 
the calculation excludes borrowings which have been made specifically 
for the purposes of obtaining a qualifying asset, but only until 
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its 
intended use or sale are complete.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 
1 January 2019. It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material 
impact on the Group’s annual financial statements.

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
The interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and 
measurement requirements in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty 
over income tax treatments. Specifically, if it is probable that the tax 
authorities will accept the uncertain tax treatment, then all tax related 
items are measured according to the planned tax treatment.

If it is not probable that the tax authorities will accept the uncertain 
tax treatment, then the tax related items are measured on the 
basis of probabilities to reflect the uncertainty. Changes in facts and 
circumstances are required to be treated as changes in estimates and 
applied prospectively.
The effective date of the interpretation is for years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. It is unlikely that the interpretation will have a 
material impact on the Group’s annual financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 Leases is a new standard which replaces IAS 17 Leases, and 
introduces a single lessee accounting model. The main changes arising 
from the issue of IFRS 16 which are likely to impact the Group are as 
follows:

Group as lessee:
 •  Lessees are required to recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease 

liability for all leases, except short term leases or leases where 
the underlying asset has a low value, which are expensed on a 
straight line or other systematic basis.

 •  The cost of the right-of-use asset includes, where appropriate, 
the initial amount of the lease liability; lease payments made 
prior to commencement of the lease less incentives received; 
initial direct costs of the lessee; and an estimate for any 
provision for dismantling, restoration and removal related to the 
underlying asset.

 •  The lease liability takes into consideration, where appropriate, 

fixed and variable lease payments; residual value guarantees to 
be made by the lessee; exercise price of purchase options; and 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease.

 •  The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured on the cost 
model at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
and adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability. 
However, right-of-use assets are measured at fair value when 
they meet the definition of investment property and all other 
investment property is accounted for on the fair value model. 
If a right-of-use asset relates to a class of property, plant and 
equipment which is measured on the revaluation model, then 
that right-of-use asset may be measured on the revaluation 
model.

 •  The lease liability is subsequently increased by interest, reduced 
by lease payments and re-measured for reassessments or 
modifications. 

 •  Re-measurements of lease liabilities are affected against right-
of-use assets, unless the assets have been reduced to nil, in 
which case further adjustments are recognised in profit or loss.

 •  The lease liability is re-measured by discounting revised 
payments at a revised rate when there is a change in the lease 
term or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase 
the underlying asset.

 •  The lease liability is re-measured by discounting revised lease 
payments at the original discount rate when there is a change in 
the amounts expected to be paid in a residual value guarantee 
or when there is a change in future payments because of a 
change in index or rate used to determine those payments.

•  Certain lease modifications are accounted for as separate leases. 
When lease modifications which decrease the scope of the lease 
are not required to be accounted for as separate leases, then the 
lessee re-measures the lease liability by decreasing the carrying 
amount of the right of lease asset to reflect the full or partial 
termination of the lease. Any gain or loss relating to the full or 
partial termination of the lease is recognised in profit or loss. 
For all other lease modifications which are not required to be

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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accounted for as separate leases, the lessee re- measures the 
lease liability by making a corresponding adjustment to the 
right-of-use asset.

 •  Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities should be presented 
separately from other assets and liabilities. If not, then the 
line item in which they are included must be disclosed. This 
does not apply to right-of-use assets meeting the definition 
of investment property which must be presented within 
investment property. IFRS 16 contains different disclosure 
requirements compared to IAS 17 leases.

Group as lessor:
 •  Accounting for leases by lessors remains similar to the provisions 

of IAS 17 in that leases are classified as either finance leases or 
operating leases. Lease classification is reassessed only if there has 
been a modification.

 •  A modification is required to be accounted for as a separate lease 
if it both increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use 
one or more underlying assets; and the increase in consideration is 
commensurate to the stand alone price of the increase in scope.

 •  If a finance lease is modified, and the modification would not 
qualify as a separate lease, but the lease would have been an 
operating lease if the modification was in effect from inception, 
then the modification is accounted for as a separate lease. In 
addition, the carrying amount of the underlying asset shall be 
measured as the net investment in the lease immediately before 
the effective date of the modification. IFRS 9 is applied to all other 
modifications not required to be treated as a separate lease.

 •  Modifications to operating leases are required to be accounted for 
as new leases from the effective date of the modification. Changes 
have also been made to the disclosure requirements of leases in the 
lessor’s financial statements. 

Sale and leaseback transactions:
 •  In the event of a sale and leaseback transaction, the requirements 

of IFRS 15 are applied to consider whether a performance 
obligation is satisfied to determine whether the transfer of the 
asset is accounted for as the sale of an asset.

 •  If the transfer meets the requirements to be recognised as a sale, 
the seller-lessee must measure the new right- of-use asset at 
the proportion of the previous carrying amount of the asset that 

relates to the right-of-use retained. The buyer-lessor accounts for 
the purchase by applying applicable standards and for the lease by 
applying IFRS 16

 •  If the fair value of consideration for the sale is not equal to the fair 
value of the asset, then IFRS 16 requires adjustments to be made 
to the sale proceeds. When the transfer of the asset is not a sale, 
then the seller-lessee continues to recognise the transferred asset 
and recognises a financial liability equal to the transfer proceeds. 
The buyer-lessor recognises a financial asset equal to the transfer 
proceeds.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 
1 January 2019. The Group expects to adopt the standard for the first time 
in the 2020 annual financial statements.

The impact of this standard on 1 April 2019, will result in recognition of 
lease liabilities estimated at R7,9 million and lease assets of R6,9 million.

4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
   CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns 
for the shareholder and benefits for the other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust 
the amount of dividends paid to the shareholder, return capital to the 
shareholder, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the gearing ratio basis together with a debt 
service cover ratio. The capital management function is governed primarily 
by management level subcommittees that oversees the risks associated 
with capital management, namely the Group asset and liability committee 
(ALCO). The principal governance documents are the capital management 
governance framework and the risk framework.

Financial risk management
Financial risks are identified and managed on a Group basis. These 
risks are identified in the risk matrix which is reported to the Board.

The responsibility for risk management resides at all levels, from 
members of the Board to individuals throughout the Group. Overall 
risk management policies and risk appetite are established on a 
comprehensive, organisation wide basis by senior management and, 
reviewed with and where appropriate, approved by the Board of 
directors.

There has been no change in how the Group assesses or manages its 
risks from the previous year.

The main risks managed by the risk committee as described below 
include credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and interest rate risk.

Liquidity risk
Debt capital to meet secured lending commitments is primarily raised 
from the debt capital markets and term facilities.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment 
obligations when they fall due and to replace funds when they are 
withdrawn, the consequences of which may be the failure to meet 
obligations to repay commitments to funders.

The Board is responsible for the management of the liquidity risk of 
the Group but they have delegated this responsibility to the chief 
financial officer. Prudent management of liquidity contributes to 
sound liquidity risk management. The key focus in managing this 
risk is the use of a cash flow model that monitors loan and funders 
cashflows for a 12 month window period. A Group 5 year financial 
forecast is performed annually to review cash flow requirements and 
compliance with covenants.
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A R1 billion programme memorandum has been approved by the JSE 
Limited for the Group to meet its liquidity requirements. Historically 
the Group has been able to match quite closely the actual loan 
advances loan term of 15 years to the actual debt funding repayment 
period of either 15 or 20 years. This resulted in a matched loan 
advances collections and funder repayment cash flows. The first 
domestic medium-term note was issued on 26 January 2017 and 
matures in January 2020.

This first maturity date of this programme is January 2020. This has 
been discussed with some investors, who have indicated a willingness 

to extend the programme for a further five years. This is subject to 
final credit approval and investor consent.

More recently the repayment terms offered by funders has reduced to 
10 years in line with market practice.

The average loan period of the mortgage loans is now nine years 
which closely matches the funder repayment terms but this is being 
monitored as flexibility is offered to customers wishing to release 
portfolio equity. This may result in a mismatch in the capital collected 
on loan advances being extended compared to the funder repayments. 

On a combined basis this does not result in a cash flow mismatch.

The Group has developed and implemented a treasury management 
reporting system with full assets and liability management 
functionality. The more detailed treasury and risk management 
processes are important for the Group in developing and enhancing 
the Group funding strategy. The risk management function has been 
further enhanced through the Group asset and liability committee 
(ALCO) implemented during the current year.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities at the statements of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

GROUP

At 31 March 2019

Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total interest Carrying value

Trade and other payables 25 193 805 - - - 25 193 805
Interest bearing liabilities 1 101 379 679 1 812 821 034 727 327 087    (849 221 682) 2 792 306 118
Total comprehensive income for the year 1 126 573 484  1 812 821 034 727 327 087   (849 221 682) 2 817 499 923

At 31 March 2018

Trade and other payables 23 327 805 - - - 23 327 8055
Interest bearing liabilities 632 989 992 1 629 496 357 840 590 564    (820 412 645) 2 282 664 268
Total comprehensive income for the year 656 317 797 1 629 496 357 840 590 564   (820 412 645) 2 305 992 073

COMPANY

At 31 March 2019

Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total interest Carrying value

Trade and other payables 17 200 559 - - - 17 200 559

At 31 March 2018

Trade and other payables 14 398 975 - - - 14 398 975

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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The liquidity mismatch pertaining to the period up to five years after 
reporting date will be managed by refinancing short term interest 
bearing liabilities to the value of R802 005 237 (2018: R665 568 024). 
Refer to note 9 for the maturity analysis relating to advances.
 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk: the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The company is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on both loan 
advances and interest bearing liabilities that are linked to the prime 
interest rate. Loans and advances, cash and cash equivalents and money 
market assets as well as interest bearing liabilities are stated at amortised 
cost derived from a market related interest rate.

The market risk exposure relates to the potential adverse effect of interest 
rate movements on net interest income.

Where clients request fixed rates applicable to loans, the interest rate risk 
is mitigated by management entering into an interest rate swap contract 
to swap the fixed interest rate for a floating interest rate. Currently no 
swap contracts are in place as no fixed rate loans have been contracted 
with clients. In negotiating a swap contract where relevant, the company 
ensures that no interest rate risk is taken on.

At 31 March 2019, if interest rates on net borrowings and advances had 
been 1% higher with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the 
year would have been R2 775 779 (2018: R2 009 718 ) higher, mainly as a 
result of higher net interest paid on variable rate borrowings and advances. 
If interest rates on net borrowings and advances had been 1% lower with 
all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have 
been R2 775 779 (2018: R2 009 718 ) lower.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause 
financial loss for another party by failing to discharge an obligation.

The credit risk that the Group faces arises mainly from commercial loans 
and advances. The Group has policies, procedures and processes dedicated 
to controlling and monitoring risk from all such activities.

While credit exposures principally arise in loans and advances, the Group 
can be exposed to other credit risks. These exposures comprise loan 
commitments and contingent liabilities. The risks are managed in a similar 
way to those loans in loans and advances, and are subject to the same or 
similar approval and governance processes.

The granting of credit is one of the Group’s major sources of income and 
is therefore one of the most significant risks, and the Group dedicates 
considerable resources to controlling it effectively. A system based loan 
workflow process is used to facilitate the loan approval process. 

The granting of credit is considered on a project by project basis and 
various hurdle rates are considered in terms of our loan and credit policy 
which is fully compliant with the National Credit Act.

Credit risk consists mainly of advances, cash deposits, cash equivalents and 
money market assets. The Group only deposits cash with major banks with 
high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counterparty.

Advances comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates 
credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. If customers are 
independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no 
independent rating, risk control assessed the credit quality of the customer, 
taking into account its financial position, past experience and other 
factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in 
accordance with limits set by the Board. The utilisation of credit limits is 
regularly monitored.

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand 2019 2018 2019 2018

Financial instrument

Cash and cash equivalents 92 368 020 19 460 696 284 547 65 926

Money market assets 44 406 460 65 365 658 - -

Loans and advances 3 182 126 390 2 697 817 020 5 035 609 4 336 259

Loans to Group companies 31 975 185 10 523 860 - -

Investments in joint ventures 2 963 381 1 000 - -

Other assets 8 937 211 1 989 546 7 081 625

Unlisted investments 23 770 113 22 603 332 66 615 304 51 721 185

  3 386 546 760 2 817 761 112 71 942 541 56 123 370

The following represents the maximum exposure, at reporting date, to credit risk and is stated before the allowance for impairment:
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5. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

GROUP - 2019

At 31 March 2019

Amortised cost Fair value
through profit

or loss

Total

Cash and cash equivalents 92 368 020 - 92 368 020

Money market assets 44 406 460 - 44 406 460

Loans and advances 3 077 270 454 - 3 077 270 454

Other assets excluding prepayments 11 184 330 - 11 184 330

Unlisted investments - 23 770 113 23 770 113

Loans to Group companies 31 975 185 - 31 975 185

Investment in joint venture 2 963 381 - 2 963 381

Total comprehensive income for the year 3 260 167 830 23 770 113 3 283 937 943

GROUP - 2018

At 31 March 2019

Amortised cost Fair value
through profit

or loss

Total

Cash and cash equivalents 19 460 696  - 19 460 696  

Money market assets 65 365 658 - 65 365 658

Loans and advances 2 614 035 625 - 2 614 035 625

Other assets excluding prepayments 2 235 328 - 2 235 328

Unlisted investments - 22 603 332 22 603 332

Loans to Group companies 10 523 860 - 10 523 860

Investment in joint venture 1 000 - 1 000

Total comprehensive income for the year 2 711 622 167 22 603 332 2 734 225 499

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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COMPANY - 2019

At 31 March 2019

Amortised cost Fair value
through profit

or loss

Total

Cash and cash equivalents 284 547 - 284 547
Loans and advances 4 826 192 - 4 826 192
Investment in subsidiaries 26 333 534 - 26 333 534
Loans to Group companies 40 281 770 - 40 281 770

71 726 043 - 71 726 043

Assets held at fair value:

GROUP  

2019

Level 2 Level 3 Total

Unlisted investments - 23 770 113 23 770 113

2018
Level 2 Level 3 Total

Unlisted investments - 22 603 332 22 603 332

COMPANY - 2018

At 31 March 2019

Amortised cost Fair value
through profit

or loss

Total

Cash and cash equivalents 65 926 - 65 926
Loans and advances 4 260 795 - 4 260 795
Investment in subsidiaries 26 333 534 - 26 333 534
Loans to Group companies 25 387 650 - 25 387 650

56 047 905 - 56 047 905
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Assets not held at fair value for which fair value is disclosed: 

GROUP  

2019

Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents 92 368 020 - 92 368 020
Money market assets 44 406 020 - 44 406 020
Loans and advances - 3 077 270 454 3 077 270 454
 136 774 480  3 077 270 454  3 214 044 934

2018
Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents 19 460 696 - 19 460 696
Money market assets 65 365 658 - 65 365 658
Loans and advances - 2 614 035 625  2 614 035 625
 84 826 354 2 614 035 625  2 698 861 979

GROUP 
2019

GROUP 
2018

Level 3 unlisted investments
  

Opening balance 22 603 332 15 902 665
Fair value adjustments 1 166 781 6 700 667
 23 770 113  22 603 332

Reconciliation of level 3 financial assets measured on a recurring basis:

The table below sets out the reconciliation of financial assets that are measured at fair value based on inputs that are not based on observable market data (level 3):
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INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019 109

6. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

GROUP 

2019

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost

Total

Interest bearing liabilities 2 784 700 848 2 784 700 848
Trade and other liabilities 25 193 805 25 193 805
Dividend payable 10 319 959 10 319 959
 2 820 214 612 2 820 214 612

COMPANY 

2019

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost

Total

Trade and other liabilities 17 200 559 17 200 559

2018

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost

Total

Interest bearing liabilities 2 278 144 701 2 278 144 701

Trade and other liabilities 23 327 860 23 327 860

Dividend payable 11 810 788 11 810 788

 2 313 283 349 2 313 283 349

2018

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost

Total

Trade and other liabilities 14 398 975 14 398 975
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7.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

9.  LOANS AND ADVANCES

8.  MONEY MARKET ASSETS

GROUP COMPANY
 Figures in Rand 2019 2018 2019 2018

Cash on hand 13 756 10 756 - -
Current and call accounts

92 354 264 19 449 940 284 547 65 926

 92 368 020 19 460 696 284 547 65 926
Composition of cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include total cash and money market assets. 
The money market assets are subject to restrictions and are not available to the company or Group unless the guarantees 
are cancelled. All accounts are held at Standard Bank of South Africa Limited.

Cash and cash equivalents 92 368 020 19 460 696 284 547 65 926
Money market assets 44 406 460 65 365 658 - -

 136 774 480 84 826 354 284 547 65 926

 

Deposits for payment guarantees 40 541 895 64 677 820 - -
Deposits pending property transfer registrations 3 864 565 687 838 - -
 44 406 460 65 365 658 - -

Loan and advances 3 182 126 390 2 697 817 020 5 035 609 4 336 259

Deferred raising fee** (23 560 077) (20 451 896) (58 349) (74 109)

Expected credit losses (81 295 859) (63 329 499) (151 068) (1 355)
3 077 270 454 2 614 035 625 4 826 192 4 260 795

** The current portion of the deferred raising fee is R9 613 096 (2018: R 7 353 172).
** The current portion of the deferred raising fee at company level is R13 878 (2018: R 15 760).

Exposure to credit risk
Loans and advances inherently exposes the Group to credit risk, being the risk that the Group will incur financial loss if counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due.
In order to mitigate the risk of financial loss from defaults, the Group only deals with reputable counterparties with consistent payment histories. Sufficient collateral or guarantees are also obtained in all cases. Each 
counterparty is analysed individually for creditworthiness before terms and conditions are offered. The analysis involves making use of information submitted by the counterparties as well as external bureau data (where 
available). Counterparty credit limits are in place and are reviewed and approved by credit management committees. The exposure to credit risk and the creditworthiness of counterparties is continuously monitored.

Less than 1 year 124 378 902 103 326 466 - -
1 to 5 years 731 881 574 673 502 368 - -
Over 5 years 2 325 865 914 1 920 988 186 - -

3 182 126 390 2 697 817 020 - -

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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Stage 1 Standard 
monitoring

Stage 2 Standard 
monitoring

Stage 3
Default

Total 

GROUP
Gross loans 2 187 837 757 702 823 385 291 465 248 3 182 126 390

              Expected Credit Losses
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Opening balance at 1 April 2018 6 405 049 11 665 577 28 612 976 46 683 602

Transfers between stages - (3 397 907) 3 397 907 -

Transfer to/(from) stage 1 - - - -

Transfer to/(from) stage 2 - (3 397 907) 3 397 907 -

Transfer to/(from) stage 3 - - - -

 (released) 3 532 049 183 867 20 097 697 23 813 613

 ECL on new exposures raised 3 532 049 183 867 20 097 697 23 813 613

 Change in ECL due to derecognition - - - -

 Interest income on stage 3 loans not recognised - - 11 462 203 11 462 203

 Impaired accounts written off - - (663 559) (663 559)

Closing balance 9 937 098 8 451 537 62 907 224 81 295 859

(1) Net impairments raised/(released) less recoveries of amounts written off in previous years equals income statement impairment (note 25).

(2) The Group’s policy is to transfer opening balances based on the ECL stage at the end of the reporting period. Therefore exposures can be transferred directly from stage 3 to stage 1 as the curing requirements would have 
been satisfied during the reporting period. Furthermore, the expected credit loss recognised or new exposures originated during the reporting period (which are not included in opening balances) are included within the 
column “ECL” on new exposure raised” based on the exposures ECL stage as at the end of the reporting period.

Net Advances 2 177 900 659 694 371 848 228 558 024 3 100 830 531

9.  LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED)
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Stage 1
Standard 

monitoring

Stage 2
Standard 

monitoring

Stage 3
Default

Total interest 

COMPANY
Gross loans

5 035 609 - - 5 035 609

              Expected Credit Losses
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Opening balance at 1 April 2018 1 355 - - 1 355

Transfers between stages - - - -

Transfer to/(from) stage 1 - - - -

Transfer to/(from) stage 2 - - - -

Transfer to/(from) stage 3 - - - -

(released) 149 713  149 713

ECL on new exposures raised 149 713 - - 149 713

Change in ECL due to derecognition - - - -

Impaired accounts written off - - - -

Closing balance 151 068 - - 151 068

(1) Net impairments raised/(released) less recoveries of amounts written off in previous years equals income statement impairment (refer credit impairment charges note)

(2) The Group’s policy is to transfer opening balances based on the ECL stage at the end of the reporting period. Therefore exposures can be transferred directly from stage 3 to stage 1 as the curing requirements would have 
been satisfied during the reporting period. Furthermore, the expected credit loss recognised or new exposures originated during the reporting period (which are not included in opening balances) are included within the 
column “ECL” on new exposure raised” based on the exposures ECL stage as at the end of the reporting period.

Net Advances 4 884 541 - - 4 884 541

Significant changes in the gross carrying amount of loans and advances that contributed to changes in the loss allowance were:
• An increase in the loans and advances portfolio of 18% which resulted in a noticeable increase in the expected credit losses.
• There was a noticeable increase in the stage 3 expected credit losses, mainly as a result of the bankruptcy of one borrower and for which the Group is currently in the process of recovering the collateral.

9.  LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED)
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Neither past due nor impaired - 2 510 126 263 - -
Past due but not impaired - 116 634 651 - -
Impaired - 71 056 106 - -

- 2 697 817 020 - -

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

In respect of the mortgage loans that are past due but not impaired, the overdue instalment portion can be analysed as follows:

30 days - 2 468 471 - -
60 days - 1 435 722 - -
90 days - 938 795 - -
120 days + - 6 528 238 - -
 - 11 371 226 - -

Credit risk information IAS 39

Advances are subject to a risk rating evaluation that takes into consideration inter alia the overall risk profile, collateral cover, payment record, past experiences, customers’ co-operation in abiding by loan 
conditions and the economic climate. When an advance becomes impaired the recoverable collateral values is below the outstanding loan balance. For further details regarding the company’s accounting policy, 
refer to accounting policy note 2.

For the purpose of the company’s disclosure regarding credit quality the exposure to credit risk has been analysed as follows:

9.  LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED)

The above disclosure has been replaced with IFRS 9 for 2019.

Renegotiated terms
None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated in the last year. Funds receivable are first applied to any past due amounts.

Loans and receivables past due
Financial assets neither past due not impaired can be analysed according to the internal assessment of the client character and performance of the loan.

The mortgage loan amounts past due relate to the overdue instalment portion in respect of loans amounting to R116 634 651.  The loan balances have not been impaired or renegotiated as clients are part
paying amounts and the value of the collateral exceeds the loan balance.

In respect of the mortgage loans that are past due but not impaired, the overdue instalment portion can be analysed as follows:
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Analysis of advances individually assessed as impaired (Mortgage loans)
Carrying amount - 68 802 889   - -
Impairment -    (14 889 792) - -

- 53 913 097 - -

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of loans and receivables

The company and the Group’s impairment allowance comprises the following:

Identified individual - 14 889 792 - -
Unidentified collectable - 45 392 418 - 1 355

- 60 282 210 - 1 355

Loan impairment analysis
Balance at beginning of year - 57 376 766 - -
Legal fees and loans written off against impairment provision - (6 656 681) - -
Impairments raised during the year - 9 562 125 - 1 355

- 60 282 210 - 1 355

Identified individual mortgage loans
Opening balance - 14 628 737 - -
Provision for impairment - 5 465 265 - -
Amounts written off as uncollectable - (5 769 975) - 1 355

- 14 324 027 - 1 355

At each reporting date an assessment is made whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. Loans and advances are stated net of impairment. Where carrying values of individual loans and advances are less 
than discounted amounts realisable or net or recoveries from collateral, a provision is made for the difference as loan impairment. Advances are subject to a risk rating evaluation that takes into consideration inter alia the 
overall risk profile, collateral cover, payment record, past experiences, customers co-operation in abiding by loan conditions and the economic climate.

As of 31 March 2019, loans and receivables specifically identified of R68 802 889 were impaired and provided for.
The amount of the identified individual impairments in respect of these loans was R14 889 792.

Loans and receivables impaired

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand 2019 2018 2019 2018

The company and the Group’s impairment allowance comprises the following:
Opening balance - 42 118 455 - -
Provision for impairment - 3 207 773 - -

- 45 326 228 - -

Unidentified collective Bridging finance
Opening Balance -   341 196 - -
Provision for impairment - (341 196) - -

- - - -

Unidentified collective Deferred sale loans
Opening balance

- 50 907

Provision for impairment - 15 283 - -
- 66 190 - -

Identified individual Equity finance loans
Opening balance - 237 471 - -
Provision for impairment - 1 215 000 - -
Amounts written off as uncollectable - (886 706) - -

- 565 765 - -

The above disclosures have been replaced with IFRS 9 for 2019.

9.  LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED)
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

 Geographical analysis
Eastern Cape 155 531 502 103 068 897 - -
Free State 42 287 173 15 548 168 - -
Gauteng 2 447 964 949 2 330 714 277 - -
KwaZulu Natal 358 666 849 204 506 971 - -
Western Cape 177 675 918 43 978 707 - -

3 182 126 391 2 697 817 020 - -

Stage 1 3 231 938 612 4 763 599 751 7 546 557 7 546 557
Stage 2 1 052 440 652 217 558 477 - -
Stage 3 437 197 872 131 676 437 - -
Deferred sale loans 44 703 055 40 535 300 - -
Equity finance second bond 30 457 633 26 968 847 - -

4 796 737 824 5 180 338 812 7 546 557 7 546 557

Credit quality of other financial assets.  In order to ensure the optimal recovery of the underlying collateral property, management may take temporary possession of an underlying property.

9.  LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED)

10.  OTHER ASSETS

Collateral held
The Group follows the principle of registering a mortgage bond to the value of 120% of the loan facility amount. In addition, another 30% of this amount is provided for legal costs in the total bond registered. 
The amounts stated below are stated exclusive of the legal costs provided for in the registered mortgage bond

Financial instruments:
Trade receivables 2 891 207 - 5 750 -
Deposits 901 729 751 089 - -
Interest on guarantee funds 567 492 777 587 - -
Other receivables - staff debtors and other sundry 4 576 783 460 870 1 331 -
Prepaid expenses 2 247 119 245 782 2 427 625

11 184 330 2 235 328 9 508 625
Amounts receivable are all current. No amounts are past due or impaired.

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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11.  LOANS TO GROUP COMPANIES GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Subsidiaries
TUHF Properties Proprietary Limited - - 2 819 018 2 529 158
TUHF Limited - - 20 321 928 22 281 268
uMastandi Proprietary Limited - - 6 590 388 577 224
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited - - 10 550 436 -
 - - 40 281 770 25 387 650

Joint ventures

Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited 11 839 579 10 523 860 - -
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime plus 1.75% and is payable on demand.
Silverkey Proprietary Limited 10 439 755 - - -
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime plus 1.75% and is payable on demand.
Risk Prop Proprietary Limited 2 108 254 - - -
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime plus 3% and is payable on demand.

24 387 588 10 523 860 - -

Related parties

Bjala Investments Proprietary Limited (50% shareholder of Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited) 4 296 705 - -
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime plus 2% and is repayable in 5 years.
EGC Properties Proprietary Limited (50% shareholder and of Silverkey Proprietary Limited) 3 290 892 - - -
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime plus 2.5% and is repayable in 5 years

7 587 597 - -
Total 31 975 185 10 523 860 40 281 770 25 387 650



TUHF118

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Reconciliation of Group related borrowings

Loans to related parties

Opening balance 10 523 860 - 25 387 650 27 851 351
Advances 18 729 023 10 400 000 21 667 139 577 224
Interest 2 722 302 123 860 1 206 109 1 144 637
Advances non-cash - - - (207 772)
Repayments - - (7 979 128) (3 977 790)
 31 975 185 10 523 860 40 281 770 25 387 650

GROUP

Name of Company %
holding 2019

%
holding 2018

Carrying amount 
2019

Carrying amount 
2018

TUHF Holdings Limited (Subsidiary investment) 32,85 % 32,85 % 26 333 333 26 333 333
TUHF Properties Proprietary Limited (Short-term bridging finance) 100 % 100 % 100 100

Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited (Equity finance) 100 % 100 % 100 100

uMastandi Proprietary Limited (Short-term bridging finance) 100 % 100 % 1 1
 26 333 534 26 333 534

The Group’s principal subsidiaries are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership 
interest held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The country of incorporation for all subsidiaries is South Africa.

The company owns 32.85% (2018: 32.85%) of TUHF Holdings Limited but exerts control through a voting pool agreement.

11.  LOANS TO GROUP COMPANIES (CONTINUED)

12.  INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES INCLUDING CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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GROUP

Name of Company

%
ownership 

interest 
2019

%
ownership 

interest 
2018

Carrying 
amount 

2019

Carrying 
amount 

2018

Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited (1) 50 % 50 % 1 000 1 000
Silverkey Proprietary Limited (2) 50 % - % 100 -
Risk Prop Proprietary Limited (3) 50 % - % 2 962 281 -

2 963 381 1 000

 (1) The company has purchased 50% of the share capital in Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited in February 2018 and a shareholder’s loan of R10.5 million has been advanced. A joint venture agreement has 
signed for the development of the investment property.

(2) The company has purchased 50% of the share capital in Silverkey Proprietary Limited in July 2018 and a shareholder’s loan of R9.6 million has been advanced. A joint venture agreement has signed for the 
development of the investment property.

(3) The company has purchased 50% of the share capital in Risk Prop Proprietary Limited in September 2018 and a shareholder’s loan of R2 million has been advanced. A joint venture agreement has signed for the 
development of the investment property.

13.  INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
Joint ventures

The following table lists all of the joint ventures in the Group:
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss:

Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited 23 770 113 22 603 332 - -
TUHF Limited holds 5% in Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited. The shares are held at fair value.   - -
 23 770 113 22 603 332 - -

GROUP - 2019 Carrying value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value

Investment in Urban Task Force 23 770 113 - - 23 770 113 23 770 113
Proprietary Limited

GROUP - 2018

Investment in Urban Task Force 22 603 332 - - 22 603 332 22 603 332
Proprietary Limited

Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited is valued as a percentage of net asset value off the latest available management accounts of Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited. Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited operates 
in the property rental business and the most substantial amounts in the statement of financial position are measured at fair value at year end. Management is of the opinion that the net asset value represents fair 
value accurately. Management has also reviewed independent and director’s valuations of the assets and liabilities of Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited and is comfortable that the net asset value is within an 
acceptable range of these values. Independent valuations are obtained by the directors of Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited and a capitalisation rate of 10% - 11% was considered a key assumption.

14.  UNLISTED INVESTMENTS

Fair value disclosures

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was adopted in the current year and replaces IAS 39. This note reflects the application of IFRS 9 to the specified instruments. 

Prior year figures 
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss:

Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited 23 770 113 22 603 332 - -
TUHF Limited holds 5% in Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited. The shares are held at fair value.   - -
 23 770 113 22 603 332 - -

GROUP 2019 2018
Figures in Rand Cost

 Accumulated 
Depreciation

Carrying value Cost
 Accumulated 
Depreciation

Carrying value

Office furniture and equipment 3 154 691 (2 014 465) 1 140 226 2 789 800 (1 573 003) 1 216 797
Computer hardware and telephones 4 717 839 (3 738 951) 978 888 4 115 467 (2 933 670) 1 181 797

7 872 530 (5 753 416) 2 119 114 6 905 267 (4 506 673) 2 398 594

  Opening balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Office furniture and equipment 1 462 841 188 341 - (434 385) 1 216 797
Computer hardware and telephones 1 788 062 330 320 (6 233) (930 352) 1 181 797

3 250 903 518 661 (6 233) (1 364 737) 2 398 594

Reconciliation of equipment 

GROUP - 2018

  Opening balance           Additions        Amortisation         Total

Computer Software 4 230 789 2 638 179 (1 545 263) 5 323 705

GROUP 2019 2018
Cost/ Valuation

 Accumulated 
Amortisation

Carrying value Cost/ Valuation
Accumulated 
Amortisation

Carrying value

Computer Software 16 451 391 (11 247 197) 5 204 194 14 813 652 (9 489 947) 5 323 705

  Opening balance           Additions        Amortisation         Total

Computer Software 5 323 705 1 637 740 (1 757 251)        5 204 194

Reconciliation of intangible assets  

GROUP - 2019

Reconciliation of intangible assets  

GROUP - 2018

  Opening balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Office furniture and equipment 1 216 797 409 538 - (486 109) 1 140 226
Computer hardware and telephones 1 181 797 636 988 (19 433) (820 464) 978 888

2 398 594 1 046 526 (19 433) (1 306 573) 2 119 114

Reconciliation of equipment 

GROUP - 2019

15.  EQUIPMENT

16.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Deferred tax liability 
Accelerated depreciation (1 457 174) (1 490 637) - -
Deferred and prepaid expenses (2 500 263) (1 290 571) (680) (174)
Fair value adjustment (4 099 624) (3 174 826) - -
Total deferred tax liability (8 057 061) (5 956 034) (680) (174)
Deferred tax asset
Provision for bonus 461 060 1 227 024 - -
Loan impairments 1 371 125 12 868 291 42 299 379
Rental equalisation 201 606 251 380 - -
Deferred income 6 596 822 5 726 530 16 338 20 750
Provision for bad debts 16 043 786 3 647 977 - -
Pre-trade expense claimable - 161 855 - -
Deferred tax balance from temporary differences other than unused tax losses 24 674 399 23 883 057 58 637 21 129
Total deferred tax asset 24 674 399 23 883 057 58 637 21 129
Deferred tax liability (8 057 061) (5 956 034) (680) (174)
Deferred tax asset 24 674 399 23 883 057 58 637 21 129
Total deferred tax asset 16 617 338 17 927 023 57 957 20 955
Reconciliation of deferred tax asset / (liability)
At beginning of year 17 927 023 20 709 258 20 955 (132)
Provisions (765 964) (447 799) - -
Accelerated depreciation 33 463 (306 017) - -
Current year charge - movement on loan impairment 6 515 319 445 154 41 919 379
Rental equalisation (49 773) 25 817 - -
Deferred income 870 291 258 406 (4 412) 20 750
Deferred and prepaid expenses (1 209 692) (115 861) (505) (42)
Fair value adjustment (924 797) (1 500 949) - -
Tax effect of pre trade expenses that can be claimed - (50 026) - -
Pre-trade expenditure not deductible (161 854) 161 855 - -
IFRS 9 opening balance adjustment (5 616 678) - - -
Prior year adjustment - (1 252 815) - -

16 617 338 17 927 023 57 957 20 955

The deferred tax balance at year end is considered non-current.

17.  DEFERRED TAX

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

A grant agreement was entered into between TUHF Limited and National Treasury to advance R200 million to TUHF 
Limited over three years. The funds will be combined with R800 million senior debt to lend to end user clients. To date 
R157 million has been received and on lent to end users. These funds are not available for distribution to the shareholders. 
TUHF Limited has the unconditional right to avoid the repayment of these funds as at 31 March 2019.

A grant agreement was entered into between TUHF NPC and National Treasury to advance R75 million to TUHF NPC 
over three years. The money will flow down to Intuthuko Equity Fund (Pty) Ltd where it will be used to lend to user 
clients. To date R7 million has been received and on lent to end users. These funds are not available for distribution to 
owners. TUHF NPC has the unconditional right to avoid the repayment of these funds as at 31 March 2019.

A grant agreement was entered into between TUHF NPC and National Treasury to advance R25 million to TUHF NPC 
over three years. The money will flow down to uMastandi (Pty) Ltd where it will be used to lend to user clients . To date 
R2.3 million has been received and on lent to end users. These funds are not available for distribution to owners. TUHF 
NPC has the unconditional right to avoid the repayment of these funds as at 31 March 2019.

Non-distributable reserve 157 499 759 157 499 759 - -
Grant received from National Treasury 9 386 395 - 9 386 395 -
 166 886 154 157 499 759 9 386 395 -

Financial instruments:
Trade payables 22 638 634 17 684 798 17 142 245 14 383 711
Other payables 1 647 243 4 382 230 - -
Non-financial instruments:
Operating lease accruals 720 022 897 784 - -
VAT 187 906 363 048 58 314 15 264
 25 193 805 23 327 860 17 200 559 14 398 975

Opening balance 11 810 788 4 737 945 - -
Dividends accrued 10 005 507 20 484 269 - -
Dividends declared and paid (11 496 336) (7 571 496) - -
Closing balance 10 319 959 17 650 718 - -
Intercompany dividend restatement - (5 839 930) - -
Restated closing balance - 11 810 788 - -

The balance at year end is considered current

18.  NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

19.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

20.  DIVIDEND PAYABLE
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GROUP COMPANY
  Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

 Held at amortised cost - Secured
National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited 20 595 312 23 454 486 - -
The loan of R50 million from the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an interest rate of prime 
minus 2%. Interest and capital is repaid over the remaining term and will be repaid by September 2024. The loan is 
secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out 
of, or in connection with the end user agreements which have been financed from this facility.

National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited 30 482 154 32 668 506 - -
The loan of R50 million from the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an interest rate of prime 
minus 2%. Interest and capital is repaid over the remaining term and will be repaid by 30 November 2024.
The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, 
arising out of, or in connection with the end user agreements which are financed from this facility. 

Standard Bank of South Africa Limited
The loan of R210 million from The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited is at an interest rate of prime minus 0.8%. 
The loan is to be repaid in full by 18 June 2019. The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests 
the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user agreements 
which are financed from this facility. 10 740 654 31 732 866 - -

Development Bank of South Africa SOC Limited 16 099 720 19 927 513 - -
The loan of R50 million from the Development Bank of South Africa SOC Limited is at an interest rate of prime
minus 2%. Interest and capital is repaid over the remaining term and will be repaid by September 2022.
The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire
in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user agreements which are financed from this facility.

Development Bank of South Africa SOC Limited 46 040 681 52 815 487 - -
The loan of R100 million from the Development Bank of South Africa SOC Limited is at an interest rate of prime
minus 2%. Interest and capital is repaid over the remaining term and must be repaid in full by 30 June 2024. The loan is 
secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out 
of, or in connection with the end user agreements which are financed from this facility.

Futuregrowth Asset Management 33 440 525 42 963 211 - -
The loan of R100 million from Futuregrowth Asset at an interest rate of prime minus 0,9%. Interest and capital
is repaid over the remaining term and will be repaid by February 2022. The loan is secured by a cession of all
the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection
with the end user agreements which are financed from this facility.

21.  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED



INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019 125

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited 65 992 943 70 547 705 -
The loan of R100 million from the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an interest rate of prime 
minus 2%. Interest and capital is repaid over the remaining term and will be repaid by July 2028. The loan is secured by 
a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in 
connection with the end user agreements which are financed from this facility.

National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited 14 543 087 15 379 193 -

-

-
The loan of R25 million from the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an interest rate of prime 
minus 2%. Interest and capital is repaid over the remaining term and will be repaid by July 2029. The loan is secured by 
a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in 
connection with the end user agreements which are financed from this facility.

National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited 76 218 950 84 017 674 - -
The loan of R120 million from the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an interest rate of prime 
minus 0.5%. Interest and capital is repaid over the remaining term and will be repaid in full by December 2025. The loan 
is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising 
out of, or in connection with the end user agreements which are financed from this facility.

Development Bank of South Africa SOC Limited 109 415 969 123 299 344 - -
The loan of R200 million from the Development Bank of South Africa Limited is at an interest rate of prime minus 1.0%. 
Interest and capital is repaid over the remaining term and must be repaid in full by 31 December 2024.The loan is 
secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out 
of, or in connection with the end user agreements which are financed from this facility.

Cadiz Life and Asset Management 30 206 879 33 452 391 - -
The loan of R40 million from Cadiz Life and R10 million from Cadiz Asset Management is at an interest rate of
prime plus 0.25%.The facility period was extended for another 60 months in June 2015. Interest and capital is
repaid over the remaining term and must be repaid in full within 60 months by June 2020. The loan is secured by a 
cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in 
connection with the end user agreements which are financed from this facility.

Futuregrowth Asset Management 127 923 987 149 501 194 - -
The loan of R250 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.5%.
The facility is fully drawn and interest and capital is paid monthly. The facility is repayable in full by July 2021.

Mergence Investment Managers 10 429 202 11 352 281 - -
The loan of R15 million from Mergence Investment Managers is at an interest rate of prime less 0.5%. The facility is fully 
drawn and interest and capital is paid monthly. The facility is repayable in full by July 2026.

21.  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Public Investment Corporation 214 025 793 231 578 732
The loan of R300 million from the Public Investment Corporation is at an interest rate of prime less 2%. The facility is  
fully drawn and interest and capital is paid monthly. The facility is repayable in full by June 2027.

Futuregrowth Asset Management 204 678 920 225 997 009 - -
The loan of R300 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management acting as facility agent on behalf 
of Senior Lenders is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.2%. R200 million is repayable in equal monthly instalments of 
capital and interest calculated and interest calculated according to a 144 month amortisation profile as from 13 June 
2013 and a final single payment on 15 July 2023. R100 million is repayable in equal monthly instalments of capital 
and interest calculated according to a 144 month amortisation profile as from 15 January 2014 and a final single 
payment 15 January 2024. The loan is secured by a cession of rights, title and/or interest the Group holds, or which in 
may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user agreements which are financed from this facility.

Stanlib Asset Management Limited

- 8 603 741

-

-

-

-

The loan of R10 million from Stanlib Asset Management Limited is at an interest rate of prime less 0.5%. 
The Loan was fully repaid.

National Housing Finance Corporation Limited 36 734 485 36 549 282 - -
The preference shares are issued to the National Housing Finance Corporation Limited and are at an
interest rate of prime less the corporate tax rate, currently 7,3%. Dividend payments have been accrued.
The preference shares are redeemable in 2022 and rank after secured loans for repayment.

Futuregrowth Asset Management 138 299 901 156 087 679 - -
The loan of R200 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.20%.
The facility is fully drawn as funds are required and interest and capital is paid monthly. The loan is repayable in         
equal instalments and is repayable in full by October 2024.

Ashburton Investments 65 521 068 65 575 562 - -
A R65 million promissory note from Ashburton Investments issued at a nominal value of R65 million each, made           
to property developers is funded by the issue of the notes. Interest is serviced monthly and capital is redeemed on 
maturity in a bullet payment. The coupon is priced at prime and the final redemption date is January 2020.

Mergence Investment Managers 9 816 821 10 297 941 - -
The loan of R11 million from Mergence Investment Managers is at an interest rate of prime. The facility is
fully drawn and interest and capital is paid monthly. The facility is repayable in full by February 2030.

-

21.  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Futuregrowth Asset Management 321 331 507 281 362 794 - -
The loan of R400 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.30%.
The facility is available for one year and interest is serviced monthly. The capital will be repaid by January 2020.

Futuregrowth Asset Management 48 189 635 52 579 409 - -
The loan of R60 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.25%.
The facility is fully drawn and interest and capital are paid monthly on the remainder of the term facility will
be fully paid by March 2026.

Futuregrowth Asset Management 85 405 854 92 195 065 - -
The loan of R100 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.40%.
The facility is fully drawn and interest and capital is paid monthly. The facility is repayable in full by December 2026.
National Housing Finance Corporation 195 443 825 101 070 200 - -
The loan of R200 million from National Housing Finance Corporation Limited is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.25%. 
The facility is fully drawn and interest and capital is repaid over the remaining term. The facility is repayable in full by 
February 2033.

Nedbank 99 919 592 19 185 421 - -
The loan of R100 million from Nedbank is at an interest rate of prime. The facility is fully drawn and interest is
payable on a monthly basis. The capital will be repaid in a single payment at the end of the term. The facility
is fully repayable by July 2022.

Novo Impact Fund 10 080 715 3 902 627 - -
The loan of R10 million from Novo Impact Fund is at an interest rate of prime less 0,5%. The facility is fully drawn and 
interest is payable on a monthly basis. The capital will be repaid in a single payment at the end of the term. The facility is 
fully repayable by October 2025. 

Novo Impact Fund (Previously the New Housing Company) - 10 million. 
The loan of R10 million from Novo Impact Fund is secured by means of a second mortgage bond and interest is payable 
at the prime rate less 2%. The facility is fully drawn. Interest is payable from May 2019. Capital will be repaid within 7 
years being 31 July 2024.

1 483 098 759 333 - -

Novo Impact Fund (Previously the New Housing Company) - R5 million. 
The loan of R5 million from Novo Impact Fund is secured by a way of 2nd mortgage bond at an interest rate of prime 
less 2%. Interest is payable monthly. The repayment of capital is due in May 2022. The facility may only be invested in 
equity funding projects. 

3 886 499 3 890 243 -

-

21.  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Gauteng Partnership Fund (GPF) - 10 million 12 660 395 11 679 868 - -
The loan of R10 million from the Gauteng Partnership Fund is at a rate of prime less 2%. The capital and interest is due in 
September 2020. The facility may only be invested in equity funding projects.

Novo Impact Fund (Previously The New Housing Company) - 5 million 5 056 488 5 060 234
The loan of R5 million from Novo Impact Fund (previously The New Housing Company) secured by a way of 2nd 
mortgage bond at an interest rate of prime less 2%. Interest is paid monthly. The repayment of capital is due in November 
2019. The facility may only be invested in equity funding projects. 

- -

Domestic Medium Term Note Programme:  
A Listed and rated domestic medium term note was raised on 26 January 2017. The term of the notes is three years and 
the interest rate is the 3 month JIBAR rate plus a margin of 3.25%. The capital is repayable on 26 January 2020. The note 
has been fully subscribed and the participants are listed below:
Sanlam Asset Management: R100 million 102 813 019 102 867 518 - -
Futuregrowth Asset Management: R94 million 95 687 364 95 738 086 - -
Mergence Investment Managers: R21 million 21 376 964 21 388 296 - -
Rand Merchant Holdings: R4 million 4 071 803 4 073 961 - -
Stanlib Asset Management - R60 million 61 077 041 61 109 416 - -

Mortgage backed securities
A listed and rated residential mortgage backed securitisation was raised on 19 December 2018. The revolving period    
ends in January 2020 during which mortgage assets can be added. Interest is serviced quarterly. From January 2020     
both capital and interest is serviced until all investor obligations are extinguished. The scheme is open to refinance      
after six years, being January 2025.
A Class Noteholders 395 477 514 - -
B Class Noteholders 46 450 680 - -
D Class Noteholders 20 687 075 - -

- -
2 792 306 119 2 282 664 268 - -

Deferred raising fees** (7 605 271) (4 519 567) - -
2 784 700 848 2 278 144 701 - -

21.  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Repayable within 12 months 863 120 583 454 321 620 - -

Repayable 1 to 3 years 693 607 588 745 732 814 - -

Repayable 3 to 5 years 664 484 611 453 116 819 - -

Repayable more than 5 years 571 093 337 629 493 015 - -

Deferred raising fees** (7 605 271) (4 519 567) - -

2 784 700 848 2 278 144 701 -

** The current portion of the deferred raising fee is R1 880 367 (2018: R1 325 551).

All raising fee expenses are amortised evenly over the financial liability period. The effect is immaterial if the effective 
interest rate method was applied.

Liability
Opening balance - 429 729 - -
Charge for the year - - - -
Awards vested during the year - (429 729) - -

- - - -
Reserve
Opening balance 15 482 1 122 204 - -
Charge for the year - - - -
Awards vested during the year (15 482) (1 106 722) - -

- 15 482 - -

The awards under the share based payment scheme that receive a cash award are treated as a liability. 
The awards that receive shares under the share based payment scheme are treated as an allocation to equity.

Conditional Share Plan:

As an incentive for current and prospective employees of the Company, TUHF Holdings Limited has established a Conditional Share Plan (“CSP”) to which 4 858 000 ordinary shares of a par value of R0.0001 each has been 
allocated. Conditional awards made are subject to the company’s Performance Management System and are measured over a three year performance period. Conditional awards that employees become entitled to as a result of the 
Remuneration Committee and management’s deliberations are vested into their name, equally over a three year period. Following the vesting of conditional awards, the company is required to procure the settlement of the shares 
to be vested from TUHF Limited. Such shares are allotted and issued at the market value per share at no cost to the employee. The employee bears the taxation cost when the shares vest based on the current value per share.

In terms of the rules of the CSP, if an employee should leave the employment of TUHF Limited, TUHF Limited will be entitled to be given the right of first refusal to purchase those shares registered in the employee’s name at the 
current market value. TUHF Limited may withhold any amounts or make such arrangements as are necessary to meet any liability to taxation or any other liabilities and costs in respect of the vesting of a conditional award. At the 
end of the period under review, TUHF Limited held 1 955 242 (2018: 1 912 288) treasury shares in TUHF Holdings Limited.

21.  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

22.  SHARE BASED PAYMENT RESERVE



TUHF130

GROUP COMPANY
 

 Figures in Rand 2019 2018 2019 2018

   Liability
Interest on advances 388 600 433 354 834 525 589 893 54 791
Interest on advances to related company - - 1 206 109 1 144 637
Interest on call deposits 4 509 724 2 615 448 55 503 5 849
Interest on guarantee deposits 1 795 123 1 617 526 - 5 480
Interest on staff loans 11 835 2 815 - -
Interest received from SARS 61 931 150 480 - 1 252

394 979 046 359 220 794 1 851 505 1 212 009

Raising fee income of R13 972 123 (2018: R 8 681 088) was recognised in the financial year under review and is 
included in interest on advances for Group.

24. INTEREST EXPENSES
Interest on borrowings 241 874 103 211 575 297 816 235 754 227
Interest on fees on current account 3 003 7 352 32 -
Preference dividends 2 542 266 2 601 641 - -
Interest paid to SARS 3 819 86 228 14 988

244 423 191 214 270 518 816 281 755 215

 

25. EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES
Stage 1 3 532 049 - 149 713 -
Stage 2 183 867 - - -
Stage 3 20 097 697 - - -
Impairment raised during the year (IAS 39) - 9 562 125 - 1 355

23 813 613 9 562 125 149 713 1 355

23.  INTEREST INCOME

Raising fees and legal fees of R1 522 806 (2018: R 1 201 444) were recognised in the financial year under review and are included in interest on borrowings for Group.

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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26.  NON INTEREST INCOME GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Management and incentive fees 966 539 78 784 - -
Rental income 1 249 526 1 196 626 - -
Sundry income 3 633 452 7 599 470 391 957 -
Bad debts recovered 4 313 379 1 255 932 - -
Agency fee income

1 501 500 1 501 500 1 501 500 1 501 500

11 664 396 11 632 312 1 893 457 1 501 500

 

Gains (losses) on disposals, scrappings and settlements
Investment property - 1 256 287 - -
Fair value gains (losses)
Financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 1 166 782 - -

Total other operating gains (losses) 1 166 782 1 256 287 - -

28. EXPENSES BY NATURE
Auditor’s remuneration 2 747 038 2 406 373 - -
Consulting fees 11 666 405 8 010 037 10 000 3 000
Depreciation and amortisation 3 063 823 2 909 998 - -
Employee costs 49 976 442 50 090 164 - -
Financial administration 522 345 1 046 547 - -
Information technology costs 1 410 407 1 444 167 - -
Marketing 2 220 512 1 819 088 - -
Office rental 4 559 169 4 121 203 - -
Other expenses 4 844 108 3 736 132 4 436 197 206 617
Project management 937 815 954 347 46 074 -
Telephone and fax charges 900 345 850 684 - -
Training and skills development 2 623 417 2 149 427 - -
Utilities 908 859 866 808 - -
Valuations 616 413 548 452 - -
VAT - input VAT not claimable as it relates to non taxable supplies 5 552 344 3 514 186 8 138 15 122

92 549 442 84 467 613 4 500 409 224 739

27.   OTHER OPERATING GAINS (LOSSES)
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Employee costs included in note 28, comprises:
Employee costs
Employee costs salaried staff 37 218 570 37 527 048 - -
Directors emoluments 9 995 960 10 237 016 - -
Non-executive directors 2 643 212 2 326 100 - -
Share-based payment 118 700 - - -

49 976 442 50 090 164 - -

TUHF Ltd has a defined contribution provident plan governed by the Pension Funds Act, 1956, as amended, to ensure all 
permanent employees are required to join. Payments to the provident plan are charged as an expense as they fall due.
The Group has no obligations for post-retirement health benefits.
The Group’s expense in respect of defined contribution plans is: 

Provident fund 4 959 776 4 575 353 - -

30. INVESTMENT INCOME
Investment income

Loans to Group companies:

Interest income 2 263 728 123 860 - -

Fair value adjustment on joint ventures 2 961 781 - - -

Dividends received from Group companies:

Dividends received 500 000 - 5 280 041 5 839 930

Total investment income 5 725 509 123 860 5 280 041 5 839 930

29.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Major components of the tax expense (income)
Current
Local income tax - current period 19 697 846 17 078 536 (431 897) 615 655

Deferred
Deferred tax liability (5 088 946) (116 758) (37 002) (21 089)
Deferred tax asset 781 955 2 898 993 - -

(4 306 991) 2 782 235 (37 002) (21 089)
15 390 855 19 860 771 (468 899) 594 566

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense.
Accounting profit 52 749 487 63 932 997 3 558 600 7 572 130
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2018: 28%) 14 769 856 17 901 239 996 408 2 120 196

 Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income - -

 Assessed loss carried forward (64 119) (4 296)
Assessed loss utilised 58 770 (65 568) - -
No assessed loss created 122 161 855 - -
Non deductible interest on preference shares 711 834 728 460 - -
Non taxable fair value adjustment (231 199) (375 237) - -
Non taxable income 7 397 (7 397) - -
Non deductible expenses 191 493 - 12 901 -
Pre trade expenditure deferred tax asset 161 854 (161 855) - -
Pre trade expenditure utilised (75 805) (45 005) - -
Prior year deferred tax adjustment - 1 252 816 - -
Reversal of prior year deferred tax asset - 50 026 - -
SARS interest and penalties 1 068 26 229 4 -
Section 24J adjustment - 178 592 - -
Under/(over) provision of prior year income tax (416) 220 912 199 109 550
Exempt dividends (140 000) - (1 478 411) (1 635 180)
 15 390 855 19 860 771 (468 899) 594 566

31.  TAXATION
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)

Future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are as follows:
- Office rental payable within 1 year 5 122 309 4 214 244 - -
- Office rental payable between 2 to 5 years

4 240 384 5 251 761 - -

9 362 693 9 466 005 - -

New leases have been negotiated for satellite offices in Pretoria and East London.

Advances

Advances for refurbishment of buildings - funds will be drawn over the average construction period: 6-9 months 330 094 701 172 462 423 - -

Advances pending contractual compliances - funds will be drawn over the average property transfer and construction 
period: 12-18 months 475 036 031 336 666 088 - -

 805 130 732 509 128 511 - -

32.  COMMITMENTS
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

33. BORROWING CAPACITY

34. RELATED PARTIES

Investment in subsidiary TUHF Holdings Limited 

Subsidiaries Refer to note 12
Joint ventures Refer to note 13

Related party balances and transactions 

uMastandi Proprietary Limited 

Loan - interest free with no fixed terms of repayment - - -
(577 225)

Current account payable within 12 months
- - - 1

 - - (577 224)

TUHF Properties Proprietary Limited

- - 2 819 018 2 529 158

In terms of the company’s memorandum of incorporation the borrowing powers of the company are unlimited except where any indebtedness, other than trade debt in the ordinary 
course of business, is limited to R20 million. Undertakings have also been given to certain lenders of maintaining a debt to capital ratio of 90%.

Loan - interest paid at market call rates and repayable within 12 months
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

34. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
Related party transactions

TUHF Properties Proprietary Limited

Interest received - - (289 860) (252 838)

Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited

Interest received - - (53 774) -

uMastandi Proprietary Limited

Interest received - - (53 687) -

TUHF Limited

Interest received - - 808 788 1 144 6378

Managing fees - - (204 245) (202 526)

Internal recovery fees - - (1 956 523) -

 - - (1 351 980) 942 111

Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited (Joint Venture)

Interest received 2 519 837 - - -

SilverKey Proprietary Limited (Joint Venture)

Interest received 839 755 - - -

Risk Prop Proprietary Limited (Joint Venture)

Interest received 108 254 - - -

Bjala Investments Proprietary Limited (50% shareholder of Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited)

Interest received 296 705 - - -

EGC Properties Proprietary Limited (50% shareholder Silverkey Proprietary Limited 

Interest received 161 870 - - -

Refer to note 11 for a detailed list of all balances with related parties.
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GROUP
Figures in Rand

2019 2018

Key management compensation:

All members of the Board are considered key management. Refer to note 35 for details of fees paid to directors.

SS Moraba, a director of the company, is the chief executive officer of the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited (NHFC). This company has granted the 
company wholesale loan facilities amounting to R443,1 million (2018: R343,1 million).

Total NHFC debt facilities: capital advanced 443 094 757 343 094 757

Interest paid 38 365 749 21 663 319

Interest and capital repayments 62 227 242 37 620 313
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35. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

GROUP
EXECUTIVE

2019 Cash component Bonus Provident fund Other Total

PGN Jackson 2 646 464 3 250 000 487 322 540 426 6 924 212
IL Roodt 1 766 014 900 000 302 148 103 586 3 071 748

 4 412 478 4 150 000 789 470 644 012 9 995 960

2018
PGN Jackson 2 446 185 3 350 000 451 121 935 425 7 182 731
IL Roodt 1 659 951 1 000 000 281 627 415 303 3 356 881

4 106 136 4 350 000 732 748 1 350 728 10 539 612
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35.  DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
NON-EXECUTIVE

2019

Figures in Rand

Directors’ fees Total

SS Moraba 354 550 354 550
TM Adler 358 206 358 206
C Coovadia 472 300 472 300
RR Emslie 461 000 461 000
JF Howard 200 500 200 500
JK Mamatela 277 550 277 550
JS Strelitz 245 050 245 050
P Magula* 78 650 78 650
L Vutula 124 906 124 906
R Solomon 70 500 70 500
 2 643 212 2 643 212

*P Magula represented PIC as a shareholder of the company until March 2018. The fees relate to prior year meetings.

2018

Figures in Rand
SS Moraba 331 750 331 750
TM Adler 281 400 281 400
C Coovadia 333 350 333 350
RR Emslie 511 600 511 600
JF Howard 220 500 220 500
JK Mamatela 234 000 234 000
JS Strelitz 211 750 211 750
R Solomon 201 750 201 750
 2 326 100 2 326 100
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36. CONTINGENCIES
The rules of the Group’s Conditional Plan requires that all participants who leave the employ of any Group company for any reason whatsoever, will offer to sell their shares to TUHF Limited.

Should TUHF Limited not accept this offer, the participant must offer to sell the shares to other participants in the Plan and failing this being accepted, the offer must be extended to all other shareholders in 
the company.

37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
No matter which is material to the financial affairs of the company has occurred between the reporting date and the date of the approval of the financial statements.

38. PERIOD PRIOR ERRORS
Error 1
The restatement relates to intercompany dividends received from TUHF Holdings Limited which has not been accrued for.

Error 2
The restatement relates to intercompany dividends payable by TUHF Holdings Limited to Trust for Urban Finance NPC which should have been eliminated.

Group COMPANY
Figures in Rand

2019 2018 2019 2018

Error 1
Increase in dividends received (asset) - - - 5 839 930
Increase in investment income (income) - - - (5 839 930)
Error 2
Increase in owners’ reserve - 5 839 930 - -
Decrease in dividend payable - (5 839 930) - -

Eliminination of error 1
Decrease in dividends received (asset) - (5 839 930) - -
Decrease in investment income (income) - 5 839 930 - -
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South Africa

The main business of the company is to invest in subsidiary companies whose main business is to 
provide commercial property finance in the form of bridging, equity finance and long term loans 
secured by mortgage collateral and other financial products to finance entrepreneurs and landlords 
for the purchase, construction and improvement of property for the purpose of the regeneration of 
South African inner city precincts and surrounding suburbs showing indications of decline where the 
primary objective is the supplying of housing and associated commercial property for rental stock.

SS Moraba
TM Adler
C Coovadia 
PGN Jackson 
JK Mamatela 
JS Strelitz
IL Roodt
LN Netshitenzhe

12th Floor, West Wing, Libridge Building,
25 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein,
2001

PO Box 30872, Braamfontein, 2017

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Kilgetty Statutory Services (Pty) Ltd 

1993/00217/08

The annual financial statements were internally compiled by:
Lutic Mosoane BAP (SA) - Accounting and Financial Advisory and reviewed by Ilona Roodt CA (SA)

9 September 2019

NCRCP1709

www.tuhf.co.za 

info@tuhf.co.za
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REGIONAL OFFICES 
Gauteng 

Johannesburg:
12th Floor, West Wing, Libridge Building, 
25 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, Johannesburg, 2001
Tel: +27 (10) 595 9000

Tshwane:
8th floor, Olivetti House, 100 Pretorius Street, 
Cnr Pretorius and Schubart Street, Pretoria, 0117

KwaZulu-Natal
27th Floor, Embassy Building, 
199 Anton Lembede Street (ex Smith Street), Durban, 4001
Tel: +27 (31) 306 5036

Eastern Cape
2nd Floor, BCX Building, 106 Park Drive, 
St George’s Park, Port Elizabeth, 6000
Tel: +27 (41) 582 1450

Western Cape
Unit 501, Fifth floor, Upper East Side, 
31 Brickfield Road, Woodstock, Cape Town, 7925
Tel: +27 (21) 204 8843

Free State
7 Collins Road, Arboretum, Bloemfontein, 9301
Tel: +27 (51) 011 8843 

GENERAL CONTACT

086 000 TUHF (8843)

Registration number:   1993/000217/08

NCR number:   NCRCP1709

Registered offices and business address:

12th Floor, West Wing, Libridge Building,  
25 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, Johannesburg, 2001

Postal address:

PO Box 30872, Braamfontein, 2017

Telephone:   +27 (10) 595 9000

Sharecall:   086 000 TUHF (8843)

Website:   www.tuhf.co.za

Email:   info@tuhf.co.za

Performing duties as company secretary:
Kilgetty Statutory Services (Proprietary) Limited  
Telephone: +27 (0)11 440 1442 
matthew.wray@kilgetty.co.za

Auditors:   PricewaterhouseCoopers

Primary banker:   The Standard Bank of South Africa

Feedback
We welcome your comments.
Kindly contact TUHF on 086 000 8843 or info@tuhf.co.za with thoughts and suggestions.

CONTACT DETAILS AND CORPORATE INFORMATION

Contact Details and Corporate Information
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Assets and Liabilities Committee 

Annual General Meeting

TUHF Board of Directors

Centre for Affordable Housing Finance 

central business district 

Chief Executive Officer

Client Effort Score

Chief Financial Officer

corporate social investment 

City of Johannesburg 

Conditional Share Plan

cost to income

Development Bank of South Africa 

Domestic Medium-Term Note

debt service cover ratio

Executive Committee

Financial Advisory and Intermediary Act 

Financial Intelligence Centre Act

Financial Services Charter

Government Employees Pension Fund 

The TUHF Group comprising Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC,  
TUHF Properties (Proprietary) Limited, Intuthuko Equity Fund  
(Proprietary) Limited, TUHF Holdings Limited, TUHF Limited,  TUHF 
Bridge (Proprietary) Limited, TUHF MBS (Proprietary) Limited and 
Business Venture Investments 1904 (Proprietary) Limited 

gross domestic product 

Gauteng Partnership Fund

human resources

International Accounting Standards

International Accounting Standards Board

International Financial Reporting Standards 

information technology

Johannesburg Housing Company 

ALCO 

AGM  

Board 

CAHF 

CBD

CEO

CES 

CFO 

CSI 

COJ  

CSP 

CTI 

DBSA  

DMTN  

DSCR  

EXCO  

FAIS 

FICA  

FSC  

GEPF  

Group  

 

GDP  

GPF  

HR  

IAS  

IASB  

IFRS  

IT  

JHC

 

JPOMA

JSE

KING IVTM  

LCMS

LOANCO 

MANCO 

MOI

NCA 

NEWCO 

NGO 

NHFC 

NIM 

NPC 

NPS 

OMLACSA 

PBO

PIC

POPI

PwC

R 

Rbn

REMCO

Rm

ROE

ROI

SAICA

SMEs

SMMEs 

TUHF 

TUHF NPC

Johannesburg Property Owners and Managers Association 

JSE Limited, the licensed securities exchange in Johannesburg 

The King IVTM Report on Corporate GovernanceTM for South Africa, 2016. 
Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors in 
Southern Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved 

loan cycle management system

Loan Committee

Management Committee

memorandum of incorporation

National Credit Act

New Housing Company 

non-governmental organisation 

National Housing Finance Corporation 

net interest margin 

non-profit company 

Net Promoter Score 

Old Mutual Life Assurance Company (South Africa) Limited 

public benefit organisation

Public Investment Corporation

Protection of Personal Information Act

PricewaterhouseCoopers

South African Rand

rand billion

Remuneration and Human Resources Committee

rand million

return on equity

return on investment

South African Institute of Chartered Accountants 

small to medium enterprises

small, medium and micro-sized enterprises 

TUHF Limited 

Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC
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